
 

BOLTON MANCHESTER ROCHDALE STOCKPORT TRAFFORD 

BURY OLDHAM SALFORD TAMESIDE WIGAN 
 
Please note that this meeting will be livestreamed via www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk, please speak to a  
Governance Officer before the meeting should you not wish to consent to being included in this recording. 

 

GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

Annual Meeting Business  
 

1.   WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE FOR 2021/22  
 
To seek a nomination for the Chair to the Housing, Planning and 
Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee for 2021/2022.  
 

 

3.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE FOR 
2021/22  
 
To seek a nomination for the Vice-Chair to the Housing, Planning 
and Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee for 2021/2022.  
 

 

4.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE HOUSING, PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
2021/22  
 
To note that at its meeting on 25 June 2021 the GM Combined 
Authority appointed the following 15 Members to the Housing, 
Planning & Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee for the 
2021/22 municipal year, comprising (11 Labour, 3 Conservative & 
1 Liberal Democrat members). 
 

1 - 2 

DATE: Thursday, 23rd September, 2021 
 

TIME: 10.30am – 12:30pm 
 

VENUE: Manchester Town Hall Council Chamber - Mount Street 
Entrance 
 

  

Public Document

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/


2 
 

 
5.   MEMBER'S CODE OF CONDUCT AND ANNUAL 

DECLARATION FORM  
 
To be completed by members of the Committee and returned to 
the Governance & Scrutiny Officer. 
 

3 - 16 

6.   TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
To note the Committee’s Terms of Reference for the Housing, 
Planning and Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 
 

17 - 22 

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
 

 

7.   CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 

8.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
To receive declarations of interest in any item for discussion at the 
meeting. A blank form for declaring interests has been circulated 
with the agenda; please ensure that this is returned to the 
Governance & Scrutiny Officer at the start of the meeting. 
 

23 - 26 

9.   TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD 
ON 19 MARCH 2021  
 
To consider the approval of the minute of the meetings held on 19 
March 2021. 
 

27 - 32 

10.   STREETS FOR ALL  
 
Report of Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and 
Portfolio Lead for Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive 
Officer, GMCA & TfGM. 
 

33 - 114 

11.   ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE 
STRATEGY  
 
Report of Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and 
Portfolio Lead for Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive 
Officer, GMCA & TfGM. 
 

115 - 156 

12.   WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21  
 
To consider the work programme for 2020/21.   
 

157 - 160 



3 
 

 
13.   DATES AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

 
Members are asked to note the dates and times of future 
meetings. 
  

 Thursday 7 October 2021; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 

 Thursday 11 November 2021; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 

 Thursday 9 December 2021; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 

 Thursday 13 January 2022; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 

 Thursday 3 February 2022; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 

 Thursday 10 March 2022; 10:30 am - 12:30 pm 
 

 

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 

 

14.   LIVING WITH COVID PLAN PROGRESS UPDATE  
 
This report was prepared in June, following the third quarter 
delivery of the Living with Covid Plan. The report includes system 
updates, including the developments made in responding to 
inequalities, and updates on the activities being delivered in 
support of the deliverables in the Living with Covid Plan.  
  
The report also highlights the early work underway in the 
refreshing of the Greater Manchester Strategy. A final progress 
update of the Living with Covid Plan will not be produced, as the 
activities, development of issues, and ways of working including in 
the Covid Plan are being embedded within the refresh of the GMS. 
  
Please refer to the link below for the Living with Covid Resilience 
Plan. 
  
https://democracy.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=4443&Ver=4 
 

 

15.   REGISTER OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
https://democracy.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386  
 

 

 
 

For copies of papers and further information on this meeting please refer to the website 
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk.  Alternatively, contact the following 

Governance & Scrutiny Officer: Ninoshka Martins 
 ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 07970 306298 
 
 

This agenda was issued on 15.09.21 on behalf of Julie Connor, Secretary to the  
Greater Manchester Combined Authority, Broadhurst House, 56 Oxford Street, 

Manchester M1 6EU 

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=4443&Ver=4
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=247&MId=4443&Ver=4
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386
mailto:ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MEMBERSHIP OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING, PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2021/ 2022  
 
AS AGREED BY THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY HELD ON 
25 JUNE 2021. 
 
 

1 Bolton John Walsh (Con)  

2 

 

Bury Martin Hayes (Lab)  

 

3 

4 

Mancheste Mandie Shilton-Godwin (Lab) 

TBC (Lab) 

 

5 Oldham Barbara Brownridge (Lab)  

6 

7 

Rochdale Linda Robinson (Lab) 

TBC (Con)  

 

8 Salford Stuart Dickman (Lab)  

9 

10 

Stockport Janet Mobbs (Lab) 

 Colin MacAlister (Lib Dem) 

 

11 

12 

Tameside Mike Glover (Lab) 

Liam Billington (Con) 

 

13 

14 

Trafford Kevin Procter (Lab)  

Akilah Akinola (Lab)  

 

15 Wigan Fred Walker (Lab)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
GREATER MANCHESTER SCRUTINY SUBSTITUTE POOL 2021/22 
 

 LABOUR CONSERVATIVE  LIB DEM IND 

Bolton Akhtar Zaman Stuart Hartigan n/a n/a 

Bury TBC TBC n/a n/a 

Manchester n/a n/a TBC n/a 

Oldham n/a 

 

n/a Hazel Gloster 

Sam Al-

Hamdani 

n/a 

Rochdale Tom Besford n/a n/a n/a 

Salford n/a Ari Leitner 

Karen Garrido 

n/a n/a 

Stockport n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Tameside Adrian Pearce  Ruth Welsh 

 

n/a n/a 

Trafford  n/a Mussadak Mirza  n/a n/a 

Wigan  Debra Wailes n/a n/a Paul Maiden 

Page 2



 

 
 

 

HOUSING, PLANNING, ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Date:   23 September 2021 
 
Subject:  Members’ Code of Conduct and Annual Declaration Form 
 
Report of: Joanne Heron, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To remind Members that the GMCA’s Members’ Code of Conduct sets out high expectations 
with regard Members’ conduct. As Members of the GMCA’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees are co-opted on to a GMCA Committee the GMCA’s code applies to them when 
they are acting in this capacity. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Housing, Planning, and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to 
note the GMCA’s Member Code of Conduct (Appendix A) and to complete an annual register 
of interest form (Appendix B). 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
 
Joanne Heron, Statutory Scrutiny Officer, GMCA 
joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5

mailto:joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
 

SECTION A:  CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS  

 

Part 1 General Provisions  

 

1   Introduction and Scope 
 

 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority is determined to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by its Members, Co-opted Members and those 
councillors from Greater Manchester’s districts appointed to roles in which they act 
on behalf of the GMCA. The GMCA has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members 
in line with its obligations under section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011. 
 

 This Code mandatorily applies to those acting as Members of the GMCA (including 
the directly elected Mayor and Substitute Members), voting Co-opted Members 
of the GMCA’s committees or Appointed Members of Joint Committees, and 
references to “official capacity” are to be construed accordingly. 

 
 Compliance with this Code is a statutory requirement for those identified in 

paragraph 1.2. To promote good governance the GMCA strongly recommends 
voluntary compliance with the Code by non-voting Co-opted Members of the 
GMCA’s committees and by elected members from Greater Manchester’s ten 
districts when they otherwise act for or represent the GMCA. Where a member is 
only subject to the Code through voluntary compliance (as described in this 
paragraph) they will not in law be subject to the statutory obligations relating to 
member conduct under Chapter 7, Part 1 of the Localism Act 2011 nor can the 
conduct of such a member, insofar as it concerns that member’s GMCA role, 
amount to any of the criminal offences referred to in this Code. However, the 
conduct of a member who has agreed to voluntarily be subject to the Code may 
be considered under the GMCA’s arrangements for determining whether a 
member has breached the Code. 

 
 In this Code – ‘meeting’ means any meeting of: 

 

 the GMCA; or 
 

 any of the GMCA’s Committees or Sub-Committees, Joint Committees or 
Joint Sub-Committees. 

 
For the purposes of this Code “Committee” includes any Fire Committee that may 
be established by the Mayor. 
 

 This Code does not have effect in relation to a member’s conduct other than where 
it is in that member’s official capacity. 
 

 This Code will be reviewed every two years by the GMCA’s Standards Committee 
or earlier if required by a change in legislation. 

  

Page 5



 

2   General Principles 
 

 The Code and the associated guidance are based on the following general 
principles. 
 

 Members must behave according to the highest standards of personal conduct in 
everything they do when acting as a Member or voting Co-opted Member (or in 
the case of those voluntarily subject to compliance with the Code in accordance 
with paragraph 1.3 above, where they are otherwise acting on behalf of the 
GMCA). They must observe the following principles of conduct, some of which are 
set out in law. The seven principles of Standards in Public Life known as the Nolan 
Principles underpin the provisions of the GMCA’s Code of Conduct for Members. 
They are set out in paragraphs 2.3 to 2.9 below. 

 
 Selflessness: holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest.   
 

 Integrity: holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 
them in the work.   They should not act or take decisions on order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 
friends.  They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

 
 Objectivity: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 

fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or 
bias.  

 
 Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 

must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to ensure this. 
 

 Openness: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open 
and transparent manner.  Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so. 

 Honesty: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests 
relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest.  

  
 Leadership: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 

behaviour.  They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 
occurs.Where those covered by this Code act as a representative of the GMCA: 

 
(a) on another relevant authority, they must, when acting for that other 

authority, comply with that other authority’s code of conduct; or 
 

(b) on any other body, they must comply with this Code, unless it conflicts with 
any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject. 

  
  

Page 6



 
 It is an individual’s responsibility to comply with this Code.  Failure to do so may 

result in a sanction being applied by the GMCA.  A failure by a Member coming 
within the scope of paragraph 1.2 above to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest may result in a criminal conviction and an unlimited fine and/or 
disqualification from office for a period of up to 5 years.  
 

3   General Obligations for Members 
 

 You must not:-   
  

a. Do anything which may knowingly cause the GMCA to breach the Equality 
Act 2010; 

b. Bully or be abusive to any person;  
c. Intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be: 

 a complainant 

 a witness, or 

 involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings,  
in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) has failed to 
comply with the GMCA’s Code of Conduct; or  

d. do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality 
of those who work for, or on behalf of, the GMCA. 
 

 You must not: 
 

a. Disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 
acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of 
a confidential nature, except where: 

i. You have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
ii. You are required to do so by law; 

iii. The disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 
professional legal advice, provided that the third party agrees not to 
disclose the information to any other person; or  

iv. the disclosure:  

 is reasonable and in the public interest; and 

 is made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 
requirements of the GMCA; and I have consulted with the 
Monitoring Officer prior to its release or 

b. Do not improperly use knowledge gained soley as a result of your 
role as a Councillor for the advancement of yhourself, friends, family 
members, employer or business interests 

c. Prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law.  
 

 You must not conduct yourself in such a way which could reasonably be regarded 
as bringing your office or the GMCA into disrepute. 

  

Page 7



 
 You: 

a. must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to 
the advantage or disadvantage  for myself or any other person, ; and  

b. must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 
GMCA:  

 act in accordance with the GMCA’s reasonable requirements;  

 ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political 
purposes (including party political purposes) or be conductive to, 
the discharge of the functions of the GMCA or of the office to 
which I have been appointed; and 

c. must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made 
under the Local Government Act 1986. 
 

 When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant 
advice provided to you by: 
 

a. The GMCA’s Treasurer (section 73 officer); or  
b. The GMCA’s Monitoring Officer 

 
where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her personal statutory duties.  
 

 You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the GMCA. 
  

 

Page 8



2021/22 

 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 
 

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY (GMCA) 
CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 

 
 

Register of Members’ and Substitute Members’ Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (in 
accordance with Sections 30 and 31 of the Localism Act 2011 and the relevant authorities 
(disclosable pecuniary interests) Regulations 2012 (S.I 2012 No.1464) and Members and 
Substitute Members personal interests in accordance with paragraph 2.1 of the GMCA’s 
Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
I, ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Member of the GMCA’s Waste and Recycling Committee give notice that I have set out at 
Part 1 below under the appropriate heading the disclosable personal interests that I am 
required to notify to the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer in accordance with Sections 30 and 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 
Regulations 2012 and/or by virtue of Rule 16  of the GMCA’s Procedure Rules and that I 
have set out at PART 2 below the personal interests which I am required to notify to the 
GMCA’s Monitoring Officer under Paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2 of the Code of Conduct for 
Members adopted by the GMCA at its meeting on the 27 July 2012 and have put ‘NONE’ 
where I am not required to notify any disclosable personal interests or personal interests 
under any heading.   
 
I am aware that in accordance with Section 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011, I am required 
to notify at Part 1 both my own disclosable personal interests and also any disclosable 
personal interests of: 
  
1. my spouse or civil partner, 
2. a person with whom I am living as husband and wife, or 
3. a person with whom I am living as if we were civil partners  

 
(“my partner”), where I am aware that my partner has the disclosable personal interest. 

Page 9



2021/22 

 

PART 1 
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
1. Any employment, office, trade, profession, or vocation carried out for profit 

or gain 
 

Member 
 
 
 
 

 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
NB:  You need to include details of any employment or business in which you or your Partner are 

engaged.   Employees should give the name of their employer.  You should give the name 
of any company of which you or your Partner are a partner or remunerated director.  Where 
you or your Partner hold an office, give the name of the person of the body which appointed 
you or your Partner  (in the case of a teacher in a maintained school – the local education 
authority; in the case of an aided school – the school’s governing body) 

 
 

2. Sponsorship 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 NB:  You must declare any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the GMCA) made or provided to you in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying 
out your duties as a Member / Substitute Member of the GMCA, or towards your election 
expenses, within the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you give your 
notification to the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer for the purposes of Section 30(1) of the 
Localism Act 2011 and/or by virtue of Rule 18 of the GMCA’s Procedure Rules.  This 
includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



2021/22 

 

3. Contracts with the GMCA  
 

Member  
 
 
 
 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
NB: You should describe all contracts of which you are aware, which are made between the 

GMCA and  
(i) either yourself or your Partner or  
(ii) a body in which you or your Partner have a beneficial interest (being a firm in 

which you or your Partner is a partner, or a body corporate of which you or your 
Partner is a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner have a 
beneficial interest),  

which are not fully discharged and which are contracts under which goods or services are 
to be provided or works are to be executed. 

 
Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture 
stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society. 

 
 

4. Land in the area of the GMCA 
 

Member  
 
 
 
 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
You should include any land (including houses, buildings or parts of buildings and any interests as 
mortgagee) within the GMCA’s boundaries in which you or your Partner, either alone or jointly, have 
a proprietary interest for your or your Partner’s benefit.  You should give the address or brief 
description to identify it.  If you live within the GMCA’s boundaries you should include your 
home under this heading either as owner, lessee or tenant.  You should also include any property 
from which you or your partner receive rent, or of which you or your artner are the mortgagee. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



2021/22 

 

5.      Licences to occupy land 
 

Member 
 
 
 
 

 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
NB You should include any land (including buildings or parts of buildings) within the GMCA’s 

boundaries which you or your Partner have a right to occupy for 28 days or longer (either 
alone or jointly with others).  You should give the address or a brief description to identify it. 

 
6.      Corporate tenancies 
 

Member 
 
 
 
 

 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
NB: You should list here any tenancies of properties of which you are aware, where the landlord 
is the GMCA and the tenant is a body in which you or your Partner have a beneficial interest (being 
a firm in which you or your Partner is a partner, or a body corporate of which you or your Partner is 
a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner have a beneficial interest).  
 
Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan 
stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services 
and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



2021/22 

 

 

7. Securities  
 

Member 
 
 
 
 

 

Partner 
 
 
 
 

 

 
NB: You should list here any beneficial interest of you or your Partner in securities of a body 

where – 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land within the GMCA’s 

boundaries; and  
 
(b) either – 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities held by you or your Partner 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your Partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that class. 

 
Please note that the reference to “securities” means “shares, debentures, debenture stock,  

Loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 

deposited with a building society

Page 13



2021/22 

 

PART 2 
 

PERSONAL INTERESTS  
 
 
1. Bodies to which you are appointed or nominated by the GMCA 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NB:  You should record here details of your position of general control or management, in 

any – 
 

 Body to which you have been appointed or nominated by the GMCA as its 
representative.   

 
2. Interests in charities, societies and other bodies 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NB:  You should record here details of your position of general control or management, in 

any – 
 

 Public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature; 

 Company, industrial and provident society, charity, or body directed to charitable 
purposes.  (Freemasons should include here membership of the Masonic Grand 
Charity) 

 Body whose principal purposes include the influence of public policy, including party 
associations, trade union or professional association. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



2021/22 

 

3. Gifts and hospitality 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
You should list here any person from whom you have received a gift(s) or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £100 (including multiple gifts and/or hospitality with an aggregate value 
of at least £100 from the same person). You should provide a description of the gift(s) or hospitality 
and the person you believe to be the source of the gift(s) and hospitality (including accumulative 
gifts and/or hospitality). 
 
You should list any such gifts or hospitality which you have received within whichever is the shortest 
of the period of 3 years or the period since you were first elected as a Member / Substitute Member 
of the GMCA. 
 

 
 

I recognise that it can be a CRIMINAL OFFENCE under Section 34 of the Localism 
Act 2011 to:- 

 
1. fail to comply with the obligation to notify the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer of any 

disclosable pecuniary interests as required by Section 30(1) of the Localism Act 
2011;  

2. provide information in relation to disclosable pecuniary interests  that is materially 
false or misleading, and 

3. fail to comply with the obligation to notify the GMCA’s Monitoring Officer of any 
further disclosable pecuniary interests that require notification in accordance with 
Sections 30(2) and 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011.  

 
I authorise this information to be made available in the GMCA’s Public Register of 
Member’s / Substitute Member’s Interests which will be published on the GMCA’s website 
as required by Section 29(6)(b) of the Localism Act 2011.  

 
 

Signed:  
 
 

Date:  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



2021/22 

 

OFFICE USE ONLY 
 
RECEIVED 
 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………. GMCA  
 
 
 
 
Date …………………………………… 
 
 

Page 16



GMCA OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES’ 
 

ROLE AND PURPOSE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 

Greater Manchester recognises that its ways of working and formal governance need 
to support transparent and publicly accountable decision-making. Effective Scrutiny is 
even more important in the light of the new powers that devolution brings.  
 

In a Mayoral combined authority like Greater Manchester, there are three points of 
power and accountability.  
o The directly elected Mayor exercising mayoral functions; 

o The Combined Authority (GMCA), consisting of  the 10 GM local authority Leaders 

and the directly elected Mayor acting collectively; 

o The GMCA’s overview and scrutiny committees, holding both of the above to 

account.  

Ultimately, all three of these sets of people are accountable to local people. An 
effective scrutiny function is a key part of this decision-making process.  
 
The GMCA has established three thematic overview and scrutiny committees. The 
overarching purpose of these new structures is to improve the quality of decisions 
made by the GMCA and the elected Mayor. The committees will do this by: 
o reviewing the work and decisions of the GMCA and the elected Mayor, and  

o by acting as a critical friend in the development of policy and new work streams.    

GM’s three scrutiny committees are:   
 

o Corporate Issues and Reform (GMCA as a corporate entity & public sector reform) 

o Economy, Business Growth and Skills 

o Housing, Planning and Environment (including transport and regeneration) 
 

This structure gives the GMCA’s scrutiny function more capacity to respond and 
contribute to the increased volume and variety of work flowing through the new Mayoral 
GMCA and this structure also meets legislative requirements.1 
 

                                                           
1 Schedule 5A of the Local Democracy Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 and the 

Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit 
Committees) Order 2017. Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Membership 
 

 

 Fifteen members for each overview and scrutiny committee, 
appointed annually by the GMCA.  

 At least one member from each of GM’s ten Constituent Councils. 

 Membership must reflect (as far as reasonably practicable) the 
political balance of the whole GMCA area.  

 The GMCA will have regard to any nominations made by 
Constituent Councils. 

 Members of the GMCA (including a Substitute Member) or an 
Assistant Portfolio Holder may not be a member of an overview and 
scrutiny committee. 

 Substitute members are allowed from the pool of nominations 
received from the Constituent Councils and appointed at the 
meeting of the GMCA. 

Chair 

 

Each overview and scrutiny committee will appoint its own chair, who must 
be a member of one of the Constituent Councils who is an ‘appropriate 
person’. An appropriate person is:  

i. A person who is not a member of a registered political party of 
which the Mayor is a member; or,  

ii. If the Mayor is not a member of a registered political party, a person 
who is not a member of the registered political party who has the 
most representatives on the GMCA; or, 

iii. If the Mayor is not a member of a registered political party and two 
or more parties have the same number of representatives, a person 
who is not a member of any of those parties. 

These requirements also apply to the Chairing of any of the sub 
committees established. 

Quorum 
 Two-thirds, that is ten committee members must be present for a 

meeting to be quorate.  

 The two thirds requirement also applies to sub committees. 

Voting 
 Each member of the overview and scrutiny committee to have one 

vote and no member is to have a casting vote. 

 Whenever a vote is taken at a meeting it shall be by a show of 
hands, and voting can be recorded at the request of members 
present at the meeting.  

  

Page 18



Terms of 
Reference 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The GMCA’s overview and scrutiny committees’ role and function is as 
follows: 
 

1. To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other actions taken 
by: 
i. the GMCA, including decisions delegated to officers and 

committees of the GMCA;  
ii. the Mayor in the exercise of general functions (but not Police and 

Crime Commissioner functions) including decisions delegated to 
officers, or to other members of the GMCA. 

  
2. To make reports or recommendations to the GMCA or the Mayor 

(general functions only) concerning the discharge of their functions 
that are the responsibility of the GMCA. 
 

3. To make reports or recommendations to the GMCA or the Mayor 
on matters that affect the GMCA's area or the inhabitants of the area. 
 

4. To Call-In decisions made by the GMCA or the Mayor (general 
functions only). Decisions that have been delegated by the GMCA or 
the Mayor to other committees or officers (or by the Mayor to another 
member of the GMCA) may also be called-in. If a scrutiny committee 
does call a decision in they can: 
i. Direct that a decision is not to be implemented while it is under 

review or scrutiny by the overview and scrutiny committee; and, 
ii. Recommend that the decision be reconsidered.  
 

5. To establish formal sub committees or informal task and finish 
groups if they wish. 

 

Who Can Refer Matters to the GMCA’S Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees? 
 

 A member of the overview and scrutiny committee 

 A member of the GMCA, including the Mayor 

 A member of a constituent council 
 

Who Must Attend Meetings of the GMCA’S Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees? 

 Members (including the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor) or officers of 
the GMCA must attend meetings, if invited, to answer questions. 

 Other people may be invited to attend meetings of the overview 
and scrutiny committee, but are not obliged to attend. 

 

Access to Information Requirements  

 Combined Authorities’ decision-making is covered by Access to 
Information requirements, which means that 28 clear days’ notice 
has to be given before a key decision can be taken (unless the 
general exception or special urgency rules apply). 

 The Register of Key Decisions enables the scrutiny committees to 
keep abreast of major decisions that are going to be taken by the 
GMCA, the Mayor or decisions that have been delegated to 
officers (or by the Mayor to other members of the GMCA).  

Page 19



https://democracy.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386 
 

Call in 

 The GMCA’s scrutiny committees have published proposals on 
how they propose to exercise the power to call-in and its 
arrangements in connection with the exercise of that power. The 
GMCA has consented to these proposals and arrangements.  

 These proposals and arrangements are the same for each 
committee. 

 

The remit for each committee is set out below. To assist the Committees’ understanding 
of how the Greater Manchester Strategy’s priorities may be divided between the three 
committees a table is included at appendix 1. 
 
Corporate 
Issues & 
Reform  

 

Remit to include – 

 

 Matters of coordination and cross cutting policy themes 

 Devolution and legislative matters 

 Budget oversight and other financial matters, including consideration 
of budgets, levies and Mayoral general precept prior to formal 
determination 

 GMCA organisational and staffing issues 

 GM communications 

 GM Connect data sharing 

 GM’s reform work 

 Fairness, equalities and cohesion  
 

Economy, 

Business 

Growth & 

Skills 

Remit to include – 
 

 Investment 

 Science and technology  

 GM’s global brand   

 Improving GM’s international competitiveness 

 Business Support  

 Skills and Employment to support business growth 

 Culture and sport  
 

Housing, 
Planning & 
Environment 

 

Remit to include – 
 

 Transport 

 Regeneration  

 Housing and Planning 

 Homelessness 

 Low Carbon 

 Waste (a new GMCA function from 1 April 2018) 

Page 20

https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=386


Reporting 
Structures 

 

 

 The formal governance of the relationship between scrutiny and those 
who exercise the functions of the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (the GMCA, the Mayor, and officers) is set out in the terms of 
reference.  

 The work programme of each committee are likely to include pre-
decision scrutiny and review of emerging policy areas. To facilitate this 
there will need to be a continuous dialogue between each of the three 
scrutiny committees, and between each committee, the GMCA, the 
Mayor and senior officers. 

Agenda 
Management 

& Report 
Format 

 

 A work programme will be agreed and prioritised by the committee, but 
further items may be referred to the committee at any time. 

 Two substantive items per meeting. 

 Reports or presentations should be brief – approximately four pages of 
text wherever possible and less than 10 slides. 

 All agenda items should state the reason the item is being taken by 
the meeting and be clear what ‘the ask’ of the committee is.  

 Background documents and for information items should be listed on 
the front page of the report. 

 A papers (reports and presentations) will be circulated in line with 
statutory requirements five working days before the meeting.  

Meeting 
Organisation 
 

 

Meeting Frequency:  To be determined   
Meeting Duration:    Usually 2 hours    
 

These meetings are held in PUBLIC and will be LIVESTREAMED (except 
where confidential or exempt information is being considered). 

Meeting dates  
2021/22 

 

9 September 2021 
7 October 2021 
11 November 2021 
9 December 2021 
13 January 2022  
3 February 2022 
10 March 2022 

Key Contacts 
 

 

Joanne Heron 
GMCA Statutory Scrutiny Officer 
joanne.heron@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  
0161 778 7009  
 

Ninoshka Martins  
Senior Governance & Scrutiny Officer 
ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
0161 778 7009 
 

Julie Connor  
Assistant Director of Governance & Scrutiny 
Julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk  

 
Liz Treacy 
GMCA Monitoring Officer 
Liz.treacy@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 21

mailto:Susan.ford@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:ninoshka.martins@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.connor@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk
mailto:Liz.treacy@greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk


SCRUTINY OF GREATER MANCHESTER STRATEGY PRIORITIES 

GMS priority areas Suggested Scrutiny Committee 

Enablers: (Person-centred approach, Partnership and 

transparency, Leadership and accountability, Taking control of 

our future) 

Corporate Issues and Reform 

Priority 1: Children starting school ready to learn Corporate Issues and Reform (Children’s Services aspects of this 

priority) and  

Economy Business Growth and Skills for the Skills and 

apprenticeships  

Priority 2: Young people equipped for life Corporate Issues and Reform 

Priority 3: Good jobs, with opportunities to progress and develop Economy Business Growth and Skills 

Priority 4: A thriving and productive economy in all parts of 

Greater Manchester 

Economy Business Growth and Skills 

Priority 5: World class connectivity that keeps Greater 

Manchester moving 

Housing, Planning and Environment 

Priority 6: Safe, decent and affordable housing Housing, Planning and Environment 

Priority 7: A green city region and a high quality culture and leisure 

offer for all 

Housing, Planning and Environment 

Priority 8: Safe and strong communities Corporate Issues and Reform (&  Police and Crime Panel) 

Priority 9: Healthy lives, with good care available for those that 

need it 

Joint Health Scrutiny 

Priority 10: An age-friendly Greater Manchester Joint Health Scrutiny 

 
 

Appendix 1 

P
age 22



 

Declaration of Councillors’ Interests in Items Appearing on the Agenda 

 

Name and Date of Committee…………………………………………………………………… 
 
 

Agenda Item 
Number 

Type of Interest - 
PERSONAL AND NON 
PREJUDICIAL Reason 

for declaration of 
interest 

NON PREJUDICIAL Reason for declaration of 
interest Type of Interest – PREJUDICIAL 

Reason for declaration of interest 

Type of Interest – DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTEREST Reason for 

declaration of interest  

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
Please see overleaf for a quick guide to declaring interests at GMCA meetings. 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 8



 

Quick Guide to Declaring Interests at GMCA Meetings 
 
Please Note: should you have a personal interest that is prejudicial in an item on the agenda, you should leave the meeting for the 
duration of the discussion and the voting thereon.  
 

This is a summary of the rules around declaring interests at meetings. It does not replace the Member’s Code of Conduct, the full 
description can be found in the GMCA’s constitution Part 7A.  
 
Your personal interests must be registered on the GMCA’s Annual Register within 28 days of your appointment onto a GMCA committee 
and any changes to these interests must notified within 28 days. Personal interests that should be on the register include: 
 
1. Bodies to which you have been appointed by the GMCA 
2. Your membership of bodies exercising functions of a public nature, including charities, societies, political parties or trade unions. 
 
You are also legally bound to disclose the following information called Disclosable Personal Interests which includes: 
 
1. You, and your partner’s business interests (eg employment, trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which you are 

associated). 
2. You and your partner’s wider financial interests (eg trust funds, investments, and assets including land and property).  
3. Any sponsorship you receive. 

 
Failure to disclose this information is a criminal offence 
 

Step One: Establish whether you have an interest in the business of the agenda 
 
1. If the answer to that question is ‘No’ then that is the end of the matter.  
2. If the answer is ‘Yes’ or Very Likely’ then you must go on to consider if that personal interest can be construed as being a prejudicial 

interest.  
 

Step Two: Determining if your interest is prejudicial 
 
A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest: 
 

P
age 24



 

1. where the wellbeing, or financial position of you, your partner, members of your family, or people with whom you have a close 
association (people who are more than just an acquaintance) are likely to be affected by the business of the meeting more than it 
would affect most people in the area.  

2. the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it 
is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest. 
 

For a non-prejudicial interest, you must: 
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have an interest. 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a personal interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 

 
To note:  
1. You may remain in the room and speak and vote on the matter  

1. If your interest relates to a body to which the GMCA has appointed you to, you only have to inform the meeting of that interest if you 
speak on the matter. 

2.  

For prejudicial interests, you must:  
 
1. Notify the governance officer for the meeting as soon as you realise you have a prejudicial interest (before or during the meeting). 
2. Inform the meeting that you have a prejudicial interest and the nature of the interest. 
3. Fill in the declarations of interest form. 
4. Leave the meeting while that item of business is discussed. 
5. Make sure the interest is recorded on your annual register of interests form if it relates to you or your partner’s business or financial 

affairs. If it is not on the Register update it within 28 days of the interest becoming apparent.  
 

You must not: 
 
Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become aware of your disclosable pecuniary interest during the 
meeting participate further in any discussion of the business,  

3. participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY HELD 

ON FRIDAY 19 MARCH 2021, AT 12:00 PM VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor John Walsh (Chair) Bolton 

Councillor Martin Hayes Bury 

Councillor Mandie Shilton Godwin Manchester 

Councillor Jill Lovecy Manchester 

Councillor Sam Al-Hamdani (Substitute) Oldham  

Councillor Charles Gibson Stockport 

Councillor Janet Mobbs Stockport 

Councillor Mike Glover Tameside 

Councillor Kevin Procter Trafford  

Councillor Amy Whyte  Trafford 

Councillor Fred Walker Wigan 

 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 

Eamonn Boylan GMCA 

Simon Warburton TfGM 

Steve Warrener TfGM 

Kate Brown  TfGM 

Megan Black TfGM 

Michael Renshaw  TfGM 

Steve Wilson GMCA 

Liz Treacy GMCA 

Julie Connor  GMCA 

Joanne Heron GMCA 

Jamie Fallon GMCA 

Jenny Hollamby GMCA 

 
HPE 278/20 APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Paul Cropper (Bury), Linda Robinson 
(Rochdale), Sharmina August (Salford), and Liam Billington (Tameside). 
 
HPE 279/20 CHAIRS ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 
The Chair informed Members that the report Bus Reform: Bus, Back, Better had been added to the 
agenda as an urgent item to support the Committee’s consideration of the GMCA Bus Reform 
proposal. It was acknowledged that the lateness of the item was due to the Department for 
Transports Government Bus, Back, Better Strategy only being published on Monday 15 March 2021.   
   
HPE 280/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

RESOLVED/- 
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 
HPE 281/20 BUS REFORM: BUS BACK BETTER  
HPE 281/20 BUS REFORM: CONSULTATION AND THE GMCA RESPONSE   
 
Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive, GMCA & TfGM, introduced both reports which sought the 
Committee’s views on:  
 
o The consultation conducted on the proposed Bus Franchising scheme in accordance with the 

Transport Act 2000 as amended by the Bus Services Act 2017 (‘the Act’) and the responses to it, 
along with the recommendations for member’s consideration. 

o The Department for Transport’s National Bus Strategy for England, titled ‘Bus Back Better’, which 
was released on Monday 15 March 2021 (the NBS) and its implications for GMCA’s bus reform 
process. 

 
Members received a presentation which provided an overview of the reports, including the 
implications of the National Bus Strategy. The following key points were highlighted:  
 
o The Committee’s views and recommendations would be reported to an extraordinary meeting 

of GMCA on Tuesday 23 March 2021 which was due to consider whether to recommend the 
Proposed Franchising Scheme to the Mayor. Following this meeting, the Mayor would decide 
whether to make the Scheme (no earlier than 25 March 2021).  

o Members were reminded that the Committee had considered the consultation methodology in 
June 2020, which subsequently received over 12.5k responses across a 20 - week period. The 
latest consultation focussed on a Proposed Franchising Scheme and potential impacts of Covid-
19 on those proposals. When asked the question ‘to what extent do you support or oppose the 
introduction of the proposed franchising scheme’ or responded as part of an organised 
campaign: 86% were in support during the 1st consultation period, and 82% during the second 
consultation period.  Significant concerns and challenge to the proposals had been received from 
several  consultees, particularly incumbent bus operators.  

o The Assessment of the Proposed Franchising Scheme in view of the Covid-19 Impact analysis 
was that this was the best option to deliver Greater Manchester’s Vision for Bus. This remained 
the only option that could deliver full benefits of an integrated transport system, along with 
offering more scope for the introduction of additional measures over time that would improve 
bus services, and provided greater value for money.  

o If approved the Scheme would be implemented in three tranches commencing from early 2023, 
(Tranche 1 largely Wigan and Bolton, Tranche 2 North East Bury to Oldham, Tranche 3 South of 
GM).   

o Liz Treacy, GMCA Monitoring Officer, informed Members that two bus operators had submitted 
applications for judicial review and confirmed that the GMCA had reviewed and filed a response 
to the claims and were awaiting an update from the court on next steps.  

o The GMCA Monitoring Officer relayed a statement to Members from operator Rotala which was 
received immediately prior to this meeting. The statement suggested that GMCA was not 
fulfilling a statutory requirement by proceeding to a decision without consulting on the proposal 
considering the publication of the National Strategy: Bus Back Better on Monday 15 March 2021.  

Page 28



3 
 

o It was the view of officers that based on the extensive work, including the consultation and 
review, it was reasonable to proceed to a decision, given the conclusion that franchising was the 
best option to deliver Greater Manchester’s Vision for Bus.  

 
Members raised the following questions and comments:  
 
o The Chair extended thanks to Officers for the comprehensive report but voiced his concerns 

regarding the length of time the Committee had available to consider the vast amount of 
complex information provided. He asked for clarification as to the urgency, given that the 
National Strategy was only published on Monday 15 March 2021.  
 
Eamonn Boylan, advised that the work had been ongoing since 2017, and proceeding now was 
timely given that it would support GM’s recovery from the pandemic, in particularly, given that 
this was a period where the industry was receiving a substantial amount of Government subsidy. 
It was reiterated that the Assessment had concluded that the best outcomes for the public 
would be gained through franchising.  
 
It was acknowledged that the Committee had received a vast amount of material but that a large 
amount of the information was re encapsulated material which had been previously shared with 
Members.   
 
The view of officers was that in order to maximise the value for money and services provided to 
the public it was timely to move forward swiftly to a decision. Members were advised that the 
Government’s Strategy was requesting that all Local Transport Authorities outline whether they 
would seek to adopt a partnership or franchising scheme.   
   

o The Chair asked what the ongoing financial consequences were for each local authority, and 
what were the proposed future funding arrangements, and associated levels of risk.  
 
Steve Warrener, Director of Finance and Transport Services, TfGM, advised that it was not 
anticipated that there would be a further funding ask of local authorities, other than the £17.8m 
one off contribution originally agreed. It was confirmed that GMCA approved the funding 
strategy in October 2019, covering the transition to a fully franchised bus network, including the 
acquisition of assets such as depots and ticketing systems, as well as an allowance to manage 
risks. The proposed funding arrangements were subsequently approved by GMCA in November 
2020 totalling £134.5m.   
 
It was envisioned that the Scheme would become financially self-sustaining through a funding 
mix of fare revenue, and existing funding sources. There was already funding currently provided 
by the GMCA for concessionary travel.  
 
The Covid-19 Impact Report recognised that there was greater uncertainty over future bus 
patronage and related factors which could potentially reduce farebox revenues accruing 
compared to those forecast in the Assessment. As a result, the Covid-19 Report proposed locally 
controlled financial mitigations across network size, transition costs, concessionary 
reimbursement policy and further uncommitted local funding sources for the Proposed 
Franchising Scheme to remain affordable 
 

Page 29



4 
 

o Councillor Martin Hayes, Bury Council, extended his thanks to officers for the comprehensive 
presentation, and expressed his full support for the franchising option, noting that GM needed 
a London style system which was fit for purpose.  He also requested clarification as to whether 
Bury West would be included within Tranche 1 of the Scheme implementation.  

 
Michael Renshaw, Executive Director, TfGM advised that the services coming into Bury from the 
West would feature in Tranche 1, noting that other services would continue to run commercially 
into the Town Centre during this period. Where appropriate, permission could be granted for 
services to enter a franchised area, to avoid creating barriers or problems to the remaining 
commercial network. It was noted that there would be full engagement with providers 
throughout the implementation period. The network was dynamic, and the implementation 
would not prevent commercial services being modified in the interim.  

 
o Councillor Martin Hayes also asked if the judicial reviews had been heard and what the outcomes 

were.   
 

Eamonn Boylan, confirmed that two claims for judicial review had been submitted to the Courts 
but neither had yet been granted permission.  Liz Treacy, Monitoring Officer added that the 
claims were in the preliminary stages and it was not yet known whether permission would be 
granted or refused by the Courts.   
 

o Councillor Charles Gibson, Stockport MBC, extended thanks to colleagues for the thorough 
summary and asked what impact, if any, the National Strategy had on GM’s plans for bus lanes.  
 
Eamonn Boylan, advised that the National Strategy had an emphasis on bus priority but didn’t 
outline the implications of this in detailed practical terms. The appropriate levels of bus priority 
and active travel segregation on road spaces in GM had been agreed and there was no indication 
that this work would need to stop or be revised. The GMCA would continue to work in 
partnership with Government to fully understand the thinking as it emerged, and subsequently 
ensure that GM was compliant.  
 
Simon Warburton TfGM added that the Strategy had provided a level of assurance which was 
helpful. It was confirmed that guidance on the Government’s approach to the Intercity Transport 
Fund (announced in the Budget) was expected shortly and subsequently GMCA would need to 
consider what capital funding steams would be brought forward to support the priorities agreed 
within the 2040 Transport Strategy.  

 
o Councillor Kevin Procter, Trafford Council, extended thanks to officers for the comprehensive 

summary and after considering the reports expressed his support for progressing to a decision 
on the proposed franchising Scheme at pace to ensure that the benefits could be maximised, 
considering the high levels of public support. It was acknowledged that the presentation 
outlined the significant impact of the pandemic on the market which would continue to have a 
financial impact. He also requested further information on how the GMCA would ensure that 
the needs of disabled users were central to the developments, given that currently services were 
not sensitive to their needs.  

 
Eamonn Boylan confirmed that the fundamental aim of the process was to ensure that the 
integrated network was accessible to all, and this was a key consideration of the Assessment.  
 

Page 30



5 
 

Kate Brown, Director of Corporate Affairs, TfGM, added that there was close engagement with 
the Disability Reference Group, along with Organisations such as Breakthrough, on what an 
inclusive transport system would look like. Members were advised that the GMCA and TfGM 
were bound by the Public Sector Equality Duty which did not exist within the current system.  

 
o Councillor Mandie Shilton- Godwin, Manchester City Council, welcomed the update and 

following consideration of the suite of documents, expressed her strong support and 
endorsement of the recommendations. It was emphasised that the current system did not 
adequately service the needs of residents due to its high cost, frequent changes to services, and 
pollution impacts. It was hoped that the changes would begin to deliver for residents as a 
modern European city region should. She also requested further information on how the pricing 
of services would improve in the medium to longer term.  

 
Eamonn Boylan, advised that in order to address the issues described, franchising was the logical 
next step, however, it was emphasised that this in itself was not a solution to addressing all the 
issues described. The need to work through the fundamental principles was at the heart of the 
proposal. It was noted that the National Strategy outlined a desire to introduce a capped fare 
system, but it was acknowledged that the London transport system was heavily subsidised which 
enabled users to access cheaper fares.   
 
Michael Renshaw explained that the aim was to remove premium multi operator products with 
a view to bringing fares to the lowest level of the largest operator and enable users to benefit 
from access to the network across a range of operators, which currently passengers paid a 
premium for. It was noted that to reduce funds, increasing demand was critical. Subsequent 
investments would focus on implementing additional infrastructure and equipment, but it was 
emphasised that franchising would not fix all the issues highlighted but was the next logical step 
in the right direction.  

 
o Councillor Shilton-Godwin said that along with disabled users, users with pushchairs struggled 

to access services. She asked if the way buses were currently designed and configured form part 
of the improvements. 
 
Michael Renshaw acknowledged that the capacity available to service disabled users, and other 
users including those with pushchairs was limited, and this was identified within the National 
Bus Strategy. Members were advised that the industry had been wrestling with these issues for 
sometime without achieving a successful solution however, exploration would be undertaken as 
part of the ‘what now’ in particularly when considering fleet investment.  
 

o Councillor Fred Walker, Wigan Council, welcomed the consultation and the extensive work 
undertaken, but used the phrase ‘bogged down in treacle’ to describe the challenges faced 
nationally when trying to make progress.  Councillor Walker stated that he felt that it was 
appropriate for GM to move forward to a decision since GM was already receiving large 
Government subsidies due to the pandemic. In his view there was now a solution to cease the 
need for this. 
 
Eamonn Boylan acknowledged that it had taken some time to develop a response given that GM 
was the first to take on this challenge, and there was no template to work to. The need to ensure 
the Assessment was meticulously undertaken and to revisit the work to consider the impacts of 
the pandemic was highlighted. Following the Assessment, it was felt that it was the right time to 

Page 31



6 
 

move forward to a decision, and it was emphasised that GMCA was taking proactive steps to 
address the claims for judicial review.  

 
o Councillor Jill Lovecy, Manchester City Council, welcomed the update and endorsed the proposal 

given that such a positive response had been received from the public. Councillor Lovecy felt 
that the work needed to progress at a pace now to improve the bus services for  residents and 
hoped that the Government would deliver the promised levelling up across the country. The 
benefits of discussing complex topics such as this at public meetings was acknowledged given 
the extensive information was not always easily translatable to the public. 

 
o The Chair referred to section 5 within the GMCA Bus Reform: Bus Back Better report on the 

enhanced partnership model and asked why this option was not considered as a viable option.   
 
Eamonn Boylan, confirmed that the Assessment did consider several options including both a 
very ambitious partnership option and a less ambitious partnership option, along with proposals 
from operators. The Assessment concluded that the franchising model was more beneficial to 
GM.  
 
Michael Renshaw explained that the 2017 Act included both franchising and enhanced 
partnership. An enhanced partnership was a statutory arrangement which required all operators 
within a geographical area to become active participants in it, however, following engagement 
with operators, they were explicit that this was not a form of partnership which they were willing 
to enter. As part of the Assessment the ambitious partnership was created for a basis of 
comparison to explore the upper limits of what was possible should there have been willingness 
from operators to adopt this type of arrangement. It was acknowledged that in due course 
operators would need to decide how they would respond to the National Bus Strategy which 
reflected the enhanced partnership approach outlined within the 2017 Act.   
 

o The Chair confirmed that he could not support the proposal as he felt that the proposal 
demanded further scrutiny and perusal, however, he acknowledged that from the discussion 
today the majority of members of the Committee were in support of progressing with a 
franchising Scheme on the basis set out in the report. The Chair extended his thanks to Officers 
for the presentation and support at the meeting and confirmed that the detailed comments of 
the Committee would be submitted to the GMCA meeting for consideration on Tuesday 23 
March 2021.  

  
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the report Bus Reform Bus Back Better be noted. 
 
2. That the proposals set out in the report Bus Reform Consultation and the GMCA Response be 

supported and the detailed comments of the Committee above be submitted to the GMCA at 
its meeting on Tuesday 23 March 2021 when it considers the report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Housing Planning and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
Date:   23 September 2021 
 
Subject:  Streets for All 
 
Report of: Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester, Portfolio Lead for 

Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & 
TfGM. 

 

 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
This report provides an overview of the Streets for All Strategy, which forms a sub-strategy 
to the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.   

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
Members are requested to; 
 

1. Review and comment on the GM Streets for All approach and principles set out in 
the Streets for All Strategy and this report.  

 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM - Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com  
 
Nicola Kane, Head of Strategic Planning, Insight and Innovation, TfGM -  
Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com  
 
Jonathan Marsh, Strategic Planning Manager, TfGM - Jonathan.Marsh@tfgm.com  

Page 33

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com
mailto:Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com
mailto:Jonathan.Marsh@tfgm.com


 

 

Equalities Implications: 
 
The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents aim to contribute to 
delivering sustainable economic growth, improve quality of life and protect the 
environment.  The original GM Transport Strategy 2040 was the subject of an Integrated 
Assessment which includes an Equalities Assessment. Streets for All will form part of the 
suite of GM Transport Strategy 2040 documents. 
 
 
Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures:  
 
The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents support Greater 
Manchester’s ambition to be carbon neutral by 2038. 
 

Risk Management: 

N/A 

 

Legal Considerations: 

N/A 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

See capital below.  

 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

Please see Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-26) which includes a funding 
summary statement.  

 
Number of attachments to the report? 

N/A 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: https://tfgm.com/2040 

 
The author of the report must include list of those documents on the subject matter 
which: 
 

o Disclose any facts or matter on which the report or an important part of the report is 
based; 

o Which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 
 
 
 
 

TRACKING/PROCESS 
[All sections to be completed] 

Page 34

https://tfgm.com/2040


 

 

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in the GMCA 
Constitution?  
 
Yes 
 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which means it should be considered to be exempt 
from call in by the relevant Scrutiny Committee on the grounds of urgency? 
No 

GM Transport Committee: 
 
August 2021 meeting of the GMTC  

Overview & Scrutiny Committee: 
 
GM HPEOS meeting January 2021 (part of GM Transport Strategy 2040 update) 

 

  

Page 35



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Updated Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents were approved 
by GMCA in January 2021, including: a refreshed version of the long-term, statutory 
local transport plan (LTP) - the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040; a final 
version of Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026); and ten new Local 
Implementation Plans (one for each Greater Manchester council). 
 

1.2  To support the overarching LTP documents a suite of GM2040 sub-strategies is  
being developed which sets out more detailed policies, principles and guidance on  
how GM intends to deliver the 2040 ambitions. These sub-strategies will be  
crucial in helping to ensure we are focusing our finite resources on ‘doing the right  
things’ (to achieve our 2040 vision) and ‘doing things right’ in terms of delivering  
against consistently high standards to maximise the impact of our transport  
interventions; and to ensure we are creating a coherent transport network for GM 
which is aligned with the 2040 Network principles and delivers Our Bee Network 
ambitions. These sub-strategies are at varying stages of development.  
 

1.3 The Streets for All Strategy is well-aligned with national policy documents, including 
‘Gear Change: A bold vision for Cycling and Walking’ (2020) in which Government 
outlines its ambition to create better streets for people walking and cycling, and ‘Bus 
Back Better: A National Bus Strategy for England’ (2021) in which Government asks 
all Local Transport Authorities to ‘commit to significant improvements in traffic 
management, including bus priority measures and active travel measures’.  

 
1.4 In Greater Manchester, our Local Cycling and Walking Improvement Plan (LCWIP) 

‘Change a Region to Change a Nation’ and upcoming Bus Service Improvement 
Plan (BSIP) sit alongside this Streets for All Strategy in setting out the overall 
aspirations for active travel and the bus components of the Bee Network. This 
Streets for All Strategy enables us to deliver our ambitions for walking, cycling and 
bus in a holistic way. The approach set out in Streets for All will also support our 
pathway to net zero transport, which is vital to the Government’s ‘Decarbonising 
Transport’ plan, alongside our local plans to reduce carbon and improve air quality.   

 
1.5 Streets for All is planned to be one of the first sub-strategies to be approved and 

adopted by GMCA. The Streets for All Strategy is appended to this report.   

2. What is ‘Streets for All’?  

2.1 Streets for All is a new approach for everything we do on streets in Greater  
Manchester. Streets for All supports our place-based agenda as well as achieving  
our ambition for more travel by walking, cycling and public transport, which will  
help us to tackle our most pressing economic, environmental, quality of life and  
innovation challenges.  

 
2.2 The ambition is to design more welcoming and greener streets which enable  

people to incorporate more physical activity into their daily lives; which have clean  
air; which are safe and secure for everyone; which provide good access to public  
transport; and which are accessible for those with mobility impairments. 

Page 36



 

 

 
2.3 When published, the Streets for All Strategy will build on the policy direction set  

out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and our Right Mix vision. It  
emphasises the importance of delivering active travel and public transport  
infrastructure and service improvements in a co-ordinated way and of supporting  
land use changes, which bring day to day services closer to where people live.  
Culture change around active and sustainable travel is also becoming more  
embedded across Greater Manchester, and this also forms a key part of the  
Streets for All Strategy.  

 
2.4 Streets for All offers a long-term approach - rather than an overnight ‘quick fix’ - 

which will require changes over time to how streets are designed and managed. It  
will also involve changes to the role of some existing streets where, for example,  
place-making may be given greater emphasis than the movement of private  
vehicles. Political leadership will be required - alongside close dialogue with local  
communities – as we transition towards Streets for All across Greater Manchester,  
as part of our ambition for clean air and carbon neutrality, and our ongoing  
commitment to improving public health.  
 

2.5  For us to achieve all these important ambitions, our city-region needs to be much  
easier to get around on foot, by cycle and using public transport, with streets which 

 are more pleasant to spend time in. The purpose of Streets for All is to set out   
Greater Manchester’s progressive approach to making this happen, by putting   
people first as we shape and manage our streets.   
           

2.6 Whilst we do not expect our Streets for All vision to change significantly over time, 
we will need to evolve our approach to delivering Streets for All as we work with 
local communities to implement it on different streets in different parts of GM.  
Therefore, we will review and, if appropriate, refresh the Streets for All Strategy and 
supporting design guidance a year after publishing, to make sure we are staying on 
track to achieve our goal of creating streets that are welcoming, green, and safe 
spaces for all people. This will allow the Streets for All approach to be tested and 
adapted for local conditions and allow any appropriate consultations by GM local 
authorities. 

3. What kind of values underpin ‘Streets for All’?  

3.1 As shown in the graphic below, Streets for All will be guided by 7 ‘Essentials’ 
which are for us – GMCA, 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities, TfGM - to 
deliver in partnership with the NHS, emergency services, stakeholder groups, 
businesses and residents - all working together and doing our bit. 

Page 37



 

 

 

3.2 Our 7 Streets for All ‘Essentials’ are our priorities and our promise that support our 
people centred approach to streets across Greater Manchester.  

4. The Streets for All Approach 

4.1 The Covid-19 pandemic has brought the quality of our streets into sharp focus. 
People are spending more time in their local areas and high streets, and recognise 
the value of having safe places to walk and cycle and to spend time in. Our 
residential streets have started to feel more like community spaces as people have 
interacting more. Now, more than ever, people understand the urgent need to 
improve streets in their local neighbourhoods and town centres to support better 
health, wellbeing and economic vitality.   
 

4.2  The Streets for All approach is about working at three levels (1. Spatial Planning; 2. 
Network Planning; and 3. Street Design & Management) to ensure that Greater 
Manchester’s roads can transition to Streets for All. 

 
4.3  Central to the approach is reducing the distances people need to travel to reach 

everyday destinations such as work, healthcare, education, green spaces and 
leisure facilities. Shorter distances mean more trips that can easily be walked or 
cycled, and new developments can be designed to be easy and safe to access 
when walking, cycling and using public transport. The 15-minute neighbourhood 

Page 38



 

 

concept, whereby in urban areas residents can meet most of their needs within a 
short walk, cycle or public transport journey, is an example of this. 

 
4.4  Our streets have a variety of different functions and a key objective of ‘Streets for 

All’ is to ensure the right movement is happening on the right kind of street. The 
strategy identifies five different street types, based on their role for moving vehicles 
vs. place-making. Some streets are ‘Destination Places’ or ‘Active 
Neighbourhoods’; which should be designed for limited levels of slow-moving 
through traffic – we need to make sure these kinds of streets are pleasant places to 
live and spend time in, where it is easy to access local facilities on foot or by cycle.  
Our ‘High Streets’ should be well served by public transport and active travel, as 
well has having good provision for access and servicing. 

 
4.5  As well as moving general traffic, it is also important that ‘Connector Roads’ are 

designed to give good priority to buses so that they offer a reliable and attractive 
service for bus users (and with good walking provision, so that bus passengers can 
access them safely on foot). Connector Roads are also important for service and 
delivery vehicles accessing our city and town centres. ‘Motorways and Strategic 
Roads’ should be carrying larger vehicles on longer journeys to ensure that the 
impacts of motorised traffic on local streets are minimised.  
 

 
 
4.6  A major benefit of this Streets for All approach is that it avoids pitting different  

transport users against one another (e.g., drivers vs. cyclists; bus users vs.  
pedestrians) and instead starts with a consideration of all people and places and  
then considers what sorts of movement need to be facilitated within a broad  
corridor or across a local area. It also helps us to take a more strategic and  
integrated view of the transport networks we are delivering (whether that is walking 
and cycling networks as set out in ‘Change a Region to Change a Nation’; bus 
networks with more detail to be provided in our forthcoming Bus Service 

Page 39



 

 

Improvement Plan; or networks for moving freight and general traffic) and makes 
sure we provide the right quality and capacity of transport and infrastructure to meet 
that need. It also doesn’t require ring-fenced funding pots for different transport 
modes: for example, within a single Streets for All scheme, we can design the right 
facilities for public realm, walking and cycling, buses and general traffic.   

 
4.7  We are piloting elements of the Streets for All approach through a number of  

transport projects as we believe that these will make things better for people 
travelling in our local neighbourhoods, towns and cities. Other key actions we will 
undertake to create Streets for All include:  
 

o Developing Traffic Reduction Plans as part of refreshed Local 
Implementation Plans; 

 
o Preparing and adopting a Road Danger Reduction Plan for Greater 

Manchester; 
 

o Developing a Greater Manchester Streets for All Design Guide; 
 

o Progressing and delivering Streets for All redesign projects as part of our 
capital investment programme outlined in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery 
Plan (2021-26); 

 
o Building 500 miles of new Active Travel networks by 2024, working with local 

communities to make sure we are putting them in the right places; and 
 

o Designing our streets to support Quality Bus Transit services that make 
public transport a safe and attractive travel option, through bus priority, 
improved waiting facilities and better access to bus stops, as part of our Bus 
Service Improvement Plan. 

 
4.8 As outlined above, we are clear about the need to review and report progress on 

these different elements of Streets for All, as we aim to deliver our overall transport 
vision for the people of Greater Manchester. We commit to keeping the Streets for 
All strategy and policies under regular review to ensure they meet the needs of the 
people of Greater Manchester. 

 
Simon Warburton 
Transport Strategy Director, TfGM 

 

Page 40



Streets for All  

1 
 

  
 

 

  

Page 41



Streets for All  

2 
 

Table of Contents 

Table of Contents.............................................................................................................. 2 

1. Introduction .............................................................................................................. 5 

2. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 ............................................................ 7 

3. Streets in Greater Manchester – our new approach ................................................. 16 

Street types ......................................................................................................................... 16 

Examples of different street types ...................................................................................... 17 

Our three levels of delivery ................................................................................................. 21 

Level 1 – Spatial planning .................................................................................................... 21 

Level 2 – Network planning ................................................................................................. 23 

Level 3 – Street design and management ........................................................................... 24 

4. The Streets for All Essentials .................................................................................... 26 

Green and vibrant streets that are welcoming places to spend time in ............................ 27 

Healthy, green streets ......................................................................................................... 27 

Economically active places .................................................................................................. 28 

Streets and spaces that are safe ......................................................................................... 28 

An attractive and inclusive walking environment ............................................................ 29 

Walking is the natural choice for everyday journeys .......................................................... 29 

Streets are welcoming places for everyone to walk ........................................................... 30 

There is space on our pavements for everyone to walk in comfort ................................... 30 

A safe and connected cycling experience ......................................................................... 32 

People can reach everyday destinations easily and safely by cycle ................................... 32 

People feel valued when they are cycling ........................................................................... 32 

Cycling is widely considered to be a safe and secure travel option ................................... 32 

A reliable, integrated, and accessible public transport network ....................................... 34 

Buses turn up and arrive at their destinations on time ...................................................... 34 

Major centres are connected by ’Quality Bus Transit’ services .......................................... 35 

It will be easier to reach public transport by walking and cycling ...................................... 35 

Taking the bus is a safe and attractive option .................................................................... 36 

Goods reach their destination on time with minimal impacts on local communities ........ 37 

Reliable freight routes are clearly defined .......................................................................... 37 

The negative impacts of freight movement, deliveries and servicing on local communities 
are minimised ...................................................................................................................... 37 

Page 42



Streets for All  

3 
 

Streets that enable people to drive less .......................................................................... 38 

Giving more space to the most efficient and sustainable modes of transport .................. 38 

Reducing levels of traffic on our roads ............................................................................... 38 

Making productive use of kerb space ................................................................................. 39 

Fewer trips are being made during the busiest times ........................................................ 39 

A future-proofed street network ..................................................................................... 40 

Good design makes maintenance easier ............................................................................ 40 

New mobility technologies help us to create safe, sustainable streets which make better 
use of existing street space ................................................................................................. 40 

5. Our new ways of working ........................................................................................ 43 

Investing in Streets for All - funding ................................................................................. 45 

Appendix A: Streets for All essentials and street type requirements ................................. 46 

Appendix B: (Interim) Street user level of service .............................................................. 56 

Appendix C: Measuring success .......................................................................................... 65 

Appendix D: Summary of actions ........................................................................................ 69 

 

  

Page 43



Streets for All  

4 
 

  

Page 44



Streets for All  

5 
 

 

Our Streets for All vision: 

We will ensure that our streets are welcoming, green, and 
safe spaces for all people, enabling more travel by walking, 
cycling and using public transport while creating thriving 
places that support local communities and businesses. 

(Policy 20 – Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040)  

 

1. Introduction 

Greater Manchester’s streets make up the majority of our public space. We use them not 

only for travel, but for living, learning, working, relaxing, playing, socialising and exercising 

in. In the past, our streets were not always designed with people in mind. Instead, there was 

a focus on planning streets for high volumes of motorised vehicles. As in many places across 

the UK, people in Greater Manchester now live with the legacy of decisions that have not 

put people first, and that have led to a high dependence on cars for day-to-day travel.  

This legacy means we - Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) and Greater 

Manchester’s 10 local authorities and Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) - need to 

make sure our roads are safer for everyone using them; that they support people to 

incorporate physical activity (such as walking and cycling) into their daily lives and that they 

help to improve the air we breathe. It also means we need to address the problems of major 

roads dividing communities, parents worried about how to keep their children safe and 

active and increased isolation for older people, those with mobility impairments and people 

without access to a car.  

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought the quality of our streets into sharp focus. Residents 

are spending more time in their local areas and high streets, and recognise the value of 

having safe places to walk and cycle and to spend time in. Our residential streets have 

started to feel more like community spaces. Now, more than ever, people understand the 

urgent need to improve streets in their local neighbourhoods and town centres to support 

better health, wellbeing and that so local businesses can benefit from an increase in 

customers. 

We also need to improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions. Our commitment to 

introduce a Greater Manchester-wide Clean Air Zone will help us bring harmful nitrogen 

dioxide air pollution on local roads within legal limits as soon as possible by encouraging 

owners of certain vehicles to upgrade to cleaner vehicles – or be liable to pay a daily charge.  

Page 45



Streets for All  

6 
 

Greater Manchester aims to be carbon-neutral by 2038. As road transport generates nearly 

a third of all carbon emissions, we need to see significant changes in the ways people travel 

over the coming years. This will require a rapid move to cleaner vehicles, a significant 

reduction in travel by private motor vehicles and a radical change in how people, goods and 

services move into and around our city-region. We also need to make sure our infrastructure 

is designed to withstand the effects of climate change. 

For us to achieve all of these important ambitions, Greater Manchester needs a more 

integrated, affordable and accessible transport network for all people. One key aim of the 

Bee Network (the name of Greater Manchester’s entire transport network) is to make it 

much easier to get around on pavements and footways – including for people with sensory 

impairments, wheelchair and mobility scooter users, and those pushing prams – and to 

encourage more people to cycle, with streets which are more pleasant to spend time in.  We 

also want to ensure that buses are an attractive alternative to the car for far more people. 

The purpose of this Streets for All Strategy is to set out Greater Manchester’s progressive 

approach to making our streets easier for all to get around by putting people first as we 

shape and manage our transport network. 

Whilst most people will agree with this ambition, we need to take some tough decisions 

which challenge the status quo. We have a finite amount of road space to allocate to 

different uses and, in certain streets, some of that space will need to be taken away from 

cars to provide more safe space for sustainable modes of transport, such as walking, cycling 

and buses.  We need to make these decisions through working closely with local 

communities and road users, and with the support of political leaders to deliver the Streets 

for All vision locally.  

Achieving our vision for Streets for All will not happen overnight. The ability of Greater 

Manchester’s local authorities to improve all our streets is constrained by issues such as 

funding, which is frequently out of their control. Over time, however, we will progressively 

improve streets across our city-region in line with the vision and principles in this Strategy. 

This Streets for All Strategy will be supported by other more detailed plans, focusing on 

issues including traffic and road danger reduction, bus service improvements, local cycling 

and walking improvements and electric vehicle charging infrastructure requirements, to help 

manage the transition to cleaner, greener and more inclusive travel across Greater 

Manchester. 

We do not expect our Streets for All vision to change substantially over time, but we will 

need to evolve our approach as we work with local communities to implement it in different 

areas across Greater Manchester. Therefore, we will review and, if appropriate, refresh the 

Streets for All Strategy and supporting design guidance one year after publishing, to make 

sure we are staying on track to achieve our goal of creating streets that are welcoming, 

green, and safe spaces for people. This will allow the Streets for All approach to be tested 

and adapted for local conditions and for any appropriate public consultations by Greater 

Manchester local authorities.  

Page 46



Streets for All  

7 
 

2. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 

The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 aims to make sure that people who live, 

work, visit and do business in Greater Manchester benefit from world-class connections 

that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all. 

The four key elements of this transport vision are: 

 

As we work towards this vision, we consider seven mutually reinforcing network principles 

which we will apply consistently to meet the needs of all people who use our streets:  

 

• Integrated – allowing people to move seamlessly between services and modes of 

transport on our streets; 

• Inclusive – designing and maintaining accessible and comfortable streets for people of 

all ages and abilities; 

• Healthy – promoting walking and cycling to improve levels of physical activity; 

Page 47



Streets for All  

8 
 

• Environmentally responsible – reducing emissions, creating and sustaining better 

places for nature and achieving Greater Manchester’s commitment to be a carbon-

neutral city-region by 2038; 

• Reliable – giving people - and those moving goods and providing services - confidence 

in their journey times;  

• Safe and secure – making sure people are safe, and feel safe, day and night; 

• Well-maintained and resilient – ensuring our streets and urban public spaces are 

designed and maintained to a high standard, and can withstand unexpected events 

and weather conditions.  

Our ‘Right Mix’ vision is at the heart of our plans 

This means achieving the ‘right mix’ of transport types – public transport, walking, cycling, 

car and others – on Greater Manchester’s transport network. We aim to improve our 

transport system so that we can reduce car use from 61% to 50% of daily trips (or less) with 

the remaining 50% made by public transport, walking and cycling. This will mean one million 

more trips each day being made by active travel and on public transport in Greater 

Manchester by 2040.  

Figure 1: Right Mix targets by journey type (Spatial Theme)  

  

Further details are set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy, our Five Year 

Transport Delivery Plan and a ‘Right Mix’ Technical Note which can be found on TfGM’s 

website.  

We expect that some journeys will continue to be made by car, but if we want more people 

to spend more time on our streets - travelling sustainably, safely and easily - we need to 

champion a people-centred approach to the decisions we make about how our streets are 

designed and managed. 

Through Streets for All we will see progress towards the Right Mix, particularly for 

‘Neighbourhood’ and ‘Regional Centre’ trips. By ‘Regional Centre’ we mean Manchester city 

centre and adjacent areas (Salford Quays to the west, the Oxford Road Corridor to the south, 

and the Etihad Campus/Manchester Life area to the east). Figure 1 indicates our ambition 

for more active travel and public transport use for these key types of journey. We will see 

this as we deliver the public transport and cycling and walking infrastructure and services 

Page 48



Streets for All  

9 
 

needed for people to leave their cars at home, and as we support land use changes which 

make it easier for people to access services from where they live. People should have access 

to local services that meet their daily needs within a 15 or 20 minute walk of their front 

door. 

Attitudes to cycling, walking and public transport are also changing across Greater 

Manchester through School Streets projects, for example, which aim to make it easier and 

safer for families to travel to and from school without using a car. This will help us to achieve 

the Right Mix, too.  

Figure 2: Redressing an imbalance 

 

Streets for All sets out how we will move towards our Right Mix vision, recognising that the 

streets of Greater Manchester vary greatly. Each is unique, and many of them change in 

character throughout the day, across the week and along their length. Our role is to nurture 

the distinct characteristics of each street, based on a good understanding of what both local 

communities and people travelling want from different streets, and how we can make them 

more welcoming for all. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



Streets for All  

10 
 

Figure 3: One million more trips each day by active and sustainable modes  

 

National policy developments 

Streets for All is well-aligned with national policy documents. In the ‘Gear Change: A bold 

vision for Cycling and Walking’ report, Government outlines its ambition to create better 

streets for people walking and cycling. In ‘Bus Back Better: National Bus Strategy for England’ 

there is an expectation for all local transport authorities to ‘…commit to significant 

improvements in traffic management, including bus priority measures and active travel 

measures’. In Greater Manchester, we will deliver Bus Reform - which will support Streets 

for All through better integration between buses and the rest of the transport system, and 

by promoting attractive sustainable transport choices - in alignment with Bus Back Better, 

with more detail set out in our local Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP).  

The approach set out in Streets for All will also support our work on reaching net zero 

transport, which is vital to the government’s ‘Decarbonising Transport’ plan, alongside our 

local plans to reduce carbon emissions and improve air quality. 

Why does Greater Manchester need Streets for All? 

Streets for All provides an overarching framework for everything we do on streets in Greater 

Manchester. Achieving our ambition for more travel by walking, cycling and public transport 

will help us to tackle our most pressing economic, environmental and quality of life 

challenges. This includes improving public health, safety and clean air and addressing urgent 

environmental concerns around carbon, climate change, noise pollution and biodiversity. 

Our Streets for All approach is also important when it comes to meeting the travel needs of 

a growing population, supporting our high streets and town and city centres (especially 

during the recovery from COVID-19) and reducing the undesirable impacts of congestion and 

climate change. 

Page 50



Streets for All  

11 
 

Streets for All also helps us to focus on using new technologies and data to gain a better 

understanding of how people travel and to make the best use of transport innovations to 

support the most people-friendly ways to use our streets. 

These challenges and opportunities are for GMCA, the 10 Greater Manchester local 

authorities and TfGM to address, in partnership with residents, businesses, transport 

operators and emergency services, all working together and doing our bit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



Streets for All  

12 
 

Figure 4: Improving quality of life  

 

Page 52



Streets for All  

13 
 

Figure 5: Protecting our environment  
 

  
 
 

Page 53



Streets for All  

14 
 

Figure 6: Supporting sustainable economic growth  
 

  

Page 54



Streets for All  

15 
 

Figure 7: Developing an innovative city region  
 

   

Page 55



Streets for All  

16 
 

3. Streets in Greater Manchester – our new approach 

Streets in Greater Manchester have many different roles and are used by a wide range of 

people. They are places where people live, shop, work, learn, play, eat and drink, use 

medical services or simply spend time. Our streets are also corridors for movement – to 

allow people to walk, cycle, drive and travel by bus or tram to a range of activities – and to 

move goods around. We need to apply a new, more tailored and sensitive approach to meet 

these varied needs. We will develop this approach through careful engagement with local 

communities, businesses and organisations, balancing the need for movement with our 

ambition to create great, people-friendly places. 

Our new approach is in line with the Department for Transport’s proposed revision of the 

Highway Code. Changes will mean that pedestrians are put at the top of a ‘hierarchy of road 

users’, and that those who could do the greatest harm, such as drivers, will have a greater 

level of responsibility to ensure they reduce the danger they can pose to people walking or 

cycling.  

Street types 

In Greater Manchester we have identified five main street types.  

 

Figure 8: Street types  

 

Page 56



Streets for All  

17 
 

Examples of different street types 

Destination places 

The area around Altrincham 

Market in the borough of Trafford 

(pictured) is a fantastic example of 

a ‘Destination place’. People who 

live, work and shop in the area use 

the place to stop, relax and spend 

time together, and there are low 

levels of traffic. In Altrincham, 

public realm, the market and 

increasing food and drink premises 

have been credited with increasing 

footfall by 25% (between 2010 and 2017) supported by better streets, pavements and 

crossing points (Trafford Council). There are many destination places across Greater 

Manchester, of different sizes, including in many of our town and city centre squares. 

Another example of a destination place is the area around Redrock on Bridgefield Street in 

Stockport. A mini-park - called a ‘parklet’ - featuring seating, greenery, cycle parking, an 

interactive sculpture and a table tennis table was created on the street in 2019. After the 

parklet was introduced, the average time spent on Bridgefield Street increased from seven 

to twelve minutes.  

Active neighbourhoods 

‘Active neighbourhoods’, such as 

Currier Lane in Ashton (pictured) 

and Stamford Drive in Stalybridge 

provide pleasant places for people 

of all ages to spend time. They help 

people travel to local amenities 

safely by preventing through-traffic 

using the streets as a shortcut or 

rat run. Access is still maintained to 

homes and businesses by vehicles, although this may be through an alternative route.  

 

Page 57



Streets for All  

18 
 

High streets 

In Farnworth, Brackley 

Street is a ‘high street’ 

on which there is plenty 

of space for people to 

walk, cycle and spend 

time in while shopping 

and using essential 

services. Lighting, 

benches and trees help 

provide a pleasant 

environment in which 

people want to dwell for longer, helping the town centre to prosper. Denton town centre, in 

Tameside, is also home to a thriving high street where a high proportion of trips are made by 

walking. Research (conducted by the Local Data Company for the Financial Times) found that 

it had the sharpest increase in independent businesses of any high street in Britain between 

spring 2020 and 2021.  

Connector roads 

This is an example of a 

Connector road - 

Warrington Road - in 

Wigan. There are fewer 

people here and, 

although the street 

clearly has an important 

role in making sure 

people can reach the 

town centre by walking 

and cycling, it is also an 

important route for bus services and service and delivery vehicles. Broughton Cycleway in 

Salford, which includes 2km of semi-segregated cycleway along Great Clowes Street and 

Blackfriars Road between Broughton and Manchester city centre, is another example of a 

Connector road. Following the opening of that cycleway, numbers of people using it to cycle 

grew significantly. 

Page 58



Streets for All  

19 
 

Motorways and 

strategic roads 

Regent Road on the 

Manchester/Salford 

boundary is an example 

of a strategic road, 

playing a key role for 

drivers on longer 

journeys. Whilst 

strategic roads are 

important for motor 

vehicles, we also need to make sure that people walking and cycling can safely cross them to 

reach other communities and facilities. A further example of this type of road is the A555 

between the A6 in Stockport and Manchester Airport, which bypasses heavily congested 

district and local centres and includes a shared pedestrian and cycle path alongside the road. 

Greater Manchester’s Key Route Network (KRN) consists of 660km of important roads 

linking our main town and city centres and major employment areas and which provide links 

to the motorway network. Whilst much of the KRN would be categorised as connector or 

strategic roads, many of the routes also pass through residential areas or local high streets 

and need to be sensitively designed and managed in these areas to allow people to cross 

them easily and to minimise the negative impacts of traffic. 

In future, each street type will be designed to offer a particular ‘level of service’ for different 

users. Appendix A and B set out the role of each street type for each user group. These more 

detailed aspects will inform design principles and will guide what people can expect to 

experience on our future streets in Greater Manchester.  

Page 59



Streets for All  

20 
 

Map 1 – Current street types on the Key Route Network 

 

Map 2 – Street types in Bolton town centre 

 

Page 60



Streets for All  

21 
 

Maps 1 and 2 show a classification of the Key Route Network and Bolton town centre. We 

will use the street typologies framework (see Figure 8) to support shaping the future role of 

streets across Greater Manchester. This will help us to: 

• Assess the extent to which a street or network of streets meet the Streets for All 

Essentials criteria (as set out later in this section) and so work well for everyone using 

them, as streets and areas change. 

• Highlight where there is a mismatch between a street type people using it that is 

limiting a street or area from realising its potential.  

• Set priorities for different streets and road networks and support decisions on 

balancing the requirements of different street users. 

Our three levels of delivery  

Traditionally, the way streets have been designed and managed has focused on increasing 

the ease and speed of motorised vehicles passing through them. This is appropriate for the 

small number of roads where people don’t live, shop, work or need to walk, cycle or spend 

time. On most streets, however, this approach can lead to them becoming unhealthy, unsafe 

and unwelcoming for people. 

Most streets in Greater Manchester have many different roles and are used by a wide range 

of people for the different activities we have described above. So we need to work 

differently to meet these needs, developed through careful engagement with local 

communities, businesses and other people who use the streets. 

This is not simply a collection of street redesign projects. Our new approach is about working 

at three levels to ensure that Greater Manchester’s streets are, and feel like, Streets for All. 

 

Level 1 – Spatial planning 

Carefully considering the location and design of new building developments is important. It 

gives the chance to look at reducing the distances people need to travel to work, healthcare, 

education, green spaces and leisure facilities by locating these conveniently closer to where 

people live or in accessible town and city centre locations. Shorter distances mean that more 

1. Spatial planning

2. Network planning

3. Street design and management

Page 61



Streets for All  

22 
 

trips can easily be walked or cycled, and new developments can be designed to be easy and 

safe to access through active travel and public transport.  

The 15-minute/20-minute neighbourhood 

concept – where people can access 

services that meet their daily needs (such 

as school, a GP surgery and a station or 

other public transport stop) within a 15 or 

20 minute walk from home – is the sort of 

approach we are trying to implement in 

Greater Manchester for people of all ages 

and abilities.  

Owning a car is the most important 

influence on whether people choose to 

walk, cycle or use public transport. When 

it comes to trips that are just 1km in 

length, 30% are made by car. Of trips 

between 1 and 2km, 62% are made by 

car. There is huge potential to switch 

many of these short trips to walking and 

cycling. How we plan and design our city-region can hugely affect people’s decisions as to 

whether they need to own a car. 

In our city-region, the emerging Places for Everyone plan (and related updates to Local 

Plans) will focus on sustainable sites and priority development locations and provides an 

opportunity to prioritise walking, cycling and public transport over private vehicle use in the 

design of developments. The significant growth in Greater Manchester means we will need 

to move people more efficiently to ensure our city-region continues to function, supporting 

economic growth and improving quality of life and the environment. Planning a future that 

supports our Right Mix vision will enable us to achieve this. All Greater Manchester local 

authorities will be encouraged to incorporate the Streets for All essentials into Local Plans 

where they are being reviewed. 

It is important that developers create safe and attractive cycle and walking routes through 

their sites and to key local destinations such as public transport hubs. They will need to 

consider access to public transport when designing new developments, for example by 

ensuring direct access to bus stops and making it easy for buses to pass through the 

development.  

We will also work with developers to ensure that while new buildings are being constructed, 

safe and direct cycle and walking routes are maintained around the site.  

In addition, at employment locations and other major destinations, facilities to support 

walking and cycling – such as showers, lockers, secure, covered cycle parking and changing 

facilities – should be provided. Employers should also promote alternatives to private car 

As illustrated above, ‘Plan Melbourne’ sets out a 

similar concept for ‘living locally’ in that city.  

(Department of Environment, Land, Water and 

Planning, Victorian Government, 2017).  

Page 62



Streets for All  

23 
 

ownership by developing travel plans which support the use of active travel and public 

transport, and opportunities for car sharing, for example.  

Actions 

To ensure that new developments are meeting our new standards we will: 

• Promote the 15/20 minute neighbourhood concept in our work on spatial and transport 

plans. 

• Produce a Streets for All development check to be included in future transport 

assessments. 

• Incorporate the seven Streets for All Essentials in local authority Local Plans, where they 

are being reviewed. 

• Update the Transport for Sustainable Communities Guidance to include Streets for All 

requirements and national policy such as Gear Change, Bus Back Better and the latest 

Manual for Streets guidance. 

Level 2 – Network planning 

To enable people and goods to move around Greater Manchester sustainably and efficiently, 

each street needs to perform its role in the broader transport network. To plan this network 

and resolve competing demands for street space on key routes we will use network plans to 

shape proposals for individual projects. 

The aim network planning is to make sure people travel on the most appropriate streets and 

to create a logical and useful road network for different types of journeys. For example, the 

M60 and other motorways in Greater Manchester should be carrying larger vehicles on 

longer journeys to minimise the effects of motorised traffic on local streets. Similarly, we are 

planning and building the UK’s largest cycling and walking network, which will run along 

different sorts of streets. 

We will use network planning not just to help us to design changes in specific locations, but 

to manage how new street design results in people moving differently around areas. For 

example, we may need to provide priority on a corridor for buses (which make much more 

efficient use of limited road space) but that may result in less space for general traffic. In 

other situations, it may make sense to build a segregated cycle lane on a parallel route away 

from major roads. 

We will work with National Highways, and traffic information companies, to make sure that 

technology is used to direct different users to the most appropriate roads and routes. This 

means that when people are driving, they will be encouraged to use the Key Route Network 

and motorways for the main part of their journey rather than local streets. 

We will also continue to work with National Highways and utility companies to manage 

planned and unplanned events and ensure that, when required, diversion routes are 

Page 63



Streets for All  

24 
 

identified. As part of this, it is vitally important for us to develop a coherent bus network 

with the right levels of priority given to buses over general traffic on key corridors.   

Actions 

To ensure individual transport projects come together to support our planned networks, and 

our long-term Right Mix ambitions, we will: 

• Review and update the Highway protocols to reflect changes in roles and responsibilities, 

and continue to review the priority routes for public transport, active travel, freight and 

general traffic across Greater Manchester (aligned with the Right Mix mode share target 

and future Road Danger Reduction Action Plan). 

• Through investment projects, identify alternate suitable routes or mitigation plans for 

key points on the network where there are competing pressures for priority from 

different modes of transport. 

• Within the design process for specific streets or corridors, agree what level of motorised 

traffic will be accommodated and how to manage traffic across the area to achieve 

overall traffic reduction. 

Level 3 – Street design and management 

Having considered accessibility to local services and the need for new developments to be 

integrated with public transport and active travel planning, and the role of a street in the 

network for different modes of travel, we can then go on to look at the unique local context. 

This will help us identify how we can make a street healthier, safer and more welcoming for 

everyone. 

There are more than 9,000km of local streets in Greater Manchester. These streets will not 

change overnight: the Streets for All approach will be a well-planned process with proper 

consultation and investment to support a long-term change. It will take time for everyone to 

start to feel the benefits of our Streets for All approach. A key measure of success will be 

people seeing and experiencing positive change to the streets they regularly use. Our Five-

Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026) sets out the first projects where this approach is 

being implemented, how they are being funded and further requests to government to 

support delivery. 

We will also be looking into running trials for certain street improvement schemes. This can 

help make changes more quickly and ensure a planned, more permanent scheme is right for 

the street. Trials should mean we can avoid using additional money and resources modifying 

a scheme that does not work as anticipated. 

  

Page 64



Streets for All  

25 
 

 

Actions 

To achieve this new objective of prioritising people in street design we will: 

• Ensure that the process for designing projects which affect our streets includes 

engagement with local communities and stakeholders at an early stage, so that their 

views can be considered when developing designs. For example, when developing 

proposals for Active neighbourhoods, we will continue to work collaboratively with 

people who live locally from the planning stage through to construction, asking them for 

feedback on location and type of measures. 

• Develop a Streets for All design guide for Greater Manchester. In the interim, refer to 

design guidance produced by the National Association of City Transportation Officials 

(NACTO) as a ‘best practice’ guide. 

• Undertake the Streets for All design check for every place we are proposing a new 

project. 

• Develop a new process for reviewing project specifications at key stages to ensure each 

project is fully aligned with Streets for All. 

  

Page 65



Streets for All  

26 
 

4. The Streets for All Essentials  

Our Streets for All essentials relate to the challenges and ambitions set out earlier in this 

document. They are for us to deliver in partnership with residents, businesses, transport 

operators, the NHS and emergency services - all working together and doing our bit. 

 

Our Streets for All Essentials are our priorities and our promise. 

Page 66



Streets for All  

27 
 

Green and vibrant streets that are welcoming places to 
spend time in 

We will adopt a people-centred approach to street design. This means more opportunities 

for people to sit, relax, play and socialise; more plants and trees and less traffic dominated 

streets. To do this we will create:  

Healthy, green streets 

We will create streets where all people feel welcome, relaxed and safe. Our streets will 

provide regular opportunities to stop and rest.  They will provide clean environments where 

there are things to see and do.  And they will offer plenty of shade and shelter, to make sure 

that all people can use the streets, whatever the weather.  

We want to ensure that streets are welcoming to all people, regardless of their age. Our 

Streets for All approach supports the creation of play areas and more residential streets that 

are safe for children to play in.  

By increasing tree planting on streets, where appropriate, we will make the environment 

more pleasant to encourage more people to walk and cycle as part of their daily routine and 

to spend more time outdoors. This will also help Greater Manchester to adapt to climate 

change as trees remove harmful air pollutants, produce oxygen, help to keep the 

environment cooler in hot weather and help to reduce localised flooding and water 

pollution. Trees also provide important wildlife habitats. 

Finally, we will create streets that are resilient to future climate change impacts by 

implementing green Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) in Streets for All proposals, 

helping to reduce the current and future risk of flooding in a sustainable and cost-effective 

way. We will take a collaborative, coordinated and integrated approach to renewing Greater 

Manchester’s surface water drainage systems while implementing travel improvements. This 

will help bring wider benefits for people and for biodiversity such as cleaner air, improved 

water quality, reductions in flood risk and reduced risk of overheating. 

Page 67



Streets for All  

28 
 

Economically active places 

Our Streets for All approach will create more economically vibrant places by giving more 

chances for people to meet and spend time on streets.  As we make street improvements, 

we will work with local businesses, such as shops, cafes and restaurants to make their 

frontages more attractive. The importance of providing attractive street environments has 

come into even sharper focus during the COVID-19 pandemic, with more space being given 

to people to allow them to move around and socialise more safely on streets and in local 

centres. 

Streets and spaces that are safe 

Women, and people from identifiable minority groups, are more likely to feel unsafe when 

walking and cycling than other groups due to personal security concerns. This is 

unacceptable. Everyone should feel safe, on all of our streets, whether it is during the day or 

after dark. Improving personal security, and people’s perceptions of it, are really important 

elements of our Streets for All approach. We must make sure that the way streets are 

designed and work help people feel safe enough to choose walking, cycling or public 

transport, rather than thinking that they have to travel by car for personal security reasons. 

Maintenance and upkeep of local areas also decreases crime and the fear of crime. 

To achieve our ambition of Streets for All, we also need to tackle the 

dangers that result in road collisions – costing lives and causing serious 

injuries - and that these dangers discourage cycling and walking. Reducing 

road danger is a fundamental requirement for delivering Streets for All, and 

part of our focus is on maintaining and introducing measures that 

encourage vehicles to be driven safely, at safe speeds which – in turn – 

make cycling and walking safer for everyone, and streets more welcoming 

places to spend time. 

In addition, we need to ensure that people with disabilities can enjoy the opportunities and 

facilities offered on our streets. Alongside the provision of seating, we know that ramps, 

accessible toilets, clear signage, tactile paving and keeping streets in a good state of repair 

are just some of the things that can make sure no one is excluded from spending time in our 

public spaces. 

  

Page 68



Streets for All  

29 
 

An attractive and inclusive walking environment 

Greater Manchester will sign the International Charter for Walking. This globally recognised 

Charter is designed to help authorities, organisations and neighbourhood groups focus 

policies and activities on creating a culture where people choose to walk. 

To achieve the Charter pledges, we are delivering the Bee Network which will create an 

environment where: 

Walking is the natural choice for everyday journeys 

Walking should be considered the most obvious way to make short, local trips. For many 

people, this is already the case. 

In this document, the terms ‘walking’ and ‘pedestrian’ cover not only people walking, but 

also those using streets and spaces in a variety of other ways (in addition to spending time 

in), such as for rest and play. These include: 

• People using wheelchairs, including electric wheelchairs and mobility scooters; 

• People with sensory impairments, such as blind, partially sighted or deaf pedestrians 

who may experience using streets quite differently; and 

• People pushing prams, buggies and double buggies. 

 

We want to allow even more people see walking as the natural choice for everyday travel. 

To do this, we will focus on continuous, high-quality walking routes that link people’s homes 

with shops, places of work and education, healthcare, public transport facilities and leisure, 

including connections to valued and well-maintained public rights of way. We will do this 

through engagement with local people to help remove barriers to walking. This means that 

we will make it easier, quicker and more direct to walk for short trips than to drive them. We 

will prioritise the needs of people who currently find it hardest to get around by walking and 

cycling because of mobility impairments. 

Page 69



Streets for All  

30 
 

We will make sure that crossing busy streets is as direct and safe as possible. Sometimes this 

will mean that vehicles must slow down, or wait, while people cross. People will understand 

and have confidence that they have priority when crossing side streets and, when people are 

driving, they will understand that they must let people who are walking go first. This is why 

we are trialling side road / implied zebra crossings to understand how better road markings 

might improve priority and safety for pedestrians. 

Many possible future road crossing points were identified through the cycling and walking 

Bee Network mapping process (undertaken in 2018 and 2019). A delivery programme is in 

place and TfGM is leading on this project, in close collaboration with Greater Manchester’s 

Urban Traffic Control (UTC) team and the ten Greater Manchester councils. We will gradually 

increase the rate of delivery to support the creation of the UK’s largest cycling and walking 

network by 2030. 

Streets are welcoming places for everyone to walk 

Some people do not walk when making short, local trips, because routes are not well 

designed with the amenities they need, such as seating, shelter, safe places to cross the road 

or lighting. Sometimes these amenities are not well maintained, or do not include features 

that mean everyone can use them (for example, dropped kerbs at crossing points). We need 

to make sure that our streets can be used by people of all ages and mobility levels. 

We will work with local communities to make sure that there are regular changes for people 

to stop and rest along the way in suitable, convenient locations, and we will fix locations 

where there is no step-free access. 

We will look at lowering speed limits in particular in neighbourhoods and local town and 

village centres and make changes so it is clear to drivers what the appropriate speed is. We 

will seek to upgrade safety cameras and we will work with Greater Manchester Police (GMP) 

to expand community speed watch to raise awareness of the impacts of speeding on local 

communities, so more people drive within the speed limit. 

There is space on our pavements for everyone to walk in comfort 

Pavements need to be wide enough so everyone feels comfortable when walking along 

them. This should be the case whether people are walking alone, in a group, or if they are 

walking quickly or slowly. 

We will increase dedicated space for walking on Greater Manchester’s streets. This includes 

tackling pavement parking, decluttering the streets, removing unnecessary and obstructive 

signage (including advertising), repositioning street furniture and widening pavements 

where this is needed and feasible. 

Page 70



Streets for All  

31 
 

Pavement parking is a problem across the country, not just in Greater Manchester. Blocking 

or reducing the width of the pavement can limit people’s ability to walk, particularly for 

young families and those with disabilities. To achieve the ‘double buggy test’ outlined in 

Made to Move – Greater Manchester’s 15-step plan to transform how we get around – we 

recommend that stronger action is taken in response to people parking on the pavement. 

 

  

Greater Manchester’s Active Travel Interim Design Guide states that a 2m width, 

leaving enough space for a parent pushing a double buggy on pavements, is required 

for Bee Network schemes. This could also be someone who is partially sighted or in a 

wheelchair. We will work with residents, businesses, and visitors to understand where 

there are specific problems with implementing the guidance and we will tackle them 

together. 

Page 71



Streets for All  

32 
 

A safe and connected cycling experience 

More people are cycling on streets in Greater Manchester and we want this to continue. We 

will create an environment where:  

People can reach everyday destinations easily and safely by cycle 

Our ambition is for cycling to be a safe, convenient, and attractive option for people making 

everyday trips in Greater Manchester. As part of the Bee Network proposals for a 

continuous, high-quality network for walking and cycling that connects all of the 

communities in Greater Manchester, we will work with local people to ensure that proposed 

improvements meet their needs. 

People feel valued when they are cycling  

In Greater Manchester, all cycle infrastructure will be built and maintained to a consistently 

high standard. This will include protected space for cycling where it is needed and practical; 

the use of easy-to-maintain, high quality materials; easy-to-understand signs; and secure 

and convenient places to park bikes quickly and easily. We will work with communities, 

businesses and visitors to decide where to build cycle routes and cycle parking. 

Cycling is widely considered to be a safe and secure travel option 

We will ensure that cycle routes are designed so that a 12-year-old would choose to use 

them, as set out in the Made to Move. That 12-year-old also represents an older person, or 

someone who has not cycled since childhood. 

When people are cycling they will feel that they have enough safe space to move in, 

including disabled people of all ages and abilities, and people travelling in groups. The Bee 

Network will include new fully protected cycle lanes on streets with large numbers of faster-

moving motorised vehicles; increased priority and protection at junctions; and well-

maintained, well-lit streets so people feel safe cycling at all times of the day and night. 

We will work with professional drivers to raise and maintain high standards of safe driving 

with a particular focus on how to drive in a way that helps people who are cycling already, or 

who want to cycle, to feel safe. 

We will focus our education and enforcement on tackling road traffic offences and 

behaviour which make people who are cycling or walking feel unsafe. As previously 

mentioned, we will explore opportunities to lower speed limits, particularly in 

neighbourhoods and local town and village centres. We will seek to upgrade safety cameras 

to increase compliance of people driving within the speed limit. 

TfGM will also continue to run cycle skills training and maintenance sessions for beginners 

and experienced cyclists to help people feel more confident on Greater Manchester’s roads. 

Page 72



Streets for All  

33 
 

Finally, incorporating Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) and other climate 

resilience features in designs can help to ensure cycle routes remain safe to use, despite the 

changing climate. 

  

Page 73



Streets for All  

34 
 

A reliable, integrated, and accessible public transport 
network 

We will improve the experience of using public transport so that it is seen as an attractive 

alternative to the car for longer journeys. This is ambitious but achievable. People who live 

in Greater Manchester are already using public transport – especially the bus, which 

accounts for approximately 75% of public transport trips made in Greater Manchester. 

In March 2021, the Mayor of Greater Manchester announced his decision to bring buses 

under local control. In future (and subject to the outcome of two judicial review claims 

which were brought to challenge that decision) buses will be run under a system called 

franchising: TfGM (on behalf of GMCA) will coordinate the bus network and contract bus 

companies to run the services to a specification that Greater Manchester needs. This is good 

news for our Streets for All approach. It means:  

• Better integration between buses and the rest of the transport system. This will mean 

passengers can change more easily between buses, trams and trains – or buses and 

cycling or walking – and there will be simple, affordable price-capped tickets. Making 

journeys sustainably will be quicker, easier and cheaper.  

• Environmental standards for a green bus fleet can be set by Greater Manchester. This 

will help us to meet our targets to tackle the Climate Emergency, reduce harmful 

emissions and clean up our air. 

The government has also published a National Bus Strategy which emphasises the 

importance of bus priority measures and traffic management, and integration between bus 

and other modes of transport. There is also a requirement to publish a local Bus Service 

Improvement Plan (BSIP), to be updated annually and reflected in local authorities’ local 

transport plans and in other relevant local plans, such as local cycling and walking 

infrastructure plans. Further details about how we will improve local bus services will be set 

out in Greater Manchester’s Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP): our  

We will improve our streets to support more people travelling by bus so that: 

Buses turn up and arrive at their destinations on time 

Bus services will be given more priority where it’s needed, through bus lanes and the use of 

technology that gives priority to late-running buses at traffic signals. This will mean buses 

are less likely to be delayed, making bus journeys quicker and more reliable than driving in 

many areas. Local buses use street space very efficiently, freeing up space for creating 

attractive urban places. However, in many places, space is not used well for parking vehicles. 

A good understanding of how on-street parking is being used in different locations and what 

benefit it brings to people is important. Difficult decisions will need to be made, in some 

cases, in order to relocate road space to deliver these improvements.  

Page 74



Streets for All  

35 
 

Major centres are connected by ’Quality Bus Transit’ services  

Our ambition is to upgrade entire bus routes, with a focus on creating more reliable journeys 

creating ‘Quality Bus Transit’ (QBT) connections between our main town and city centres, 

including for orbital journeys around Greater Manchester. QBT will be focused on heavily 

congested routes into major town centres, and the regional centre, where improving the 

reliability of bus journeys is particularly important. 

A good example of the sort of bus infrastructure that is being proposed for new QBT services 

is the Oxford Road corridor in Manchester. 

 

QBT will include upgrading walking and cycling infrastructure where possible, and provide 

improved street furniture and landscaping. It will incorporate bus priority measures to make 

service more reliable, attractive places to wait for services and high-quality, comfortable 

buses. 

It will be easier to reach public transport by walking and cycling 

Bus stops, Metrolink stops, suburban rail stations and transport interchanges will be easier 

to reach by walking and cycling, including for people who have mobility impairments, are 

travelling in groups or are handling a buggy or heavy luggage. 

Park and ride facilities will be developed into travel hubs that support people cycling as part 

of longer journeys, for example by providing secure cycle storage at stops and stations, in 

addition to other facilities, such as electric vehicle charging infrastructure and parcel lockers. 

Page 75



Streets for All  

36 
 

Taking the bus is a safe and attractive option 

Buses will run on streets which are attractive, clean and safe to wait on. Bus stops and 

interchanges will be designed to be comfortable, attractive, safe and accessible, particularly 

for those who use mobility aids, who are in wheelchairs or pushing prams, and buses will be 

modern, clean and well-maintained to ensure journeys are pleasant and reliable.  

We will work with communities, businesses and visitors to help shape the plans of the future 

bus network so people can make the journeys they need to. 

Information on services, fares and ticketing will be provided to customers in a way that is 

easy to access and understand. 

 
  

Page 76



Streets for All  

37 
 

Goods reach their destination on time with minimal impacts 
on local communities 

We will ensure that: 

Reliable freight routes are clearly defined 

We will identify which streets and routes will be prioritised for carrying freight vehicles and 

we will implement plans to manage those vehicle movements. We will support the transfer 

of freight from road to rail and water wherever possible. 

The negative impacts of freight movement, deliveries and servicing on local 
communities are minimised 

Deliveries and servicing can often be managed more efficiently to reduce the number of 

vehicles on local streets, especially at peak times. We will do this by supporting the 

consolidation of goods for delivery at a location close to the final destinations (micro-

consolidation) and making changes in procurement practices which will result in fewer 

vehicles, especially at peak times, in city and town centres (operational consolidation). We 

will also promote and encourage: the re-timing of deliveries to off-peak hours; better 

managing loading and unloading on busy streets and increasing the number of businesses 

using cleaner, quieter, smaller vehicles for deliveries such as electric assisted cargo cycles 

and electric vans. 

TfGM will work with the ten Greater Manchester local authorities and large businesses and 

retailers to develop sustainable delivery and servicing plans that support the ambitions of 

Streets for All. While it is important to maintain the economic benefits of moving freight, we 

need to minimise the need for road freight deliveries to reduce congestion and improve air 

quality. 

Through our partnership working we will reduce the road dangers posed by freight and 

deliveries to people walking, cycling and spending time on the streets through enforcement 

of road traffic offences, engineering, driver training and regulation. 

We will also introduce new policies on night-time deliveries to reduce noise pollution. 

Finally, Greater Manchester’s plans for economic growth, which will include significant 

property development and construction, must not lead to an increase in people being killed 

or injured in collisions with HGVs. We will take action to address this. We will continue to 

encourage our Greater Manchester partner organisations (such as hospitals and universities) 

to become CLOCS (Construction Logistics and Community Safety) and FORS (Fleet Operator 

Recognition Scheme) -accredited, to improve the safety of construction and fleet operations. 

  

Page 77



Streets for All  

38 
 

Streets that enable people to drive less  

We have a large network - over 9,000km - of streets and roads which we need to use as 

efficiently as possible to accommodate the growth in travel that comes with our growing 

population and economy. We can’t ‘build our way out’ of congestion, so we need to make 

better use of the roads we already have. This is even more important as we seek to minimise 

embodied carbon in new infrastructure.  We want to get the best out of what we have, 

which means:  

Giving more space to the most efficient and sustainable modes of transport 

We will need to reallocate some road space currently used for the movement of general 

traffic to make space for the modes of transport which make much more efficient use of the 

available space – particularly walking, cycling and public transport. This will involve making 

difficult and sometimes possibly initially unpopular decisions in exchange for long-term 

benefits. 

Comparison of road space for different travel modes 

 

We will maintain the most direct routes for people walking, cycling and using public 

transport in their neighbourhoods – other motorised vehicle journeys may be less direct, 

particularly where we target rat-running and speeding in local town and village centres and 

residential areas. We will still allow access for residents, and for those vehicles needed for 

essential reasons such as disabled access and emergency services. We will better integrate 

on-street and off-street cycling and walking routes to increase connections for people 

travelling these ways. 

Reducing levels of traffic on our roads 

Our city-region needs to be much easier to get around by walking, cycling and using public 

transport, with streets which are more pleasant to spend time in. Making this a reality this 

will mean reducing traffic on some streets in Greater Manchester. 

Page 78



Streets for All  

39 
 

We are currently developing a Road Danger Reduction Action Plan which will set out our 

approach to creating an environment that encourages walking, cycling and the use of public 

transport, by improving safety through the control and reduction of the speed and the 

number of motorised vehicles on our streets, and the creation of attractive urban spaces 

where people want to walk or cycle. 

Decisions about reallocating road space to reduce levels of traffic on our roads will be made 

through close dialogue with local communities, road users and transport providers to 

support (sometimes difficult) decisions that will need to be taken for the safety of people 

who use Greater Manchester’s streets. 

Making productive use of kerb space 

In consultation with local communities, we will review use of the road space next to the kerb 

to identify ways it can be better used. In many places this space is used inefficiently for the 

long-term parking of vehicles and would better serve the community if it was used for 

walking, cycling, seating, planting, play space, landscaping, bus stops, loading areas or cycle 

parking. 

 

Fewer trips are being made during the busiest times 

There are times of the day when our network of streets and roads struggles to handle the 

number of vehicles trying to travel through it. In addition to supporting people to travel in 

more space-efficient ways, we will continue to work with residents, businesses and road 

freight operators to re-time their journeys to avoid peak times or reduce their journeys.  

  

Page 79



Streets for All  

40 
 

A future-proofed street network 

We will invest more in maintaining and improving our streets and embrace technological 

innovations to ensure: 

Good design makes maintenance easier 

Maintenance, cleaning and enforcement are important to create streets people are happy to 

use and spend time in. When people are travelling in vehicles they have less  exposure to the 

street environment. When people are walking, cycling, waiting for public transport and 

spending time on a street in other ways, they have a much greater sense of how well itis 

being cared for. To improve the walking and cycling experience and to encourage more 

people to travel in these ways more often, we need to get better at getting the details right 

and focusing on people’s experience of being on-street. This is particularly important for 

meeting the needs of people who find travelling more challenging due to age, illness or 

impairment. 

Ongoing planned maintenance can greatly increase the lifecycle and reduce the whole-life 

cost of street infrastructure, whether it is regular street cleaning or replacement of damaged 

road and pavement surfaces and other street elements, and the repair of utilities. We will 

ensure ongoing maintenance costs are accurately reflected in the initial costs of street 

projects. We will also learn from past experiences and share best practice around innovative 

highway maintenance processes and materials. 

New mobility technologies help us to create safe, sustainable streets which 
make better use of existing street space 

Vehicle emissions and noise will be reduced by helping and encouraging a move to electric 

vehicles (EVs). We will expand the publicly owned EV charging network and will focus on 

switching the commercial and public sector fleets, as well as trialling shared forms of electric 

travel, such as electric car clubs, electric cargo bikes and e-scooters. To do this, we will need 

to work in partnership with local stakeholders to better manage the electricity supply to 

meet the needs of an increasingly electrified transport system. 

Advances in data science, artificial intelligence and sensing technology are increasing the 

rate of innovation in driverless or connected and autonomous vehicle (CAV) technology. We 

aim to make sure that when CAVs are eventually used in our city-region, they fit in with 

Greater Manchester’s strategic plans. These include the need to improve safety and 

accessibility standards for everyone who uses our streets. support our environmental goals 

and give the opportunity for people to use shared forms of transport where public transport 

is not an option. 

Alongside these developments, we will improve traffic signals to reduce congestion and 

prioritise walking, cycling and public transport, working with communities, residents and 

visitors to understand their views. We will use smart technology to better manage our street 

Page 80



Streets for All  

41 
 

infrastructure and support good maintenance regimes. We will explore the role that digital 

connectivity – such as 5G – will play in improving traffic signal management capability. As an 

example, Greater Manchester is installing artificial intelligence (AI)-powered Vivacity sensors 

on roads around the city-region to collect real-time data on cycling and walking. These can 

show interactions between people walking and cycling and motor vehicles, and give insights 

on factors such as pathways and speed. 

We will look to make the most of the benefits of shared modes of transport through 

diversifying the use of Park and Ride facilities and introducing travel hubs which will create a 

focal point for cycle hire, e-scooter, e-cargo bikes and e-car clubs, and other shared use 

facilities, such as parcel lockers. Travel hubs can also help create of safe, attractive, 

landscaped areas for socialising, resting and playing. 

We will investigate introducing new policies and ways to management and use the street 

space along the kerbside much more effectively. This will include kerbside space being used 

for a wide range of activities throughout the day. In some places, for example, we can 

increase space for walking and cycling in peak periods while enabling deliveries and servicing 

at other times. Technology has the potential to help manage this space more effectively at 

different times of the day and week through, for example, dynamic digital traffic regulation 

orders. 

We will also work with our partners to develop new ways of using and collecting data, 

including mobile phone data and sensors to provide better real-time information on travel 

patterns, traffic congestion, traffic offences and transport emissions. 

Finally, technology also clearly has an important role to play in helping people with 

disabilities – using apps, for example, to help navigation. This can increase the levels of 

confidence and safety people feel when using our streets. 

 

Page 81



Streets for All  

42 
 

Actions 

• We will progress and deliver Streets for All redesign projects as part of our capital 
investment programme outlined in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-26). 

• We will build 500 miles of new cycling and walking routes by 2024, working with local 
communities to make sure we are putting them in the right places.  

• We will design our streets to deliver Quality Bus Transit services that make public 
transport a safe, convenient and attractive travel option, through bus priority, improved 
waiting facilities and better access to bus stops, as part of our Bus Service Improvement 
Plan. 

• We will develop traffic reduction plans as part of updated Local Implementation Plans. 

• We will produce a Road Danger Reduction Action Plan for Greater Manchester. 

• We will work with businesses and the freight industry to trial innovations in zero-
emission deliveries and servicing. 

• We will develop a shared mobility strategy, setting out the role of mobility hubs in 
enabling seamless integration between more sustainable modes of transport and 
learning from our experience of e-scooter trials. 

 

  

Page 82



Streets for All  

43 
 

5. Our new ways of working 

To systematically incorporate the Streets for All approach in our ways of working we will 

take the following actions over the next three years: 

A more coordinated approach 

We will develop a more coordinated approach to how we design, manage and fund streets, 

with TfGM and Greater Manchester local authorities working in a collaborative way to 

develop and deliver our Streets for All plans. 

We will review our funding arrangements so that we have a more joined-up system for 

deciding what we invest in. This will be challenging, as much of Greater Manchester’s 

funding is dependent on government, but is important r to make sure our projects are 

coordinated and work together to deliver our Streets for All vision. 

Local engagement 

It is really important that the people who are making the decisions about which projects go 

ahead fully understand the views of local people. We will continue and build upon existing 

local authority consultation and engagement processes, and we will develop new ways to 

engage with local communities, businesses and people travelling to make sure they are fully 

involved in decision-making, and to take account of the views of people we don’t always 

hear from, including disabled people. We support a fair process, and we aim to hear 

everyone’s opinions. 

We will continue to lobby central government for the enforcement powers we need to make 

our streets welcoming and more accessible, including the ability to enforce moving traffic 

offences and ‘implied zebra’ crossings – more simple and cheaper zebra crossings on side 

roads without the zig-zag road markings and Belisha beacons currently required. 

When we are delivering a project on-street we will plan how that fits with our wider 

regeneration projects, new developments, behaviour change programmes, enforcement, 

cleaning and maintenance, including ongoing coordination with external stakeholders. 

Governance 

As part of improved local engagement, it is important that the Streets for All approach is 

rolled out in conjunction with, and reflects the priorities of, our key partners. These have 

their own part to play in helping to support the principles and commitments set out in this 

document. They include:  

• The ten Greater Manchester local authorities: as the highways and planning 

authorities, the local authorities are responsible for ensuring that roads are safe and 

usable, for producing local plans and considering all planning applications. They are 

also responsible for neighbourhood planning and leading on the delivery of services 

in their area; 

Page 83



Streets for All  

44 
 

• The Mayor of Greater Manchester: responsible for the transport budget our city-

region receives from government and for setting priorities for transport; 

• The Greater Manchester Combined Authority: the GMCA is made up of the ten 

leaders of the Greater Manchester local authorities and is chaired by the Mayor. It is 

responsible for a range of devolved functions including fire and rescue, waste 

management, police, Greater Manchester-wide planning, transport, health and 

economic growth; 

• Wider stakeholders including National Highways, transport operators and emergency 

services. 

Business cases 

To draw in new funding for delivering Streets for All, each local authority needs local data to 

help understand and communicate the case for investment. Data covering key topics such as 

air quality, public health, road safety, walking and cycling levels and traffic flow will be 

produced for each local council. 

We will also strengthen our business case methodologies to better account for the health 

and social benefits that Streets for All projects will deliver. 

Project design 

We will take a new approach to designing street projects which considers the role of the 

location in the wider spatial and network plans, identifies the key functions of the street and 

then applies our new design guidance and design check to the proposal. In the design 

process we will make sure that the maintenance, cleaning and enforcement implications of 

new schemes are carefully considered.  The Streets for All design guide will set out how we 

design streets for all users along with their interface with for example leisure routes and 

public Rights of Way.  The needs of specific groups such as disabled people, emergency 

services, people using powered two wheelers and horse riders will be considered as part of 

the design guidance.  

An Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been completed for this strategy document.  As 

part of the project design process, EQIAs will be undertaken for all Streets for All schemes.  

Project build 

When we are building new projects, or when there are roadworks, we will work with our 

contractors to make sure that cycling, walking and public transport is still prioritised 

throughout the construction period. 

Measuring success - monitoring and evaluation 

To demonstrate that we are delivering real benefits for the people of Greater Manchester, 

we will get better at measuring and communicating the effects of what we do. The Greater 

Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 has a monitoring framework for tracking progress 

against our strategic objectives, such as customer responses or ‘demand-side’ and 

operational or ’supply-side’ indicators.  

Page 84



Streets for All  

45 
 

We will also report our progress in delivering our Streets for All commitments (see Appendix 

C). 

Investing in Streets for All - funding 

Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026) sets out the programme of transport 

investment, how these are funded and the asks of government to support delivery. They are 

reviewed and refreshed annually and allow us to ensure that, alongside our partners, we are 

continuing to develop and deliver the right transport schemes to support the city-region’s 

priorities. Our City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement submission (submitted in 

September 2021) includes a significant programme of investment in Streets for All projects. 

The success of delivering Streets for All does not just depend on funding of new projects but 

on the prioritisation and adequate funding of routine activities including street maintenance 

and cleaning, and policing. 

  

Page 85



Streets for All  

46 
 

Appendix A: Streets for All essentials and street type requirements 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

Green and 

vibrant streets 

that are 

welcoming 

places to spend 

time in 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise the 

movement, 

health and safety 

of people who 

spend time on 

them over motor 

vehicles 

• Be interesting, 

active places that 

attract people to 

come and spend 

time in them 

• Be safe, 

comfortable 

spaces, with 

minimal noise and 

air pollution 

• Incorporate green 

space, be resilient 

to climate change 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise the 

movement, 

health and safety 

of people who live 

and spend time 

on them over 

motor vehicles 

• Be safe, 

comfortable 

spaces, with 

minimal noise and 

air pollution 

• Enable people to 

use them for play, 

socialising and 

relaxing  

• Incorporate green 

space, be resilient 

to climate change 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise the 

movement, 

health and safety 

of people who 

spend time on 

them, and 

businesses 

located on them, 

over motor 

vehicles 

• Be interesting, 

active places that 

attract people to 

come and spend 

time and money 

in them 

• Be safe, 

comfortable 

spaces, with 

These streets should: 

• Allocate space 

and time to 

support activities 

beyond the 

movement of 

traffic where 

needed (i.e. 

supporting local 

businesses and 

providing active 

neighbourhood 

facilities where 

there are 

residential 

frontages) 

• Reduce and 

manage the 

speed and volume 

of traffic to 

improve road 

These streets should: 

• Reduce and 

manage the speed 

and volume of 

traffic improve 

road safety and 

limit the impact of 

air and noise 

pollution on 

surrounding 

communities and 

places 

• Incorporate green 

space, be resilient 

to climate change 

and support 

biodiversity 

P
age 86



Streets for All  

47 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

and support 

biodiversity 

and support 

biodiversity 

reduced noise and 

air pollution 

safety and limit 

the impact of air 

and noise 

pollution on 

surrounding 

communities and 

places 

• Incorporate green 

space, be resilient 

to climate change 

and support 

biodiversity 

An attractive 

and inclusive 

walking 

environment 

These streets should: 

• Enable people of 

all ages and 

abilities to walk 

and spend time 

on these streets, 

prioritising these 

people over 

motor traffic 

• Be interesting, 

engaging and 

These streets should: 

• Enable people of 

all ages and 

abilities to walk 

from their homes 

• Prioritise people 

who walk over 

motor traffic 

• Provide Bee 

Network-standard 

facilities that are 

These streets should: 

• Enable people of 

all ages and 

abilities to walk 

and spend time 

on these streets.  

• Prioritise people 

who walk over 

motor traffic 

• Be a low-speed 

and low-traffic 

These streets should: 

• Provide 

continuous Bee 

Network-standard 

walking facilities, 

that are safe, 

attractive and 

accessible by 

people who use 

mobility aids or 

These streets should: 

• Provide frequent,  

Bee Network-

standard 

crossings that 

allow people of all 

ages and abilities 

to cross them 

where they 

disrupt their 

journeys 

P
age 87



Streets for All  

48 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

playful places to 

walk through. 

• Be fully accessible 

by people who 

use mobility aids 

or have sensory 

impairments. 

• Be easily 

accessible by 

walking from local 

public transport 

connections, 

residential and 

employment 

areas 

accessible by 

people who use 

mobility aids or 

have sensory 

impairments 

• Be a low speed/ 

low-traffic 

environment 

(under 20mph) 

• Be easily crossed 

away formalised 

crossings 

• Be interesting and 

playful places to 

walk through 

environment 

(under 20mph). 

• Be interesting, 

engaging and 

playful places to 

walk through 

• Be fully accessible 

by people who 

use mobility aids 

or have sensory 

impairments 

• Be easily 

accessible by 

walking from local 

public transport 

connections, 

residential and 

employment 

areas 

have sensory 

impairments 

• Provide crossings 

where people 

need them, that 

allow people to 

cross quickly and 

directly to 

destinations and 

public transport 

stops 

• Connect active 

neighbourhoods 

they run between  

• Be attractive and 

comfortable 

places to walk, 

with minimal 

impact from air 

and noise 

pollution 

• Be accessible for 

people who use 

mobility aids or 

have sensory 

impairments 

A safe, 

convenient and 

These streets should: These streets should: These streets should: These streets should: These streets should: 

P
age 88



Streets for All  

49 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

attractive 

cycling 

experience 

• Enable people of 

all ages to reach 

them by bike, 

providing Bee 

Network-standard 

routes 

• Provide parking 

for all types of 

cycles, including 

trikes, cargo bikes 

and adapted 

bikes, in 

convenient, 

visible and secure 

locations 

• Enable people of 

all ages and 

abilities to cycle 

across their 

neighbourhood 

• Prioritise people 

who cycle over 

motor traffic 

• Be a low-speed 

and low-traffic 

environment 

(under 20mph) 

• Provide safe, 

attractive 

connections to 

local destinations 

and the wider 

cycle network 

• Provide space for 

everyone to park 

their bike in or 

next to their 

homes 

• Enable people of 

all ages and 

abilities to reach 

them by bike, 

providing Bee 

Network 

standard-routes  

• Provide parking 

for all types of 

cycles, including 

trikes, cargo bikes 

and adapted 

bikes, in 

convenient, 

visible and secure 

locations 

 

• Be attractive and 

comfortable 

places to cycle, 

with minimal 

noise and air 

• Allocate road 

space to Bee 

Network-standard 

segregated cycle 

routes or, where 

space does not 

allow or an 

alternative is 

available, on a 

parallel route 

• Provide crossings 

where people 

need them, that 

allow them to 

cross quickly and 

safely to 

destinations and 

public transport 

stops, and 

• Allocate road 

space to Bee 

Network-standard 

segregated cycle 

routes or where 

space does not 

allow or an 

alternative is 

available, on a 

parallel route 

• Provide crossings 

where people 

need them, that 

allow them to 

cross quickly and 

safely to 

destinations and 

public transport 

stops, and 

connect active 

neighbourhoods 

they run between 

P
age 89



Streets for All  

50 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

connect active 

neighbourhoods 

they run between 

A reliable, 

integrated and 

accessible public 

transport 

network 

These streets should: 

• Be easily accessed 

by public 

transport used by 

people of all ages 

and abilities. This 

should include 

reliable, frequent 

services and well-

integrated stops 

with easy last-

mile journeys to 

destinations 

• Where needed, 

incorporate public 

transport so that 

it does not affect 

the safety or 

enjoyment of the 

street for people 

These streets should: 

• Make it easy for 

people to make 

by foot or bike 

the first stage of 

longer trips by 

bus, Metrolink 

and rail 

• Be signposted to 

and from key 

public transport 

locations 

• Be designed to 

improve the 

reliability of bus 

journeys and 

provide priority 

for buses where 

required 

These streets should: 

• Be easily accessed 

by public 

transport used by 

people of all ages 

and abilities. This 

should include 

reliable, frequent 

services, and well-

integrated stops. 

• Ensure bus and 

tram travel are 

prioritised to 

ensure public 

transport 

journeys are 

reliable and 

journey times are 

minimised 

 

These streets should: 

• Ensure bus and 

tram travel are 

prioritised to 

ensure public 

transport 

journeys are 

reliable and 

journey times are 

minimised 

• Make walking and 

cycling journeys 

to public 

transport stops 

easy, safe and 

quick 

• Make public 

transport stops 

accessible, 

comfortable and 

These streets should: 

• Be designed to 

improve the 

reliability of 

public transport 

services that cross 

or are run along 

them, allocating 

appropriate space 

or time to give 

priority to these 

vehicles 

P
age 90



Streets for All  

51 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

spending time in 

it 

safe places to 

wait at all times 

of day and night 

Goods delivered 

on time with 

minimal impact 

on local 

communities 

These streets should: 

• Enable goods 

vehicles to safely 

and efficiently use 

these streets, 

with minimal 

impacts on people 

spending time on 

them 

• Offer facilities to 

support 

alternative 

delivery practices, 

such as off-peak 

deliveries, virtual 

loading bays, and 

last mile deliveres 

by cargo bike 

• Have designated 

delivery times 

These streets should: 

• Restrict through-

travel by goods 

vehicles 

• Enable alternative 

ways of delivery 

such as cargo 

bikes and 

consolidated 

deliveries 

• Effectively 

manage home 

delivery traffic 

These streets should: 

• Enable goods 

vehicles to safely 

and efficiently 

access businesses, 

with minimal 

impacts on people 

spending time on 

them 

• Enable alternative 

ways of delivery 

such as cargo bike 

and consolidated 

deliveries 

Have designated 

delivery times and 

routes that improve 

the reliability of 

journey times and 

minimise interaction 

These streets should: 

• Offer facilities to 

support 

alternative 

delivery practices, 

as off-peak 

deliveries, virtual 

loading bays, 

consolidation, and 

last mile 

deliveries by 

cargo bike 

• Manage freight 

and deliveries to 

improve road 

safety and reduce 

air and noise 

pollution, and 

limit their 

These streets should: 

• Offer facilities to 

support 

alternative 

delivery practices, 

as off-peak 

deliveries, and 

consolidation 

• Have designated 

delivery times and 

routes that 

improve the 

reliability of 

journey times, 

and minimise 

interaction with 

vulnerable road 

users 

• Manage freight 

and deliveries to 

P
age 91



Streets for All  

52 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

that improve the 

reliability of 

journey times and 

minimise 

interaction with 

vulnerable road 

users 

 

with vulnerable road 

users. 

contribution to 

congestion. 

• Have designated 

delivery times and 

routes that 

improve the 

reliability of 

journey times, 

and minimise 

interaction with 

vulnerable road 

users 

• Help the safe and 

efficient 

management of 

loading and 

unloading 

improve road 

safety and reduce 

air and noise 

pollution, and 

limit their 

contribution to 

congestion 

 

Streets that 

enable people 

to drive less 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise and 

allocate road 

space to 

businesses and 

destinations, and 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise and 

allocate road 

space to people 

who walk, cycle or 

These streets should: 

• Prioritise and 

allocate road 

space to 

businesses and 

people who walk, 

These streets should: 

• Allocate road 

space to enable 

trips by public 

transport, walking 

and cycling 

These streets should: 

• Manage the 

speed and volume 

of traffic to 

ensure freight 

trips and essential 

P
age 92



Streets for All  

53 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

people who walk, 

cycle or take 

public transport 

• Manage parking 

to provide the 

space needed for 

walking, cycling, 

landscaping, 

seating, play, 

businesses, or 

community uses 

Be designed to be 

resilient to climate 

change, incorporating 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage and 

minimising 

embedded carbon 

through material 

choice 

take public 

transport 

• Manage parking 

to provide the 

space needed for 

walking, cycling, 

landscaping, 

seating, play, 

businesses, or 

community uses 

• Be designed to be 

resilient to 

climate change, 

incorporating 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage and 

minimising 

embedded carbon 

through material 

choice 

cycle or take 

public transport 

• Manage parking 

to provide the 

space needed for 

walking, cycling, 

landscaping, 

seating, play, 

businesses, or 

community uses 

• Be designed to be 

resilient to 

climate change, 

incorporating 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage and 

minimising 

embedded carbon 

through material 

choice 

• Manage parking 

to provide the 

space needed for 

journeys by public 

transport, walking 

and cycling, 

landscaping, 

seating, play, 

businesses, or 

community uses 

• Be designed to be 

resilient to 

climate change, 

incorporating 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage and 

minimising 

embedded carbon 

through material 

choice 

journeys by 

private vehicles 

are efficient and 

reliable 

• Allocate 

appropriate time 

and space to 

public transport, 

cycling and 

walking trips 

where journeys 

cross these roads 

• Be designed to be 

resilient to 

climate change, 

incorporating 

Sustainable Urban 

Drainage and 

minimising 

embedded carbon 

through material 

choice 

P
age 93



Streets for All  

54 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

A future-

proofed street 

network 

These streets should: 

• Allocate space 

and incorporate 

shared mobility 

innovations that 

support the 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Strategy 2040 

objectives –  

including bike,  

eBike and cargo 

bike hire, 

eScooters, and 

eCar clubs 

• Support 

alternative 

delivery 

mechanisms such 

as cargo bike and 

consolidated 

delivery  

These streets should: 

• Allocate space 

and incorporate 

shared mobility 

innovations that 

support the 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Strategy 2040 

objectives – 

including bike, 

eBike and cargo 

bike hire, 

eScooters, and 

eCar clubs 

• Support 

alternative 

delivery 

mechanisms such 

as cargo bike and 

consolidated 

delivery 

These streets should: 

• Allocate space 

and incorporate 

shared mobility 

innovations that 

support the 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Strategy 2040 

objectives – 

including bike, 

eBike and cargo 

bike hire, 

eScooters, and 

eCar clubs 

• Support 

alternative 

delivery 

mechanisms such 

as cargo bike and 

consolidated 

delivery 

These streets should: 

• Use smart 

cameras and 

signal technology 

to prioritise public 

transport, freight, 

walking and 

cycling where and 

when needed 

• Incorporate 

shared mobility 

innovations that 

support the 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Strategy 2040 

objectives – 

including bike, 

eBike and cargo 

bike hire, 

eScooters, and 

eCar clubs 

These streets should: 

• Use smart 

cameras and 

signal technology 

to prioritise public 

transport, freight, 

walking and 

cycling where and 

when needed 

• Incorporate 

shared mobility 

innovations that 

support the 

Greater 

Manchester 

Transport 

Strategy 2040 

objectives – 

including bike, 

eBike and cargo 

bike hire, 

eScooters, and 

eCar clubs 

P
age 94



Streets for All  

55 
 

Streets for All 

essential 

Destination places Active 

neighbourhood 

streets 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

• Incorporate or 

support the 

installation of EV 

charging points 

 

  

P
age 95



Streets for All  

56 
 

Appendix B: (Interim) Street user level of service 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

People who walk 

(including people 

who use mobility 

aids) 

People who live, walk 

and spend time on 

these streets are 

prioritised. 

This means that space 

and priority is given 

on these streets to 

people who walk, 

play, socialise and 

relax. 

These spaces should 

have places to sit, 

meet and rest, with 

things to do and see, 

and spaces suitably 

quiet with minimal air 

pollution as possible. 

Numbers of vehicles 

on these streets are 

expected to be low 

and they should give 

People who live, walk 

and spend time on 

these streets are 

prioritised. 

This means that space 

and priority is given 

on these streets to 

people who walk, 

play, socialise and 

relax.  

These spaces should 

have places to sit, 

meet and rest, with 

things to do and see, 

and green space. They 

should also be quiet 

with as little air 

pollution as possible, 

making them 

attractive places, and 

reducing impacts on 

homes. 

People who walk and 

spend time on these 

streets are 

prioritised.  

This means that space 

and priority is given 

on these streets to 

people who walk, 

play, socialise, and 

relax, and people can 

easily cross the street. 

These spaces should 

have appropriate 

levels of places to sit 

and rest, with things 

to do and see, and 

spaces suitably quiet 

with as little air 

pollution as possible. 

Where appropriate, 

space should be 

allocated to 

Residents and people 

who walk across or 

along, and spend 

time on these streets 

are considered first. 

This means connector 

roads are safe and 

comfortable places to 

walk; people can cross 

them where they 

need to, with minimal 

waiting time; and they 

can walk along them 

without obstructions 

to their journeys. 

Where these streets 

pass next to homes 

and shops, space is 

allocated to people 

and businesses who 

use them. 

People who need to 

walk across or over, 

or 

alongside these roads

 are considered first. 

This means that 

strategic roads and 

motorways should not 

break walking routes. 

Safe and 

comfortable crossings 

should be provided, 

alongside direct, 

attractive walking 

routes, either 

adjacent to the 

carriageway, or on 

parallel corridors. 

P
age 96



Streets for All  

57 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

way to other people 

using the street. 

Vehicle numbers and 

speeds are expected 

to be low and they 

should give way to 

other people using the 

street or pass slowly 

and considerately. 

businesses to allow 

them to effectively 

use space outside 

premises to extend 

their capacity and 

improve the 

attractiveness of the 

street. 

People who cycle 

 

People who cycle are 

prioritised over motor 

traffic but with care 

for people walking, in 

particular children, 

older adults and 

disabled people. 

This means that space 

and priority is given to 

people who cycle, so 

that they can 

People who cycle are 

prioritised over motor 

traffic but with care 

for people walking, in 

particular children, 

older adults and 

disabled people. 

This means that space 

and priority is given to 

people who cycle, so 

that they can 

Space for people who 

cycle is fully 

integrated along and 

across these streets. 

This means that 

people who cycle are 

able to travel to and 

through these streets 

using safe and 

comfortable routes. 

Road space should be 

allocated for Bee 

Space for people who 

cycle is fully 

integrated along and 

across these streets.  

This means connector 

roads are safe and 

comfortable places to 

cycle; people can 

cross them where 

they need to, with 

minimal waiting time, 

and they provide 

coherent, attractive 

Space for people who 

cycle is fully 

integrated along 

strategic roads and 

across or over 

strategic roads and 

motorways.  

This means that 

strategic roads and 

Motorways should not 

break cycle routes. 

P
age 97



Streets for All  

58 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

comfortably and 

safely travel. 

Vehicle numbers and 

speeds are expected 

to be low on these 

streets, and where 

they interact with 

people cycling they 

should give way. 

Destination places 

should be well 

connected by bike, 

meaning that people 

find it easy and safe to 

cycle to them, and 

they are able to park 

all types of bikes in 

convenient, visible 

and secure locations. 

comfortably and 

safely travel. 

Vehicle numbers and 

speeds are expected 

to be low on these 

streets, and where 

they interact with 

people cycling they 

should give way or 

pass slowly and 

considerately. 

Where residential 

properties do not 

have easily accessible 

cycle parking (such as. 

flats or terraced 

homes), on-street 

cycle parking should 

be maximised. 

Network-standard 

cycle routes along 

these streets, unless 

prevented by physical 

constraints in the 

highway. 

Where there are 

constraints, parallel 

corridors should be 

considered for cycle 

routes where there is 

little or no deviation 

from the direct 

connection. 

People should also be 

able to park all types 

of bikes in convenient, 

visible and secure 

locations. 

cycle routes along 

their length. 

Road space should be 

allocated to Bee 

Network-standard 

cycle routes unless 

prevented by physical 

constraints in the 

highway. 

Where there are 

constraints, parallel 

corridors should be 

considered for cycle 

routes where there is 

little or no deviation 

from the direct 

connection. 

 

Safe and 

comfortable crossings 

should be provided, 

alongside direct, 

attractive cycle 

routes, either 

adjacent to the 

carriageway, or on 

parallel corridors 

where there is 

minimal from the 

direct connection. 

People using 

public transport 

 

People are able to 

easily reach 

Destination places by 

public transport, and 

Public transport 

facilities are easily 

reached from 

people’s homes. 

People are able to 

easily reach high 

streets by public 

transport, and 

Priority for people 

travelling by public 

transport is fully 

integrated, to ensure 

Where required, 

priority for people 

travelling by public 

transport is provided, 

P
age 98



Streets for All  

59 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

vehicles are safely 

integrated where 

they interact. 

This means that 

people travelling to 

Destination places are 

able to do so easily 

and comfortably by 

public transport, and 

that stops are well 

integrated with these 

public spaces through 

stop facilities and 

materials, crossings 

and wayfinding. 

Where trams and 

buses travel through 

these spaces, this 

should be undertaken 

safely with 

consideration for 

other people using the 

street and businesses. 

Where running 

through active 

neighbourhoods, 

priority is given to 

public transport over 

other motor traffic. 

This means that 

journeys from homes 

to public transport 

stops are the quick 

and attractive. 

This also means that 

where buses travel 

through active 

neighbourhoods, 

priority is given to 

them over general 

traffic. But buses will 

be expected to give 

way to people walking 

and cycling, and travel 

at a suitable speed for 

the neighbourhood. 

vehicles are given 

priority. 

This means that 

people travelling to 

high streets are able 

to do so easily by 

public transport and 

that stops are well 

integrated with these 

public spaces through 

stop facilities and 

materials, crossings 

and wayfinding. 

Where public 

transport vehicles 

such as buses travel 

through these streets, 

they should be given 

priority over general 

traffic, while also 

ensuring that these 

vehicles do not impact 

people using the 

journeys are quick 

and on time. 

This means that 

available highway 

space and time at 

junctions are 

configured to give 

priority to buses and 

trams that travel 

along or cross these 

roads. 

It also means that 

people who use public 

transport are able to 

safely and 

comfortably reach 

public transport stops, 

providing space for 

stops on connector 

roads, and crossing 

points to stops. 

to ensure journeys 

are quick and on 

time. 

This means that 

where public 

transport travels along 

or crosses these 

roads, highway space 

and time at junctions 

are configured to give 

priority to buses or 

trams to overcome 

key points of potential 

delay. 

P
age 99



Streets for All  

60 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

street actively and 

businesses. 

People who 

deliver goods 

 

Motor vehicles used 

for deliveries are 

guests on these 

streets. 

This means businesses 

can make deliveries, 

but though-traffic is 

restricted, and a low-

traffic and low-speed 

environment is 

created where motor 

vehicles give way 

to people walking, 

using the area for 

leisure, cycling 

or using public 

transport. 

Delivery times should 

be scheduled for off-

peak hours. 

Motor vehicles used 

for deliveries are 

guests on these 

streets. 

This means businesses 

can make local 

deliveries, but though-

traffic is restricted, 

and a low-traffic and 

low-speed 

environment is 

created where motor 

vehicles give way 

to people walking, 

using the area for 

leisure, cycling 

or using public 

transport. 

Space for alternative 

delivery options, such 

as consolidated 

Motor vehicles used 

for deliveries are able 

to reach businesses 

efficiently, with 

minimal impact on 

people walking and 

cycling, as well as 

residents. 

This means that 

businesses are able to 

make deliveries to 

premises reliably and 

safely, in a way that 

does not negatively 

affect people who 

travel to or through 

these streets on foot 

or by bike, people 

using these streets for 

leisure, and other 

businesses in the area. 

Motor vehicles used 

for deliveries are able 

to make journeys 

efficiently, with 

minimal impact on 

people walking, 

cycling and using 

public transport, as 

well as residents. 

This means people 

and businesses can 

move goods with 

predictable journey 

times, and with space 

to drop off goods, 

while journeys are 

managed and 

measures introduced 

to reduce road 

danger, air and noise 

Motor vehicles used 

for deliveries are able 

to reach businesses 

efficiently. 

This means people 

and businesses can 

move goods with 

predictable journey 

times, while journeys 

are managed to 

reduce road danger, 

air and noise 

pollution, and 

congestion. 

Space for alternative 

delivery facilities meas

ures, such 

as consolidation 

centres, should be 

prioritised). 

P
age 100



Streets for All  

61 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

collection or cargo 

bikes, should be 

prioritised. 

 pollution, and 

congestion. 

Space for alternative 

delivery facilities meas

ures, such 

as consolidation 

centres, should be 

prioritised. 

Taxi passengers 

 

Taxi journeys are 

considered and 

integrated into the 

street network, but 

taxis are considered 

guests on these 

streets. 

This means vehicles 

can reach destinations 

for journeys that are 

made by taxis, but 

that through-traffic is 

restricted. A low-

Taxis are considered 

guests on these 

streets. 

This means taxis 

can drive to and 

from homes where 

they are needed, but 

that through-traffic is 

restricted. A low-

traffic and low-speed 

environment would 

be created where 

motor vehicles 

Essential taxi journeys 

can be made on these 

streets, but with as 

little impact as 

possible on people 

walking, cycling and 

using public 

transport, as well as 

residents and 

businesses.  

This means that 

provision for people 

who need to make 

Essential taxi journeys 

can be made with 

minimal impact on 

people walking, 

cycling and using 

public transport, as 

well as residents. 

This means that 

provision for people 

who need to make 

taxi trips is made on 

these streets, but this 

is balanced with space 

Essential, long-

distance taxi journeys 

can be made safely, 

with reliable journey 

times. 

This means that 

people making longer-

distance trips that 

can’t be made by 

public transport can 

make these journeys 

by private vehicle 

safely, without delays 

P
age 101



Streets for All  

62 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

traffic and low-speed 

environment would 

be created where 

motor vehicles 

give way to people 

walking, using the 

area for leisure, 

cycling or using public 

transport. 

It is anticipated that 

the majority of trips to 

these destinations will 

be made by public 

transport, cycling and 

walking. But taxis are 

an important method 

of travel for people 

with mobility 

impairments, and taxi 

drop-off should be 

located, designed and 

managed to reflect 

this. 

give way to people 

walking, using the 

area for leisure, 

cycling or using public 

transport. 

taxi trips is made on 

these streets, but 

priority is given to 

people who walk and 

spend time on these 

streets, cycle, or travel 

by public transport to 

them. 

It is anticipated that 

the majority of trips to 

these destinations will 

be made by public 

transport, cycling and 

walking. But taxis are 

an important method 

of travel for people 

with mobility 

impairments, and taxi 

drop-off should be 

located, designed and 

managed to reflect 

this. 

for people walking, 

cycling and using 

public transport, and 

other uses of these 

streets. 

The speed and volume 

of traffic is managed 

to reduce road 

danger, air and noise 

pollution, and to 

minimise its impact on 

homes and 

businesses. 

in expected journey 

times. 

The speed of vehicle 

traffic is managed 

and, where needed, 

reduced to minimise 

the risk of collision, 

and the effects of air 

and noise pollution 

(especially where 

these roads pass close 

to residential areas, 

schools or town 

centres). 

P
age 102



Streets for All  

63 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

People driving cars 

and riding 

motorbikes and 

mopeds 

 

Motor vehicles are 

considered guests on 

these streets. 

This means vehicles 

can reach destination 

places for journeys 

that need to be made 

by private vehicles, 

but that through-

traffic is restricted. A, 

low-traffic and low-

speed environment 

would be created 

where motor vehicles 

give way to people 

walking, using the 

area for leisure, 

cycling or using public 

transport. 

It is anticipated that 

the majority of trips to 

these destinations will 

be made by public 

transport, cycling and 

Private motor 

vehicles are 

considered guests on 

these streets. 

This means people 

can access homes for 

journeys that need 

to be made by cars, 

motorbikes and 

mopeds, but 

that through-traffic is 

restricted. A low-

traffic and low-speed 

environment would 

be created where 

motor vehicles 

give way to people 

walking, using the 

area for leisure, 

cycling or using public 

transport. 

Residents can park 

vehicles, but this 

should not affect 

Essential car journeys 

can be made on these 

streets, but with 

minimal impact on 

people travelling by 

walking, cycling and 

using public 

transport, as well as 

residents and 

businesses.  

This means that 

provision is made for 

people who need to 

travel by car, 

motorbike or moped, 

but priority is given to 

people who walk and 

spend time on these 

streets, cycle, or travel 

by public transport to 

them. 

It is anticipated that 

the majority of trips to 

these destinations will 

Essential car journeys 

can be made with 

minimal impact on 

people travelling by 

walking, cycling and 

public transport, as 

well as residents. 

This means that 

provision is made for 

people who need to 

travel by car, 

motorbike or moped, 

but this is balanced 

with space needed for 

people walking, 

cycling and using 

public transport, and 

other uses of these 

streets. 

The speed and volume 

of private vehicle 

traffic would be 

managed to reduce 

road danger, air and 

Essential, long-

distance car journeys 

can be made safely, 

with reliable journey 

times. 

This means that 

people making longer-

distance trips that 

can’t be made by 

public transport can 

make these journeys 

by private vehicle 

safely, without delays 

in expected journey 

times. 

The speed of traffic 

would be managed 

and, where needed, 

reduced to minimise 

the risk of collision, 

and the effects of air 

and noise pollution 

(especially where 

these roads pass close 

P
age 103



Streets for All  

64 
 

User Hierarchy Destination places Active 

neighbourhoods 

High streets Connector roads Strategic roads and 

motorways 

walking, and parking 

should be located and 

managed to reflect 

this. Suitable levels of 

well-located disabled 

parking should be 

integrated in these 

spaces to keep access 

for blue badge 

holders. 

people who cycle, 

walk or use 

public transport, and 

space should 

be prioritised for 

those who use car 

share schemes. 

 

be made by public 

transport, cycling and 

walking, and parking 

should be located and 

managed to reflect 

this. Suitable levels of 

well-located disabled 

parking should be 

integrated in these 

spaces to keep access 

for blue badge 

holders. 

noise pollution, and to 

minimise its effects on 

other homes and 

businesses. 

to residential areas, 

schools or town 

centres). 

 

 

P
age 104



Streets for All  

65 
 

Appendix C: Measuring success 

‘Supply-side’ indicators are about how much we (as TfGM and partners) do, and how well we 

do it, to affect customer choices and perceptions. ‘Demand-side’ indicators tell us what’s 

happening in the travel market, including in relation to satisfaction and propensity to use 

particular transport modes.  

Streets for All 

Essentials 
Principles Potential Measurements  

Green and vibrant 

streets that are 

welcoming places 

to spend time in 

Healthy green places 

Economically active 

places 

Streets and places 

that are safe 

Supply side  

Nitrogen dioxide and carbon emissions  

Reduced noise 

Tree planting  

Demand side  

Proportion of people reporting at least 

two 10-minute periods of walking or 

cycling each day (Greater Manchester 

Travel Diary Surveys) 

Data on retail footprint to understand 

local shopping patterns 

Town centre data showing changes in how 

people travel to and from town centres 

(this can be collected using ‘cordon 

counts’ – where people are counted as 

they pass through an area).  

An attractive and 

inclusive walking 

environment 

Walking is the 

natural choice for 

everyday journeys 

Supply side 

Length of street delivered through 

schemes which have good Streets for All 

design check scores. 

Demand side 

Proportion of trips under 2km that are 

walked (Source: Greater Manchester 

Travel Diaries Survey). 

Rate your neighbourhood for 'Ease of 

walking around the neighbourhood' 

(TfGM, Neighbourhoods survey). 

Page 105



Streets for All  

66 
 

‘I feel like I belong in this neighbourhood’ 

(TfGM, Neighbourhoods survey). 

There is space on our 

pavements for 

everyone to walk in 

comfort 

Supply side  

Measure pedestrian comfort levels – 

potentially via the ‘double buggy test’ at a 

random sample of locations annually. 

Demand side 

Question on whether there is space on the 

pavements for people to walk and pass 

each other in comfort (TfGM, 

Neighbourhoods survey) 

A safe, convenient 

and attractive 

cycling experience 

People can reach 

everyday 

destinations easily 

and safely by cycle 

Supply side  

Proportion of residents living within 200m 

of an Active Travel Bee Network route.  

Demand side  

How easy is it to cycle on roads in your 

neighbourhood? (TfGM, Neighbourhoods 

survey) 

People feel valued 

when they are cycling  

Supply side  

Amount of Active Travel Bee Network 

delivered. 

Demand side  

Relative importance and satisfaction of 

different aspects including 'Good cycle 

routes/lanes and facilities' (NHT survey).  

Cycling is widely 

considered to be a 

safe and secure 

travel option 

Demand side  

Proportion of trips under 10km that are 

cycled (Source: Greater Manchester Travel 

Diaries Survey). 

'Proportion of cyclists feeling safe from 

traffic' (GMTS 2040 Network Principles 

survey).  

 

 
 

 

 

Page 106



Streets for All  

67 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A reliable, 

integrated and 

accessible public 

transport network  

Buses turn up and 

arrive at their 

destinations on time 

Supply side 

‘Average excess waiting time’ (frequent 

services) and ‘proportion of bus services 

departing between 1 minute early and 6 

minutes late’ (other services). (TfGM 

survey)  

Demand side  

‘The bus arrives at the destination at the 

time you expect it to arrive’. (TfGM 

survey) 

It will be easier to 

reach public 

transport on foot or 

by bike 

Supply side  

Proportion of Greater Manchester 

population at Greater Manchester 

Accessibility Level 4 or better 

Demand side  

Ease of getting to the stop or station for 

bus, tram and train (GMTS 2040 Network 

Principles survey) 

Taking the bus is a 

safe and attractive 

option  

Supply side  

TBD  

Demand side 

Perception measures for personal security 

on-bus, waiting, and walking to stop 

during day and night (TfGM survey)  

Goods are 

delivered on time 

with minimal 

impacts on local 

communities 

Reliable freight 

routes are clearly 

defined  

Supply side  

TBD  

Demand side  

TBD 

The negative impacts 

of freight movement, 

deliveries and 

servicing on local 

communities are 

minimised 

Supply side  

TBD  

Demand side 

Page 107



Streets for All  

68 
 

There are an acceptable number of HGVs 

driving around my neighbourhood (TfGM 

Neighbourhoods survey) 

Streets that enable 

people to drive 

less  

Giving more road 

space to the most 

efficient and 

sustainable modes of 

transport 
 

Supply side 

Proportion of people walking, cycling and 

using public transport on a weekly basis 

(GM Travel Diary Survey) 

Demand side  

Network encourages environmentally 

responsible travel (GMTS 2040 Network 

Principles survey) 

Reducing levels of 

traffic on our roads 

Supply side  

Car users rate satisfaction with traffic 

congestion (GMTS 2040 Network 

Principles survey) 

Demand side  

Overall and peak period reductions in 

motorised traffic (Automatic travel 

counters) 

A future proofed 

street network  

Good design makes 

maintenance easier 

 

New mobility 

technologies help us 

to create safe, 

sustainable streets 

which make better 

use of existing street 

space 

Supply side 

Question on how people rate their 

neighbourhood on several different 

elements – safety, space and pollution – 

when travelling around. (TfGM 

Neighbourhoods survey) 

Demand side 

TBD 
 

  

Page 108



Streets for All  

69 
 

Appendix D: Summary of actions  

Essentials 

All We will progress and deliver Streets for All redesign projects as part of our 

capital investment programme outlined in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery 

Plan (2021-26). 

We will build 500 miles of new cycling and walking routes by 2024, working 

with local communities to make sure we are putting them in the right places  

We will design our streets to deliver Quality Bus Transit services that make 

public transport a safe, convenient and attractive travel option, through bus 

priority, improved waiting facilities and better access to bus stops, as part of 

our Bus Service Improvement Plan.   

We will develop traffic reduction plans as part of updated Local 

Implementation Plans. 

We will produce a Road Danger Reduction Action Plan for Greater 

Manchester. 

We will work with businesses and the freight industry to trial innovations in 

zero-emission deliveries and servicing. 

We will develop a shared mobility strategy, setting out the role of mobility 

hubs in enabling seamless integration between more sustainable modes of 

transport and learning from our experience of e-scooter trials. 

Three levels of delivery 

Spatial Planning Promote the 15-minute neighbourhood concept in our work on spatial and 

transport plans. 

Produce a Streets for All development check to be included in future transport 

assessments. 

Incorporate the seven Streets for All Essentials in local plans where they are 

being reviewed.  

Update the Transport for Sustainable Communities guidance to include Streets 

for All requirements and national policy such as Gear Change, Bus Back Better 

and the latest Manual for Streets guidance. 

Network 

planning 
Review and update the Highway Protocols to reflect changes in roles and 

responsibilities and continue to review the priority routes for public transport, 

active travel, freight and general traffic across GM (aligned with the Right Mix 

mode share target and future Road Danger Reduction Action Plan).  

Through investment projects, identify alternate suitable routes or mitigation 

plans for key points on the network where there are competing pressures for 

priority from different modes of transport. 

Page 109



Streets for All  

70 
 

Within the design process for specific streets or corridors, agree what level of 

motorised traffic will be accommodated and how to manage traffic across the 

area to achieve overall traffic reduction. 

Street design and 

management 
Ensure that the process for designing projects which affect our streets 

includes engagement with local communities and stakeholders at an early 

stage, so that their views can be considered when developing designs. For 

example, when developing proposals for Active neighbourhoods, we will 

continue to work collaboratively with people who live locally from the 

planning stage through to construction, asking them for feedback on location 

and type of measures. 

Develop a Streets for All Design Guide for Greater Manchester. In the interim 

refer to design guidance produced by the National Association of City 

Transportation Officials (NACTO) as a ‘best practice’ guide. 

Undertake a Streets for All design check for every place we are proposing a 

new project.  

Develop a new process for reviewing project specifications at key stages to 

ensure each project is fully aligned with Streets for All. 

Ways of working 

Capacity-building Engage with senior leaders across Greater Manchester to explain the Streets 

for All approach and give them the information they need to engage with their 

stakeholders. 

Develop a Streets for All funding stream. 

Build capacity through establishing a Streets for All centre of excellence to 

give local authority and TfGM officers the information and tools they need to 

successfully deliver Streets for All. 

Stakeholder 

engagement 
Investigate the most effective methods of ensuring decision makers have the 

information they need to make them aware of public opinion on proposed 

projects. 

Continue to lobby central government for the enforcement powers we need 

to make our streets welcoming and more accessible, including the ability to 

enforce moving traffic offences and ‘implied’ zebra crossings – more simple 

and cheaper zebra crossings on side roads without the zig-zag road markings 

and Belisha beacons currently required. 

Set the broader engagement plan in which the project will be delivered – 

enforcement, cleaning, maintenance, behaviour change, regeneration etc. 

Manage the delivery of the project with a stakeholder plan. 

Business cases Produce a bespoke data set for each local authority to make the case for the 

Streets for All approach, including key topics such as air quality, road safety, 

walking and cycling.  

Page 110



Streets for All  

71 
 

Produce a toolkit of data sets for local authorities to collect, adaptable to 

different project scopes (scale and key audiences for data). 

Include health and economic benefits in project business cases (review 

inclusion of PEAT). 

Project build Develop and apply a new roadworks management framework aligned with 

Streets for All (prioritising walking, cycling, public transport, deliveries and 

essential access) for contractors to apply. Establish a system to ensure 

compliance with this. 

Monitoring and 

Evaluation 
Establish a routine data set that all projects can collect and report back into a 

centralised system to enable Greater Manchester-wide tracking of 

performance improvements. 

Collect data straight after construction is finished, at six months, one year and 

18 months to compare results with ambitions.  

Feed results back into the planning process to improve the next project and 

collate project statistics to communicate the benefits of projects to 

stakeholders. 

  

Page 111



Streets for All  

72 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 112



Streets for All  

73 
 

 

 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 
 

Housing Planning and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
Date:   23 September 2021 
 
Subject:  Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy 
 
Report of:      Andy Burnham, Mayor of Greater Manchester and Portfolio Lead for 

Transport and Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive Officer, GMCA & TfGM 
 
 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 
To set out the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy, a 
sub-strategy of the Greater Manchester 2040 Transport Strategy 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
 
Members are asked to: 

 
1. To review and endorse the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging 

Infrastructure Strategy prior to consideration by GMCA:  
 
2.  Note that the programme of planned publicly funded additional Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure will be included on a sub-site of TfGM.com. 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICERS: 
 
Simon Warburton, Transport Strategy Director, TfGM, Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com  
 
Nicola Kane, Head of Strategic Planning and Research, TfGM, Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com  
 
Megan Black, Head of Logistics & Environment, TfGM, Megan.Black@tfgm.com  
 
 
  

Page 115

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Simon.Warburton@tfgm.com
mailto:Nicola.Kane@tfgm.com
mailto:Megan.Black@tfgm.com


 

 

Equalities Implications: 

The EVCI strategy will help to facilitate increased EV charging for all communities across 
Greater Manchester. Community EV hubs will benefit areas without existing off-street 
parking. 

Impacts Questionnaire 
Impact Indicator Result Justification/Mitigation 

Equality and Inclusion G Community hubs will benefit areas where there is limited off street 
parking, and this will enable a more inclusive transition to EV.  GM will 
continue to work to ensure EVCI is accessible for people with disabilities. 
Air pollution is more damaging for children and young people, and so this 
age group are more likely to benefit from the transition away from internal 
combustion engines, though road safety implications of quieter vehicles 
need consideration. 

Health     

Resilience and Adaptation     

Housing N/A   

Economy G Ensuring GM’s visitor attractions remain accessible. 

Mobility and Connectivity G Increased EVCI will provide an additional transport option to residents, 
businesses and visitors to TfGM  

Carbon, Nature and 
Environment 

G Significant reductions in air pollution, and carbon, with increased EV take 
up. 

Consumption and 
Production 

    

     
Contribution to achieving the GM 
Carbon Neutral 2038 target 

Reductions in carbon is a critical, primary objective of this strategy. 

Further Assessment(s):  Equalities Impact Assessment and Carbon Assessment 

 

  
 

   

      

 

Climate Change Impact Assessment and Mitigation Measures:  

Reducing Climate Change Emissions has been a primary driver in the development of this 
strategy. 

Carbon Assessment   

Overall Score 0   

     

Buildings Result Justification/Mitigation 

New Build residential N/A   

Residential building(s) 
renovation/maintenance 

N/A   

Positive impacts overall, 

whether long or short 

term.

Mix of positive and 

negative impacts. Trade-

offs to consider.

Mostly negative, with at 

least one positive aspect. 

Trade-offs to consider.

Negative impacts overall. 

Page 116



 

 

New Build Commercial/ Industrial N/A   

Transport     

Active travel and public transport N/A   

Roads, Parking and Vehicle Access 0 EV options will be most suitable for some trips.  Car clubs etc which 
incorporate EV can reduce the numbers of privately owned vehicles. 

Access to amenities N/A   

Vehicle procurement N/A   

Land Use     

Land use N/A   

 

  

 

    

 

Risk Management: 

Risk Management will be undertaken on programmes and projects. 

 

Legal Considerations: 

CLO advice has been taken on implications of the Highway Act (1980) on Electric Vehicle 
Charging. 

 

Financial Consequences – Revenue: 

N/A – Strategy Document. 

Financial Consequences – Capital: 

N/A – Strategy Document 

 
Number of attachments to the report: 1 
 
Comments/recommendations from Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

N/A 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

No associated 

carbon impacts 

expected.

High standard in 

terms of practice 

and awareness on 

carbon.

Mostly best practice 

with a good level of 

awareness on 

carbon.

Partially meets best 

practice/ awareness, 

significant room to 

improve.

Not best practice 

and/ or insufficient 

awareness of carbon 

impacts.

Page 117



 

 

TRACKING/PROCESS  

Does this report relate to a major strategic decision, as set out in 
the GMCA Constitution  

YES 

EXEMPTION FROM CALL IN 

Are there any aspects in this report which 
means it should be considered to be 
exempt from call in by the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee on the grounds of urgency? 

No 

GM Transport Committee Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

20/08/21  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Availability of and access to charging infrastructure is recognised as a critical barrier 
to the adoption of Electric Vehicles (EVs).  As part of the public conversation on GM 
Clean Air Plan proposals, the availability of charging points was cited as a key barrier 
for businesses and individuals in switching to an EV.  

 
1.2 The requirement for appropriate vehicle charging infrastructure is even more critical 

given that the Government has now committed to phasing out the sale of new petrol 
and diesel vehicles by 2030. 

 
1.3 The EVCI Strategy is a sub-strategy of the GM 2040 Transport Strategy and is the 

first of a range of sub-strategies due to be produced this calendar year and brought to 
GMCA for approval.  This draft strategy has been written with guidance from District 
officers.  Comments have also been sought during drafting from both the Energy 
Saving Trust and Electricity North West. 

 
1.4 The draft EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy (EVCI), included at Appendix 1, 

provides a clear vision, objectives and strategic principles to inform a delivery plan. It 
also an important tool in order to set out GM’s ambitions to establish a financially 
sustainable, publicly accessible EVCI network, that is scalable to growth in demand 
and flexible to changes in vehicle technologies. 

 
1.5 The government has recently released its plan for transport and carbon,  

‘Decarbonising transport: a better, greener Britain’.  Electric Vehicle take up is a 
significant element of that plan, and the document references that “the market for 
battery electric vehicles and the necessary charging infrastructure is growing fast, but 
the barriers of vehicle price and supply, infrastructure provision, and the consumer 
experience of using that infrastructure, need to be addressed.” 
 

1.6 A draft version of this document has been considered by the 10 GM Local Authorities 
prior to being recommended for approval at GMCA. Following comments received the 
document has been updated to better demonstrate how EV fits with Greater 
Manchester’s transport ambitions and ensuring that the strategy focuses on the 
publicly accessible EVCI required to enable Greater Manchester’s businesses and 
residents to transition to EVs to make the necessary journeys that cannot be avoided 
or shifted to more sustainable modes.  
 

2. SUMMARY OF STRATEGY 
 

2.1 EVs need to be considered within a framework for the decarbonisation of transport 
based on reducing overall need to travel, shifting journeys to active travel and 
sustainable modes and then for those remaining journeys, switching to ultra-low 
emission vehicles and cleaner fuels.  
 

2.2 The vision within the strategy is to “to be an exemplar city region for enabling the 
electrification of transport in the context of a smart, integrated, sustainable mobility 
network. By 2030, Greater Manchester’s residents and businesses and visitors to the 
region, who have no choice but to travel by car or LGV, will be able to use electric 

Page 119

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1002285/decarbonising-transport-a-better-greener-britain.pdf


 

 

vehicles with the confidence that they will be able to conveniently recharge them (via 
public or private charging points); and in doing so will help to improve air quality and 
reduce carbon emissions across the conurbation.” 

 

2.3 The three main themes within the strategy are that: 
 

• There is need to ensure that an under provision of EVCI is not prohibiting the 

transition to EVs and the need to encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs 

to meet net-zero carbon targets especially in light of the November 2020 

Government announcement of the ban of the sale of new petrol and diesel cars 

by 2030 and hybrids by 2035. 

• There is also a need for public sector intervention in the short term to encourage 

and accelerate the transition to EVs, demonstrate commitment to EV 

technologies and encourage investment from the private sector. Longer term, 

there is a need for the development of a mature, commercial EVCI network in 

GM that allows public sector intervention to be scaled back.   

• EVs and EVCI are emerging technologies that create uncertainties around 

accurately projecting demand for EVCI beyond 2025 and therefore there is a 

need for flexibility to change investment priorities and a need for regular review 

and monitoring of market developments to ensure that the EVCI network 

continues to meet with demand.  

 

2.4 In terms of deployment of publicly funded EVCI, the priority will be projects which 
support the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan and the 2038 carbon neutrality 
ambitions by aiding the accelerated transition to EVs for the most polluting vehicles; 
providing opportunities for those businesses most affected by the CAZ to transition to 
EVs and supporting those who would find it most difficult to transition to EVs due to 
home charging constraints. 

 
2.5 For those unable to charge at home, proposed alternatives include: 
 

• Developing and expanding EV car club offer (aligned to the E-Hubs trial project); 

• Developing community charging hubs. 

• Engaging with employers to encourage more workplace charging; and 

• Destination charging including park and ride sites. 

 

3. PROGRAMME OF PLANNED ACTIVITY 
 

3.1 The programme of planned publicly funded additional Electric Vehicle Infrastructure is 
outlined at electrictravel.tfgm.com, a sub-site of TfGM.com dedicated to electric 
vehicles.  This sub-site also includes an online map to facilitate better co-ordination of 
requests from residents for on-street charging locations. This map allows residents to 
'pin-drop' suitable locations and will provide other useful data on EV take up. 

 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Recommendations are set out at the front of this report. 

Page 120



01

Electric  
Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure 
Strategy

ELECTRIC 
VEHICLE 
CHARGING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
STRATEGY

Part of the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040

Page 121



02

Contents

Preface 05

01. Introduction 06

02. Background 08

2.1 The GM Transport Strategy 2040 08

2.2 Decarbonising transport 08

2.3 Air quality 09

2.4 Background on electric vehicles 09

03. Vision and objectives and strategic principles 10

3.1 The vision 10

3.2 Strategy objectives 10

3.3 EVCI network strategic principles 10

3.4 EV tariff 15

04. Developing an EV charging network for Greater Manchester 16

4.1 Current network 16

4.2 The scale of the network required by 2025 17

4.3 The need for public sector intervention 18

4.4 EV User Profiles 18

4.5 EVCI Typologies 19

Page 122



03

05. The Case for Public Sector Investment to support the transition to EVs 20

5.1 The role of the public sector in influencing and delivering a GM EVCI network. 20

5.2 How we will invest in expanding the publicly funded EVCI network. 20

5.3 Priorities for Public Investment to 2025 22

06. Delivery and monitoring 24

6.1 Existing commitments 24

6.2 Site prioritisation process 24

6.3 Design guidance 24

6.4 Market research and engagement 25

6.5 Monitoring the scale and performance of the network 25

07. Final conclusions and next steps 26

08. Appendix A 29

Development of EV User Profiles 29

09. Appendix B 33

Development of EVCI Typologies 33

Page 123



04
Page 124



05

Preface

A significant amount of work has been undertaken 
in recent years to place Greater Manchester at the 
forefront of efforts to deal with Climate Change and 
Air Quality including the move to science-based 
carbon budgets, the ambition to be carbon neutral 
by 2038 and the promotion of a Clean Air Zone to 
be introduced in 2022.

Given that transport is now the sector making the 
biggest contribution to carbon emissions and is 
directly responsible for 80% of noxious emissions, 
the switch to Ultra Low Emission Vehicles and 
particularly to Electric Vehicles (EVs), alongside a 
significant shift away from private car use, will be 
critical to Greater Manchester’s success in meeting 
its transport emissions targets. 

Availability of and access to charging infrastructure 
is recognised as a critical barrier to the adoption 
of EVs. As part of the public conversation held 
last year on the GM Clean Air Plan proposals, the 
availability of charging points was cited as a key 
barrier for businesses and individuals in switching 
to an EV. The requirement for appropriate vehicle 
charging infrastructure is even more critical 
given that the Government has now committed 
to phasing out the sale of new petrol and diesel 
vehicles by 2030. Ensuring Greater Manchester is 
ready for this change will require very significant 
cross-sectoral collaborative working over the 
coming years. It is recognised that there is a 
need for an overarching strategy, and a funded 
programme of works to ensure focused action in 
a timely manner. This Greater Manchester Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Strategy sets out 
the vision-led adaptive planning approach to the 
provision of charging infrastructure, to be adopted 
to support a rapid transition towards a carbon 
neutral transport system.

The EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy provides 
a clear vision, objectives and strategic principles to 
inform a programme of works for the deployment 
of public charging infrastructure across the 
city region. The aim is to ensure that Greater 
Manchester has a well-understood and consistent 
charging infrastructure network across the city 
region which, in turn, supports engagement 
with Greater Manchester businesses, the public, 
private sector charging infrastructure providers 
and other public sector organisations to enable 
and accelerate the transition to EVs. The Greater 
Manchester (GM) Local Authorities and Transport 
for Greater Manchester (TfGM) should lead the  
way in expanding efforts to electrify the public 
sector fleet as an exemplar. This example should 
then be used to support local partners and 
businesses to follow in making the switch to  
ultra-low emission vehicles. 

The GM Local Authorities working in partnership 
with TfGM, have produced this GM Electric Vehicle 
Charging Infrastructure Strategy to align activity 
and inform a coherent programme of works  
for delivery.

Page 125



06

01. Introduction

The UK’s commitment to phase out the sale of 
new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030 and 
hybrid vehicles by 2035 was at the heart of the 
Government’s recent ‘Ten Point Plan for a Green 
Industrial Revolution’. This commitment reflects 
the urgent need to clean up the transport sector, 
which is now the UK’s largest source of greenhouse 
gas emissions and contributor to poor air quality. 
The rapid acceleration of the transition to Electric 
Vehicles (EVs) that is required will only be delivered 
if vehicle owners are confident that they will have 
access to a comprehensive and convenient network 
of Electric Vehicle charging infrastructure (EVCI). 

In Greater Manchester (GM) the overall transport 
vision remains that set out in the GM Transport 
Strategy 2040 (GMTS 2040) based on a 
decarbonisation of transport within a framework of 
reducing overall need to travel, shifting journeys to 
active travel and sustainable modes and then for 
those necessary journeys that can not be switched 
to more sustainable modes, switching to ULEVs 
and cleaner fuels. 

Following this pathway will enable the 
decarbonisation of transport to act as a catalyst for 
reducing car dependency and creating healthier, 
safer and more equitable communities. Focusing 
efforts on reducing overall travel demand and 
encouraging modal shift will help reduce the scale, 
cost and investment associated with electrification 
strategies, and also minimise the amount of 
carbon required to manufacture new vehicles and 
infrastructure associated with an electrified network.

EVs will not be a panacea in delivering emissions 
reductions, and they are not without environmental 
and societal costs, in terms of the embodied 
carbon and precious metals in the vehicles 
and batteries themselves; and in terms of the 
congestion and road danger impacts of motorised 
vehicles. Whilst the role of EVs will be important, the 
switch to cleaner fuels alone will only account for 
just over half of the necessary emission reductions. 
Therefore this EVCI strategy will be complemented 
by other strategies, such as our streets for all and 
local bus strategies, which will focus on creating 
streets and public transport services which 
facilitate the switch to active and more sustainable 
modes such as walking, cycling and public 
transport use.

However, it is recognised that for certain activities 
and businesses, cars, taxis and vans will remain a 

necessary mode of transport. Transitioning these 
vehicles from petrol and diesel to ULEVs is critical, 
to help achieve the GM climate change and air 
quality ambitions. .

Whilst there has been development in a number of 
other types of alternatively fuelled vehicles, such 
as hydrogen fuel cells, this strategy is concerned 
purely with plug-in EVs given the recent growth in 
EV ownership and relative infancy and low uptake  
of alternative fuels.

The strategy focuses on the publicly accessible 
EVCI required to enable Greater Manchester’s 
small businesses and residents to transition to EVs 
to make the necessary journeys that can not be 
avoided or shifted to more sustainable modes.  
For clarity, it does not cover charging infrastructure 
requirements for Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs)  
or buses.

The transition to EVs and provision of EVCI are co-
dependent. Availability of and access to charging 
infrastructure is a critical barrier to the adoption 
of EVs. As part of the public conversation held 
last year on the GM Clean Air Plan proposals, the 
availability of charging points was cited as a key 
barrier for businesses and individuals in switching 
to an EV. In order to support and accelerate the 
transition to EVs across GM it will be important to 
have the right type of EVCI in the optimal locations 
to meet demand. This is particularly important 
given that a significant proportion of people in GM 
do not have private off-street parking to charge an 
electric vehicle and also because range anxiety 
is currently still a barrier to switching to EVs for 
many people. Having an available public charging 
network that people have confidence in, is an 
important factor in enabling the switch to an EV. 
Both actual and perceived availability of public 
charging infrastructure are key; sufficient numbers 
of chargepoints should be provided to meet local 
requirements and their location, availability and 
reliability must be sufficiently clear so as to support 
consumer confidence.

To ensure that GM has the EVCI network that it 
needs to support the transition to EVs over the next 
5 years, TfGM and the 10 GM Local Authorities (we) 
have developed this GM EVCI Strategy, based on 
analysis of the critical markets we need to support 
over the next 5 years (in particular, taxis and private 
hire vehicles, vans owned by small businesses, EV 
car clubs and residential areas with limited off-

Page 126



07

street parking). For the longer term, it also sets out 
principles for the design and delivery of publicly 
funded EVCI. However, EVs and EVCI, are still 
emerging technologies and it is important to be 
able to adapt to changes in technology and markets 
and ensure a flexible approach to the delivery of the 
strategy.

This GM EVCI Strategy is a sub-strategy of the GM 
Transport Strategy 2040 (GMTS 2040). It sets outs 
objectives for EVCI which follow from the GMTS 
2040 and should be considered alongside and read 
in conjunction with GMTS 2040 and the “Right Mix” 
vision for at least 50% of all trips to be made by 
active travel and public transport by 2040.

History

The delivery and operation of Greater Manchester’s 
publicly funded Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure is co-ordinated by TfGM to ensure a 
consistent and co-ordinated approach across the 
city region.

There are approximately 360 publicly accessible 
charging devices in GM with circa 700 connectors 
operated and maintained by a number of operators. 
At the time of writing this includes 133 charging 
devices that are owned by TfGM. The focus of the 
first investment for publicly owned infrastructure in 
2013 was chargers positioned in Local Authority car 
parks. 

Back in 2013 there was more uncertainty about 
what public infrastructure would be required and 
far fewer Electric Vehicles registered in GM. Today, 
GM needs to meet the requirements of the next 
generation of Electric Vehicles, which have different 
charging capabilities and which are now starting to 
be seen in much larger numbers.

From summer 2020, the publicly owned charging 
points have been upgraded, rebranded and 
included in a new network called Be.EV. Be.EV 
is the brand for a new electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure provider in Greater Manchester. The 
installation of new rapid charging infrastructure and 
upgrading the existing TfGM owned fast charging 
network is being carried out under the Be.EV 
brand. Further information on the Be.EV network is 
available from the link be-ev.co.uk

Page 127



08

02. Background

2.1 The GM Transport Strategy 2040

Greater Manchester’s transport vision for ‘World 
class connections that support long-term, 
sustainable economic growth and access 
to opportunity for all’ is set out in the Greater 
Manchester Transport Strategy 2040. To provide 
a focus for transport investment up to 2040 and 
beyond the four key elements of that vision are set 
out below:

TRANSPORT 
VISION

World-class connections that 
support long-term sustainable 
economic growth and access 

to opportunity for all.

Supporting 
sustainable 
economic 

growth

Improving 
quality of life 

for all

Developing an 
innovative 
city-region

Protecting our 
environment

The role of technology and innovation will be even 
more important in the period up to 2040, enabling 
us to improve transport performance and quality 
of life, protect our environment, reduce costs and 
resource consumption, and to provide tailored 
information directly to transport users, providing a 
much better experience.

2.2 Decarbonising transport

National Government policy is encouraging 
a transition away from internal combustion 
engines and towards ULEVs, including Electric 
Vehicles (EVs) over the next 20 years. The current 
Government policy includes ending the sale of 
new petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030 and 
hybrid petrol/diesel vehicles by 2035. Low and 
Ultra-low emission vehicles are a key part of the 
Government’s 10-point plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution, and the National Infrastructure Strategy.

Greater Manchester has a target of achieving 
carbon neutrality by 2038 (12 years earlier than 
the national 2050 target). All ten local authorities 
within Greater Manchester and the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority have declared 
a climate emergency that commit them to 
working with government of all levels to prioritise 
decarbonisation and to take bold climate change 
action.

The GM 2038 target for carbon neutrality is based 
on a scientific approach by the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Change to apportion both UK level and 
more localised carbon budgets that meet the Paris 
Agreement. Analysis indicates that urgent action 
is needed to cut all carbon emissions including 
transport emissions and that steep cuts need to 
happen in the next 5 years to stay within our carbon 
budgets. Further information is available in the GM 
5YEP.

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/
media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf

Transport is now the largest greenhouse 
gas-emitting sector in the UK, accounting for 
28 per cent of emissions and road transport 
accounts for 87 per cent of this. If we are to meet 
our commitments to reduce carbon emissions 
from transport, there will have to be a switch to 
much greater use of active travel for short journeys 
and more sustainable travel modes such as public 
transport. However, changes to mode of transport 
alone will not be enough; changes to the pattern 
of trip origins and destinations will also be needed. 
The pathway to the Greater Manchester 2040 
Transport Strategy’s Right Mix vision focuses on 
changing travel behaviour towards public transport, 
active travel, more local travel, and more travel to 
town and city centres in order to reduce car mode 
share from 61% of trips in 2017 to no more than 50% 
of trips in 2040.

However, we realise that some journeys will 
inevitably still need to be taken in cars and the 
transition to ULEVs need to be at the core of any 
successful strategy to decarbonise transport. 
Electric Vehicles (EVs)  
will form an important part of the future transport 
mix as they can ensure that unavoidable car 
journeys are taken in a way that minimises  
carbon emissions.

Page 128



09

2.3 Air quality

Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to 
the public’s health in Greater Manchester. Taking 
action to improve air quality is crucial to improve 
the health of the general population. Whilst air 
quality has been generally improving over time, 
pollutants remain a serious concern in many urban 
areas including across Greater Manchester. These 
are oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and its harmful form 
nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and particulate matter (PM).

In Greater Manchester road transport is responsible 
for approximately 80% of NO2 concentrations at 
roadside, of which diesel vehicles are the largest 
source.

Long-term exposure to elevated levels of 
particulate matter (PM2.5, PM10) and NO2 may 
contribute to the development of cardiovascular or 
respiratory disease and may reduce life expectancy. 
The youngest, the oldest, those living in areas of 
deprivation, and those with existing respiratory or 
cardiovascular disease are most likely to develop 
symptoms due to exposure to air pollution.

Public Health England estimates the health and 
social care costs across England due to exposure 
to air pollution will be £5.3 billion by 2035 for 
diseases where there is a strong association with 
air pollution, or £18.6 billion for all diseases with 
evidence of an association with air pollution.

Fully electric vehicles offer a partial solution to this 
problem as they operate with no tail pipe emissions 
however, GM recognises that although EVs 
contribute towards reducing emissions, they  
also emit pollutants into the environment from  
tyre and brake wear but are overall less polluting 
than conventional internal combustion engine  
(ICE) vehicles.

More information on Air Quality Action Plan and  
GM Clean Air Plan can be found here  
https://cleanairgm.com/.

2.4 Background on electric vehicles

There are many types of Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles (ULEVs) available, but this EVCI Strategy is 
largely concerned with Electric Vehicles (EVs) which 
can be broadly divided into two types:

• Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs), also known as 
‘pure’ or ‘100 per cent’ EV’s (which are always 
powered by the battery); and 

• Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs), which 
combine a small plug-in battery with an ICE.  
This category includes both parallel and series 
plug-in hybrids (also known as range extenders).

BEVs can only run-on battery, do not emit tailpipe 
emissions and are dependent on charging, whereas 
the extent to which PHEVs are low emission 
depends on the extent they are driven in low 
emission mode. 

In the UK until recently PHEVs made up a higher 
proportion of new registrations than BEVs. However, 
in the last few years this has changed for several 
key reasons:

• the cost and range difference between hybrid 
and fully electric vehicles is reducing, with 
batteries getting cheaper and battery sizes in 
BEVs increasing, thus increasing range;

• PHEVs are more complex and expensive to 
maintain, due to having both electric and internal 
combustion powertrains; and

• the Government grant for most PHEV purchases 
was removed from November 2018. However, a 
grant of up to £3,500 remains for low emissions 
cars approved by the government, these are 
cars which have CO2 emissions of less than 
50g/km and can travel at least 112km (70 miles) 
without any emissions at all.

The number of EV models available has expanded 
significantly in recent years. For passenger 
vehicles, most mainstream car manufacturers now 
offer an EV model, and there are now more than 
130 BEV or PHEV models available to buy or lease 
in the UK across all vehicle types including small 
and medium-sized vans, city cars, small and large 
family cars. The notable trends among new models 
coming to market and upcoming launches are the 
increasing battery capacities and capabilities to 
provide greater mileage from a single charge and 
support faster charging rates. 

Alongside the carbon and air quality emissions 
benefits of EVs they also have operational cost 
advantages over traditional Internal Combustion 
Engine (ICE) vehicles, due to greater energy 
efficiency and lower energy costs and therefore 
running costs. However, the upfront price is higher 
and remains a considerable barrier to adoption. 
Upfront prices are expected to continue to decline, 
with some analysts suggesting cost parity of EVs 
with equivalent ICE vehicles in the early 2020s. 

Page 129



10

03. Vision and objectives 
and strategic principles

3.1 The vision

To be an exemplar city region for enabling the 
electrification of transport in the context of a smart, 
integrated, sustainable mobility network. By 2030, 
Greater Manchester’s businesses, residents and 
visitors to the region, who have no choice but to 
travel by car or LGV, will be able to use electric 
vehicles with the confidence that they will be able 
to conveniently recharge them (via public or private 
charging points); and in doing so will help to improve 
air quality and reduce tailpipe carbon emissions 
across the conurbation.

3.2 Strategy objectives

• To establish a financially sustainable, publicly 
accessible EVCI network, scalable to growth 
in demand and flexible to changes in vehicle 
technologies.

• To clarify GM’s requirements for a future public 
and privately funded and delivered EVCI network 
that supports the accelerated transition to EVs 
among businesses, residents, and visitors;  
whilst minimising car dependency and private 
car ownership.

• To establish a clear set of priorities for the 
expansion of the publicly funded section of 
the EVCI network, focused on supporting the 
delivery of GM’s Clean Air Plan and 2038 carbon 
neutral target by accelerating the transition to 
EVs for the most polluting vehicles. 

• To provide a clear set of EVCI network strategic 
principles and delivery criteria for publicly funded 
EVCI to highlight the types of infrastructure 
and charging locations that will be supported 
in principle by TfGM and GM local highway 
authorities. 

• To attract and shape private sector investment 
in the EVCI network by providing more clarity 
on GM’s priorities and how TfGM and Local 
Authorities will work with private sector EVCI 
providers and operators; with the ultimate aim of 
establishing a mature, commercial EVCI market.

3.3 EVCI network strategic principles

Through the provision of publicly-funded 
infrastructure, we will set the standard and 
best practice and raise customer expectations, 
encouraging private sector EVCI providers and 
operators to follow suit. We have set out strategic 
principles to help guide the future expansion of 
publicly-funded EVCI. These mutually reinforcing 
strategic principles aim to guide decision making 
at a GM and local level when addressing the key 
challenges that the development of a GM EVCI 
network faces. The Network Strategic Principles are 
set out below and discussed in more detail in the 
following section which sets out our ambitions for 
the public EVCI network.

Greater
Manchester 

Residents 
Businesses 

Visitors

Integrated

Inclusive

Healthy

Environmentally
ResponsibleReliable

Safe and 
Secure

Well 
Maintained 

and Resillient

Viable

£

Integrated

Interoperability between charge points is an issue 
that directly impacts the appeal of EV ownership and 
will be key to ensuring an integrated EVCI network 
for GM that allows EV users to be able to roam 
between charging points without needing separate 
memberships. Different physical and commercial 
systems must be able to work together seamlessly 
and invisibly to the consumer allowing any EV to 
be able to be plugged into any public charge point 
with the electricity that it uses being paid for in a 

Page 130



11

way that is transparent. This will require a standard 
unit of charge (for example p/kWh). Company fleet 
managers and drivers need a simple payment 
solution that operates across the EVCI network 
and allows them to monitor and manage payments 
centrally to run their business effectively. 

The recent upgrade of the GMEV network to Be.EV 
has ensured that about a third of GM’s charging 
devices are now interoperable, meaning customers 
can access these public chargers without needing 
to subscribe to a membership scheme. A Be.EV 
recharging card for company fleets is now being 
tested prior to it being made more widely available. 
Whilst we can ensure that future expansion of the 
Be.EV charge points are interoperable we also need 
to encourage private EVCI providers and operators 
to open up their infrastructure to make the network 
more customer focussed and reliable. We also need 
to lobby central government to use the powers they 
have for greater regulation of the market. In July 
2019, the Secretary of State for Transport announced 
that government wanted to see all newly installed 
rapid and higher-powered charge points provide 
debit or credit card payment by spring 2020. Several 
private EVCI operators have responded, and 41% of 
existing rapid charge points now have contactless 
card payment compared with 28% in 2019. This is a 
step in the right direction but more work needs to be 
done especially on fast charging.

Our Ambition – to improve the EV charging 
experience by having a fully interoperable public 
charging network across Greater Manchester.

Infrastructure should also be integrated with other 
transport modes and e-mobility services where 
appropriate to provide an important element 
of the urban transport mix. Grouping charge 
points together in hubs or mini-hubs will increase 
opportunities to provide other services at the hub 
for example e-bike hire or EV car clubs, where this is 
deemed appropriate. Locating EVCI at park and ride 
sites will allow EV users to access GM’s rapid transit 
network. Locations adjacent to or integrated within, 
other land uses that generate activity throughout 
the day and evening such as leisure / shopping 
destinations, community centres or local centres 
will help to ensure EVCI can be utilised safely and 
conveniently by different EV users at different times.

Our Ambition – to ensure that publicly funded 
EVCI is conveniently located to enable EV users 
to access other sustainable transport modes and 
services, thereby reducing overall reliance on 
private cars.

Environmentally responsible

EVCI should supply zero carbon electricity, ensuring 
supplies are from renewable energy sources 
and utilising generation and storage from the 
local energy system where feasible. The Be.EV 
network uses 100% renewable energy to supply the 
electricity for charge points. Where commercial 
charge point operators are not providing zero 
carbon electricity, we will work to encourage them 
and/or host suppliers to transition to a renewable 
energy supplier. 

The installation, operation and maintenance of 
publicly funded EVCI will use sustainable materials 
and construction methods where feasible. 
Wherever feasible, we will adopt off-grid, on-site 
zero carbon electricity generation such as solar 
panels and battery storage.

Our Ambition – to have an EVCI network 
supplying 100% of electricity generated by 
renewable energy.

Inclusive and customer-focused

Greater Manchester has a wide variety of housing 
stock, including a significant proportion without a 
private drive or a dedicated parking space to allow 
off-street charging. The convenience of being able 
to charge vehicles at home has resulted in queries 
from residents asking if it is legal to run EV charging 
cabling crossing the footpath between properties 
and EVs parked on-street.

The 10 Local Authorities in Greater Manchester all 
have a responsibility to provide safe and accessible 
footpaths. Under the Highways Act 1980 it is illegal 
for any person to place or run a cable or wire along 
or across a public highway including the use of 
pavement drainage channels or a cable protector. 

The government have invited Local Authorities to 
submit applications to the On-Street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme. The purpose of the 
scheme is to increase the availability of on-street 
chargepoints in residential streets where off-
street parking is not available, thereby ensuring 
that on-street parking is not a barrier to realising 
the benefits of owning a plug-in EV. The scheme 
gives local authorities access to grant funding 
that can be used to part-fund the procurement 
and installation of on-street EV chargepoint 
infrastructure for residential needs.

Page 131



12

Owner occupier households that have access to 
off-street parking will be able to access low cost 
EV charging with time of use tariffs at home, 
however this will not apply to households with on-
street parking including many households in the 
private-rented sector or local authority housing. 
Importantly, many of these households are in urban 
areas that have most to gain from the local air 
quality improvements offered by EVs. In Greater 
Manchester, terraced housing and apartments 
make up 43% of the housing stock (Census 2011) 
and these areas typically have limited access to 
off-street parking. Map 1 below shows the Census 
2011 MSOA percentage share of households in 
terraced housing or apartments which are unlikely 
to have access to off-street parking.

A socially equitable GM EVCI network is needed to 
provide affordable alternatives to home charging 
to ensure that those without access to off-street 
parking are not disadvantaged. Failure to provide 
alternatives could delay the transition to EVs for 
many GM residents. 

For residents without the ability to charge EVs 
off-street a number of alternative options to home 
charging will be important in enabling a transition 
to EV use. The expansion of EV Car Clubs operating 
in these residential locations could offer a genuine 
alternative to private EV ownership. Through the 
development of a Shared Mobility Strategy and 
engagement with Car Club operators we will seek 
for opportunities to enable them to transition to 
fully EV fleets and expand the car club offer across 
GM. 

Workplace charging during the day will also be an 
important option . In locations with poor public 
transport accessibility and where employees 
are dependent on car travel; we will work with 
both public and private sector employers to 
encourage them to make use of the Government 
Workplace Charging Grant to establish and expand 
a workplace EV charging offer as part of a wider 
review of workplace car parking requirements for 
employees. We will work with large public sector 
employers such as hospitals, schools and colleges 
and medical centres with workplace car parking to 
determine EVCI requirements. 

For those who commute to work on the rapid transit 
network (making use of existing park and ride 
facilities) there could be the opportunity to charge 
EVs during the working day whilst EVs are parked 
at rail station, Metrolink and bus park and ride sites. 
We will align TfGM’s emerging Access to Public 
Transport Strategy and the development of the 
Travel Hubs programme with this GM EVCI Strategy 
and investigate options to expand the Be.EV 
network at Metrolink park and ride sites and other 
transport interchanges; and we will also work with 
Network Rail and Northern Rail to encourage them 
to provide EV charging infrastructure at rail station 
car parks across Greater Manchester.

Retail and leisure destination car parks with dwell 
times of an hour or more also offer an opportunity 
to provide alternative EV charging options. We 
will investigate opportunities to expand the Be.EV 
network in local authority owned car parks in town 
and district centres and at other local authority 
assets such as car parking at leisure centres, 

Census 2011: Accomodation Type (MSOA)
Terraced and Flats / Apartments (Share %)

Over 80% of households
Manchester Ring Road

60% – 80%
40% – 60%
20% – 40%
Less than 20% of households

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

ASHTON-UNDER-LYNE

MANCHESTER

SALFORD

STOCKPORT

ALTRINCHAM

WIGAN

BOLTON

BURY

Crown copyright and database rights 2021 OS 0100022610. You are granted a non-exclusive, royalty
free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commerical purposes for the period
during which Transport for Greater Manchester makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties
in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Page 132



13

gyms, libraries, community and health centres and 
recreation / sports facilities. We will engage and 
work with private EVCI providers and operators to 
encourage them to install EVCI in retail and leisure 
destinations

Off-street, community charging hubs in residential 
areas could also provide an alternative option 
in some locations. Where there are residential 
areas with significant on-street car parking we 
will investigate opportunities to provide off-street 
community charging hubs on a case by case basis 
where appropriate locations can be found and look 
at options that will support residents to use these 
facilities for overnight charging where possible. 
These community charging hubs could potentially 
include charging bays for EV Car Club vehicles as 
well as other mobility services such as cycle hire or 
e-bike hire facilities, offering residents alternatives 
to private car ownership. We will establish an on-
line system for local residents and communities 
to register an interest in trialling community hub 
charging infrastructure.

Our Ambition – to provide accessible alternatives 
to home charging that enable those who can’t 
charge at home to transition to EV.

An interoperable Be.EV network represents an 
important step in improving the inclusiveness of 
EV charging in Greater Manchester. There is now 
an easy-to-use App and web-site for customers 
to access Be.EV. However, a simplified and 
standardised full public EVCI network is required 
that is easy to use and accessible to as many EV 
users and vehicles as possible. An integrated, 
interoperable network that it is open to the broadest 
customer base possible will be more inclusive. 
We will work with private charge point operators 
to encourage interoperability and improve access 
through innovation. 

Disabled drivers should not be excluded from 
transitioning to EV because they are unable to 
access public EVCI. We will work with our Disability 
Design Reference Group to develop our Design 
Guidance for EVCI.

Our Ambition – further expansion of publicly 
funded EVCI to be designed to provide for 
disabled EV drivers with step free access and 
larger parking bays for disabled access.

A customer focused EVCI network should include 
convenient locations, with up to 24/7 access. EVCI 
needs to be in visible locations to increase visibility 
for EV users and raise awareness of the network 
amongst potential EV users to give them the 
confidence to transition to an EV.

Our Ambition – to provide multiple EVCI charging 
points clustered in hubs or mini-hubs in highly 
visible convenient locations.

Well maintained and resilient

A well-functioning public EVCI network will become 
increasingly more important as the transition to 
EVs increases, and the network will need to be 
well maintained to ensure charge points are in a 
safe and usable condition. A poorly maintained 
network will also impact on reliability for customers 
and the viability of the network through the loss 
of charging events. We have recently invested in 
upgrading the Be.EV network to ensure it is fit for 
purpose. Leading by example and raising customer 
expectations will encourage private EVCI providers 
and operators to ensure their infrastructure is well 
maintained. We will continue to work with our EVCI 
Service Provider to ensure that the Be.EV network 
is maintained to a good standard, to adapt it and to 
improve its resilience. 

The large-scale transition to EVs will place pressure 
on the electricity power supply and we have worked 
and will continue to work with the Electricity 
North West (the Distribution Network Operator) 
and Independent Distribution Network Operators 
(IDNOs) to identify areas with electrical grid 
constraints and to ensure that there is sufficient 
capacity across Greater Manchester. As regulated 
infrastructure providers, ENW and IDNOs have 
obligations to provide capacity ahead of need and 
invest to remove constraints.

Publicly funded EVCI should be future proofed so 
it is able to be expanded as the transition to EVs 
increases demand; and is able to be adapted to 
incorporate new developments in technology and 
innovation. Grouping charge points together in hubs 
or mini-hubs will allow for future expansion and aid 
the efficiency of maintenance improving resilience 
against broken or faulty infrastructure. Data on the 
usage of the network and customer feedback will 
be used to monitor and improve the operation and 
maintenance of the network and determine future 
requirements as demand grows.

Our Ambition – to ensure that the Be.EV network 
is maintained in a good state of repair and that it 
is resilient to future increase in demand.

Page 133



14

Safe and secure

Safety must be a fundamental consideration in the 
design of the GM EVCI network. Publicly funded 
EVCI will be well designed so that the operation 
and maintenance of the network is safe for the EV 
users, the EVCI service provider and other road 
users including pedestrians and cyclists. EVCI will 
be placed in visible, open locations overlooked by 
nearby activity to provide natural surveillance, with 
good natural and artificial lighting, and security 
(including CCTV) for vehicles left over night. This will 
help ensure that concerns around personal security 
and crime (including the perception of crime) are 
not barriers to using EVCI at all times of the day and 
night. Grouping charge points together in hubs or 
mini-hubs will contribute to safety and security and 
will make it more economical to provide required 
security measures.

Our Ambition – to ensure that people feel safe 
using the public EVCI network at all times of day 
and night and that perceptions of crime are not a 
significant barrier to using the network.

Reliable

A reliable EVCI network will be essential if people 
are to have confidence in EVCI provision, availability 
and maintenance to minimise range anxiety and 
promote the transition to EVs. The recent upgrade 
of the Be.EV network has provided more reliable 
charge points with technical solutions that allow 
EV users to check a real time status of individual 
charge point availability. We will support the 
Government proposals to set a data standard that 
private EVCI operators need to meet when making 
public-chargepoint-data openly available and lobby 
for this to include live ‘availability’ data. 

Groups of charging points in a hub or mini-hub, will 
also increase the likelihood (real and perceived) that 
a charger will be available for use on arrival. A well-
maintained network will be needed to ensure the 
timely repair of broken or damaged charge points 
and we will work with our EVCI service provider to 
ensure the Be.EV network continues to be reliable. 
We will support the government proposal for a 
minimum reliability standard for all EVCI operators 
and the proposals for all EVCI operators to provide 
a 24/7 call helpline for consumers so that help can 
be provided to consumers who are struggling to 
access or use a charge point.

Other challenges to reliability include the blocking 
of charging bays by people parking conventional 
cars and EV users overstaying once charging 
is complete or using a charging bay to just park 
their EV. We will need to find solutions to the 
potential blocking of charging bays which could 
include enforcement and financial penalties for 
overstaying. Bay markings and signage will be used 
to identify EV charging bays and Traffic Regulation 

Orders used to prevent blocking of EV bays and 
charge points. EV charging systems can use both 
technical and behavioural solutions to ensure that 
charging infrastructure remains available for use 
when needed. Data on the usage of the network 
and customer feedback will be used to monitor and 
improve the reliability of the network.

Our Ambition – to develop and maintain a reliable 
EVCI network that offers available charging 
solutions that reduce range anxiety and give 
people the confidence to transition to EVs.

Supporting a Healthier Greater Manchester

The air quality emissions benefits of EVs are 
discussed elsewhere in this strategy and clearly 
a well-planned and delivered EVCI network will 
encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs, 
with associated clean air benefits to the GM 
population.

EVCI should also be integrated with other GM 
initiatives that encourage active travel. EVCI 
locations will form part of a wider ‘place making’ with 
the siting of EVCI considering adjacent uses. For 
example, EVCI could be integrated with “parklets” 
which provide seating, cycle parking, e-bike or 
e-scooter charging, green space, and play areas.

Any on-street EVCI should avoid creating 
obstructions to other users of the highway, and 
particularly those with reduced vision or mobility 
or those using pushchairs or prams. EVCI should 
not discourage the use of active travel modes or 
reduce the space available for people travelling 
on foot or by bike. GMCA’s Interim Active Travel 
Design Guide recommends that a footway width of 
1.4m should be regarded as an absolute minimum 
at localised constraints, and a minimum of 2.0m 
should be provided at all other locations. This 
width must be clear, continuous and free from any 
obstacles or obstructions such as bollards, parked 
vehicles, or signs. To ensure that any on-street EVCI 
does not create obstructions and footway widths 
are maintained, there should be a presumption 
in favour of carriageway build-outs unless this 
is impractical. Where it is necessary to position 
EVCI on the footway it should not create localised 
constraints of less than 1.4m. 

Locations will also be considered which allow EV 
users to charge their vehicle whilst undertaking 
active travel for the final stages of their journey. 
Destination charging at locations for a leisure, 
recreation or sporting activity will enable EV users 
to charge their vehicles whilst pursuing activities 
that support their physical health and mental 
wellbeing.

Our Ambition – to develop an EVCI network that 
supports people in leading active, healthy lives.

Page 134



15

Viable

The operation and maintenance of publicly funded 
EVCI should remain cost neutral wherever possible 
so as to minimise public subsidy. User tariffs should 
support the day-to-day costs of operation and 
maintenance and the publicly funded EVCI should 
not be subsidised by non EV owning residents or 
the 31% of Greater Manchester households that do 
not own a car. The location of charge points has a 
strong influence on how often and how easily they 
are used by residents, businesses and visitors 
and therefore how much revenue they generate. 
Locations for EVCI can lead to a potential loss 
of existing parking spaces in local authority car 
parks or existing areas of car parking serving local 
communities. Community engagement will be an 
important aspect of locational decisions and there 
is clearly a need to focus investment on EV user 
groups that will generate the highest utilisation 
rates. EVCI locations that have community support 
and offer justifiable utilisation rates and value for 
money should be prioritised.

Capital investment into the network will be sought 
from a balance of local and central government 
funding. Greater value for money can be achieved 
through cost efficiencies associated with grouping 
charge points together in hubs or mini-hubs and 
future proofing those locations for possible future 
expansion. Utilising existing public sector land 
assets will also help reduce capital costs and avoid 
third party ownership agreements.

Our Ambition – in the medium term, to develop 
a self-sustaining publicly funded EVCI network 
that is not dependent on public subsidy.

It is acknowledged that some financial support will 
be required in the short term for public intervention 
in the market that will encourage the transition 
to EVs and grow the demand for public charging 
required for private EVCI providers and operators to 
commit to investment.

In the long term there is a need for private sector 
investment to build and operate a self-sustaining 
public EVCI network, aligned with the objectives 
and principles of this EVCI strategy. It is essential 
that a viable, matured commercial market is 
developed to meet future demand and ensure 
continued maintenance and improvements to the 
network. This will allow public sector intervention in 
the market to be scaled back over time.

3.4 EV tariff

When it was first introduced, EV users could access 
the GMEV network for free. This allowed GM to test 
the new scheme whilst providing an incentive for 
users to purchase electric vehicles. However, with 
the expansion of the EVCI network and the increase 
in usage of this network, it is now appropriate to 
introduce a tariff. 

The tariff will need to be within the market range of 
EV tariffs in Greater Manchester and align with the 
GMTS 2040 Fares and Ticketing Objectives in the 
following way:

• Simplicity – Customers can easily understand 
and choose options to pay for their electricity 
charge.

• Convenience – Transactions are quick and easy 
for the user and delivers efficiencies to the 
operator.

• Value for Money – Users see the tariff as a fair 
price for the service they get.

• Transparency and Trustworthiness – Users have 
a clear understanding of pricing and product.

• Inclusivity - related to the affordability of public 
charging

• Balanced Funding – Tariffs revenue will offset 
costs to operate and maintain the network and 
reduce subsidises.

Page 135



16

04. Developing an EV charging 
network for Greater Manchester

4.1 Current network

There are three main types of EV charging – slow, 
fast and rapid. These represent the power output, 
and therefore charging speeds, available to charge 
an electric vehicle.

• Slow Chargers (3.5kW) – are a common method 
of charging EVs at home overnight; due to their 
slow charge they are uncommon in publicly 
accessible networks.

• Fast Chargers (between 7kW to 23kW for AC, 
and 10kW to 22kW for DC) – are used for home 
charging and at destinations where vehicle dwell 
times are likely to be for an hour or more such as 
at workplaces, park and ride sites or long stay 
car parks for destinations such as town centres, 
supermarkets or leisure centres.

• • Rapid Chargers (between 43kW to 44kW 
for AC, and 50kW to 62.5kW for DC) – are the 
fastest way to charge an EV and are therefore 
found at locations close to main routes and 
motorways. Rapid chargers can deliver up to 
80% battery charge in around 30 minutes.  
There are also Ultra-rapid chargers with  
a charging output greater than 62.5kW  
(including up to 350kW).

An important factor in encouraging the transition 
to EV is the EVCI network size and availability 
of suitable charging points.  However, research 
suggests that provision of EVCI alone will not be 
enough to encourage a speedy transition and 
therefore additional measures will be required 
such as the continuation of the Government grants 
to help reduce the purchase price of EVs and 
promotional and behavioural change programs.

Currently, GM’s EV registration is significantly 
behind the national average EV registrations as a 
percentage of the total vehicle population. As part 
of the GM public conversation on the clean air plan 
proposals, the availability of charging infrastructure 
was cited as a key barrier for businesses and 
individuals in switching to an electric vehicle. GM’s 
EVCI provision is also below the national average 
and North West average of charging devices per 
capita. Table 1 below shows the Jan 2021 position.

Region

E
V

 R
eg

is
tr

at
io

n 
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l f
le

et

E
V

 C
ha

rg
in

g 
d

ev
ic

es

C
ha

rg
in

g 
d

ev
ic

es
 p

er
 

10
0

,0
0

0
 p

op
ul

at
io

n

United Kingdom 0.7% 20,775 31.1

North West 0.4% 1,410 19.2

Greater 
Manchester 0.3% 346 12

The EVCI network in GM should facilitate, not inhibit, 
the transition from petrol and diesel car and light 
goods vehicles to EVs by being of sufficient scale 
and type to meet users’ needs. There is a need to 
ensure that the absence of charging infrastructure 
isn’t a barrier to this transition to EVs. There is also a 
need to encourage and accelerate the transition to 
EVs and ensure that network comprehensiveness 
avoids any gaps that may reduce confidence in the 
ability to charge amongst different EV markets. 

In GM, the current publicly funded EVCI network, 
Be.EV accounts for approximately a third of the 
charge points, with the remaining two thirds 
delivered by over 20 private sector providers and 
operators.

Page 136



17

36.87

12.688.26

7.67

6.78

5.60

3.83

2.65

2.36

5.01
2.36

1.77
1.77

1.21
1.18

Be.Ev Pod Point Tesla Destination GeniePoint
Key

BP Plus Other Life Vend Electric
Charge Your Car InstaVolt Tesla Supercharger
Ecotricity Osprey Hubsta ZeroNet

% of devices in GM by top 15 network providers

80% of the publicly funded charge points are made 
up of 7kW (fast) chargers and 20% of 50kW (rapid) 
chargers, whereas private operators have 91% of 
their network composed of chargers with a speed 
superior to 7kW. The private sector operators have a 
very different business model and charging speed 
offer compared to the existing publicly funded 
network.

The private sector business model is typically 
focused on:

• rapid (and ultra-rapid charging) to achieve the 
best commercial returns on investment; and 

• providing customers with an experience as 
close as possible to the ‘convenience’ of owning 
an Internal Combustion Engine vehicle and 
therefore replicating the current conventional 
behaviours of refuelling.

4.2 The scale of the network  
required by 2025

A vision-led adaptive planning approach is required 
to enable and accelerate the transition to EVs 
across GM. Projections can be made of public 
EVCI that will be required in the future based upon 
assumptions of general EV transition. To enable 
such projections to be determined, a model has 
been developed that projects the number of public 
fast and rapid chargers required for a given fleet 
proportion of electric vehicles.

Planning Scenario

The development of the EVCI strategy needs a 
Planning Scenario to allow a plan of interventions to 
be developed, and this in turn needs an input level 
of transition to electric vehicles to aim for.

National Grid’s 2019 Future Energy Scenarios set 
out 4 main scenarios for electric vehicle transition. 
The scenario with the fastest uptake in the near 
term, called “Community Renewables”, projects 
that 8.18% of vehicles will be electric in 2025, rising 
to 75% 2035.

Using the FES 2019 ‘Community Renewables’ 
scenario of 8.18% of the whole UK vehicle fleet 
being EVs in 2025, this projection gives a Planning 
Scenario with charger requirements of 2,700 fast, 
and 300 rapid public chargers in GM by 2025. As 
of February 2021, there are 264 fast and 59 rapid 
public chargers in GM.

The Planning Scenario indicates that GM requires 
significant expansion of publicly accessible 
charging infrastructure in the next few years to 
2025. Between 2025 and 2030, demand for public 
charging infrastructure is projected to increase 
significantly, however, the technology surrounding 
charging an EV is rapidly being developed and 
continuously changing; in turn, the charging  
needs of EV users is likely to change over the 
coming years. 

Beyond 2025, there is a significant degree of 
uncertainty around projecting demand for EVCI 
depending on the rate and distribution of EV 
transition over the medium to long term. This 
highlights the importance of continuous review of 
market needs in order to be able to both respond to 
and shape future demand.

Page 137



18

4.3 The need for public sector 
intervention

Whilst the private sector contribution to expanding 
the GM EVCI network will clearly be invaluable, 
currently there is limited evidence that private 
EVCI providers and operators are delivering at the 
scale and pace needed to meet the 2025 projected 
demand, or the required type of infrastructure in the 
right locations. 

Therefore, there is a continued need for public 
sector intervention, supported by a clear policy 
position, to influence the scale and distribution of 
EVCI investment that is required. However, there 
is a need to avoid an oversupply of publicly funded 
charge points, as this may result in:

• undermining our ambitions for more trips to be 
made on foot, by bike and by public transport;

• under-utilised assets requiring ongoing revenue 
support to cover the cost of operation and 
maintenance;

• unused charging bays with spaces left empty for 
long periods of the day causing issues in areas 
where there is already a high demand for limited 
car parking; and

• discouraging private sector investment.

It is likely that, without public sector intervention 
in EVCI now, a number of gaps in the market will 
emerge as set out below.

• Inclusive market coverage

The private sector will not invest significantly ahead 
of demand and there is a clear correlation between 
the early adopters of EV technology and average 
salary. There is a risk that private sector provision 
will be initially limited to more affluent areas or 
destinations where the investment returns would 
be attractive. Leaving less affluent areas without 
EV charging solutions that will act as a barrier  
to EV transition.

• Delay in delivery

Due to the requirement to ensure a short-term return 
on investment, the private sector may take a largely 
reactive approach, following demand for EVCI and 
delaying investment until returns are attractive. This 
could delay rather than promote transition to EVs.

• Interoperability

There are currently more than 20 different private 
operators active in Greater Manchester and 
potentially additional companies seeking to gain 
market share for profitable locations. Whilst some 
attempt has been made by the private sector to 
ensure EV users can access sites with different 
operators, the current service is far from perfect or 
integrated.

In the short term there is a need for public sector 
intervention in the market to fill these gaps and 
invest in locations and types of charging that the 
private EVCI providers and operators will currently 
find unattractive; not only to meet future demand 
and accelerate the transition to EVs but also to 
ensure the ECVI network is developed in a way that 
delivers our wider ambitions for transport across 
GM. Public sector intervention will also demonstrate 
commitment to EV technologies and encourage 
investment from the private sector.

In the long term we need to encourage and leverage 
private sector investment to build and operate a 
self-sustaining public network supported by the 
right policy framework. It is essential that a viable, 
matured commercial market is in place to meet 
future demand and ensure continued maintenance 
and improvements to the network.

4.4 EV User Profiles

To aid a better understanding of the EV market 
and where the focus for public (and private) sector 
investment might be, we have identified a number 
of market segments based on potential EV user 
profiles and charging behaviours and requirements. 
For clarity, this strategy does not cover charging 
infrastructure requirements for Heavy Goods 
Vehicles (HGVs) or buses. Potential EV users have 
been segmented into EV user profiles shown 
in Table 2 below and further discussion on the 
development of these EV User Profiles is included 
in Appendix A. 

Vehicle Type User Profiles

Taxis

Hackney cab taxi 
drivers

Private Hire Vehicle 
(PHV) drivers

Light Goods Vehicles 
(LGVs)

Company fleets

Small and medium-
sized enterprises 
(SMEs)

Privately owned/leased 
LGVs

Local Authority and 
other public sector 
fleets

Local Authority / public 
sector employees

EV Car Clubs EV Car Club users

Private Cars

Residents with off-
street parking at home

Residents with on-
street parking at home

Visitors

Table 2 EV User Profiles

Page 138



19

4.5 EVCI Typologies

In many areas of Greater Manchester it is not 
considered to be physically possible or financially 
viable to install on-street, publicly accessible 
charge points in residential areas to the scale 
required to meet demand from private car 
ownership transitioning to EVs.

Whilst there may be appropriate locations for 
well planned, designed and managed on-street 
charging, rather than providing large amounts 
of on-street publicly accessible charge points, 
the GM EVCI Strategy will focus on providing 
alternatives designed to support residents and 
small businesses that do not have access to home 
charging.

A set of basic EVCI Typologies have been developed 
by considering charging behaviours, dwell times 
and charger types and assigning these to particular 
locations or land uses. Further discussion on 
the development of these EVCI Typologies and 
alternatives to large-scale on-street charging 
provision is included in Appendix B.

Typologies

Home Charging
Private home or 
apartment parking  
off street

On Street charging On street parking bays

Business and 
Residential 
Community Charging

Car parks in 
commercial areas or 
residential areas with 
high levels of on-street 
parking

Destination

Work-place parking 

Town/local centre and 
city centre car parks 

Park and Ride sites 

Retail parks 

Visitor attractions

On route

Motorway Service 
stations and existing 
petrol stations

Lay-bys near areas of 
business activity

Table 3 EVCI Typologies

• Home charging often overnight (available to 
EV users with access to off-street parking) 
which takes advantage of the long dwell times 
of vehicles and is best suited to slow or  
fast chargers.

• On-street charging at on-street parking bays 
which could include a broad range of dwell 
times and accommodate fast or rapid chargers 
depending on likely dwell times.

• Business and Residential community 
charging (for EV users unable to charge at 
home) also able to take advantage of the long 
dwell times of vehicles and is best suited to  
fast chargers.

• Destination charging, defined as locations 
other than where the EV user resides, which 
includes a broad range of dwell times and 
can accommodate fast, rapid and ultra-rapid 
chargers depending on the average dwell times 
of vehicles.

• On-route charging which would typically 
require rapid and ultra-rapid chargers due to the 
higher proportions of short dwell times.

Page 139



20

05. The Case for Public 
Sector Investment to support 
the transition to EVs

5.1 The role of the public sector in 
influencing and delivering a GM  
EVCI network.

There are a number of ways in which TfGM and the 
10 GM Local Authorities, working in partnership 
with other stakeholders, can aid the delivery of a 
GM EVCI network that encourages and accelerates 
the transition to EVs. Alongside the deployment of 
publicly funded EVCI, the public sector can lead by 
example in the transition of their own fleets to EV 
and also use Local Planning Authority powers to 
ensure new development makes provision for EVCI.

5.2 How we will invest in expanding 
the publicly funded EVCI network.

Deployment of publicly funded EVCI

In terms of deployment of publicly funded EVCI, the 
priority will be projects which support the GM Clean 
Air Plan (CAP) and 2038 carbon neutral ambitions 
by aiding the accelerated transition to EVs for the 
most polluting vehicles; providing opportunities for 
those businesses most affected by the GM Clean 
Air Zone (CAZ) to transition to EVs and supporting 
those who will find it most difficult to transition 
to EVs due to home charging constraints. These 
projects will also help stimulate private sector 
investment by demonstrating a commitment to the 
transition to EVs and confidence in the market.

The most sustainable solution for transport and 
energy systems overall is for publicly funded EVCI 
hubs or mini-hubs of varying power requirements 
and scales to correlate with destination dwell times 
and charging behaviours. Whilst a mix of fast and 
rapid chargers will allow EV users to choose the 
most appropriate charging speed for their needs, 
the particular mix will be determined by the likely 
vehicle dwell times at any given location. 

The expansion of an EVCI network for GM requires 
a high proportion of fast chargers as this enables 
a more sustainable form of charging that fits with 
electricity grid capacity and most vehicle duty 

cycles. This approach enables deployment of EVCI 
with the lowest impact on the electricity grid  
(and therefore costs).

Initial investment will provide a blend of EVCI 
that prioritises meeting the demand likely to 
be generated by the most polluting vehicles 
transitioning to EVs to support achieving air quality 
and carbon targets.

The deployment of publicly funded infrastructure 
must also be aligned with a business engagement 
programme with both public sector and private 
sector employers to encourage the provision of 
workplace EV charging infrastructure in locations 
with poor public transport access.

Deployment of EVCI by the EVCI Service Provider

GM has appointed an EV Charging Infrastructure 
Service Provider (EVCISP) to deliver a range of 
EVCI solutions through a 7-year EVCI contract. The 
EVCI Contract allows for the EVCISP to make their 
own investments in EV charge points to aid the 
development of the network. This Supplier Owned 
Infrastructure (SOI) will be aligned with the EVCI 
Strategy objectives.

Leading by example

It is important that TfGM and the GM Local 
Authorities along with other public agencies show 
leadership and demonstrate a commitment 
towards the transition of EVs. TfGM and GM Local 
Authorities already have a number of EVs in their 
fleet and the transition should include a review 
of their respective fleet requirements and the 
development of a shared approach to purchasing or 
leasing further EVs. Vehicle replacement strategies 
should be agreed so that a clear pathway to carbon 
neutral Local Authority fleets can be outlined. 
Working together, GM Local Authorities could also 
include a provision for EVs when tendering for fleet 
management services. To facilitate the transition of 
fleets to EVs, EVCI should be installed or expanded 
where required at Local Authority offices and 
depots and opportunities for sharing charging 
infrastructure should be investigated. This will act 

Page 140



21

as useful demonstrations to other businesses of a 
commitment to the technology to help encourage 
transition to EVs amongst the business community. 
Lessons learnt through the transition process should 
be shared with other fleet managers in the public 
and private sectors as part of a wider business 
support package. In planning their fleet transition, 
organisations should also review whether they can 
scale-back the overall size of their vehicle fleet and 
whether alternative modes, such as e-bike/e-cargo 
bikes, could be used to support their operations.

Development of Planning Policy

Planning policies and guidance provide opportunity 
for GM’s Local Planning Authorities to facilitate and 
coordinate the development of an EVCI network 
that supports and encourages the transition to EVs 
in areas beyond the publicly funded and controlled 
EVCI network.

By developing and adopting policies and 
guidance, local planning authorities can ensure 
EVCI is integrated and normalised within new 
developments from the design stage. Policies can 
be used to set expected requirements for provision 
of EV charge points in new residential, workplace 
and commercial developments, offering a clear 
framework for developers to plan, design and fund 
the provision of EVCI as part of the development. 

The physical location, design, and management 
of EVCI as part of new development can be 
coordinated through planning policies and design 
guidance. Policies can ensure new developments 
are designed with the infrastructure needed to 
expand EV charge point provision in future as 
demand increases. This can be done through 

requirements for both active and passive EVCI. 
Active charge points refer to spaces that are 
fully wired and ready to use from the outset of 
the development. Passive provision refers to the 
provision of the necessary underlying infrastructure 
(power supply capacity and the ducting installed 
within car parking facilities) to enable simple 
expansion of charge points at a future date. 

To ensure that adequate provision of EV charging 
infrastructure is provided in new developments a 
number of factors need to be considered including:

• The development type;

• EV user profiles, vehicle dwell times and 
charging behaviour;

• Potential for EV Car Club requirements;

• Future management, operation and 
maintenance requirements; and

• Passive and Active charge point provision

New developments within GM should make 
adequate provision of EVCI to meet demand and 
encourage and accelerate the transition to EVs. To 
achieve this, new developments should be required 
to provide a minimum number of active EV charge 
points and offer enough passive provision to enable 
efficient expansion as demand increases. Each 
Local Planning Authority will develop their own 
Local Plan policies relating to the provision of EVCI 
in new development. The recommendations set 
out in the table below are intended to aid policy 
development and act as supplementary guidance.

Development type Active 
provision

Passive 
provision

Residential

Within property-based parking e.g. driveway and/or garage 1 per 
dwelling -

Designated off-street residential parking 1 per 
dwelling -

With non-designated off-street parking 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Commercial

Office / general industrial 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Retail uses 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Sports centres, gyms and leisure facilities 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Other
Education & non-residential institutions 10% of 

spaces
20% of 
spaces

Petrol filling and motorway service stations 10% of 
spaces

20% of 
spaces

Table 4 Guidance on provision of EVCI in new development
Page 141



22

5.3 Priorities for Public Investment  
to 2025

The initial focus for investment will be to provide a 
blend of EVCI that prioritises meeting the demand 
likely to be generated by the most polluting vehicles 
transitioning to EVs. We will target businesses and 
vehicles most affected by the CAZ.

The taxi trade

We have undertaken detailed engagement with 
the taxi (Hackney cab and PHV) trade and further 
analysis of this particular market segment’s 
charging requirements. Clean Air Plan modelling 
estimates that 15% of all hackney cab and PHV 
trips will need to be made by EV by 2025 in order to 
achieve air quality compliance.  

Modelling has been undertaken to understand what 
this means in terms of EV charging infrastructure. 
This estimated that between 34 (low scenario), 
90 (central scenario) and 190 (high scenario) rapid 
charging devices will be needed by 2025 to support 
that transition.

Currently secured funding represents targeted 
investment of approximately 60 rapid chargers 
(in total) dedicated for use by the taxi trade, in 
combination with the Clean Taxi Fund (CTF), which 
aims to provide the financial support needed to 
transition to EVs.

EV Car Clubs

The E-Hubs trial project is funded by the European 
Regional Development Fund and aims to 
demonstrate innovations in technology focused on 
low carbon shared mobility.  It provides for car clubs 
using Electric Vehicles (EVs) and e-cargo bikes for-
hire in co-locations.  It is intended that the project 
will have a number of  benefits including a reduction 
in carbon emissions, expediting the reduction 
of car ownership, making electric vehicles more 
accessible to the general public, encouraging more 
active travel practices and creating a knowledge 
bank of how to embed the use of an EV car-club 
and e-Cargo Bikes into Greater Manchester, 
creating a blueprint for further mobility roll-out. 
The E-Hubs trial project has identified 5 potential 
locations which include EVCI dedicated to an EV 
Car Club operator.

In partnership with EV car club operators we will 
look for further opportunities to expand the EV car 
club offer in suitable locations across GM making 
shared electric vehicles more accessible.

Priority locations for community hub charging 
infrastructure

Through further research and engagement with 
businesses and communities we will look for 
opportunities to trial a small number of EVCI 
community hubs in locations where high demand is 
aligned with constraints on home charging or where 
demand from significant EV LGV business activity 
may justify public investment. We will establish an 
on-line system for local businesses and residential 
communities to register an interest in trialling 
community hub charging infrastructure so that, 
funding permitting, we can direct investment to 
areas of identified demand.

Page 142



23
Page 143



24

06. Delivery and monitoring

6.1 Existing commitments

Delivery is currently being managed by TfGM on 
behalf of the Greater Manchester Local Authorities. 
GM has appointed an EV Charging Infrastructure 
Service Provider (EVCISP) to deliver a range of EVCI 
solutions through a 7-year EVCI contract to expand, 
upgrade, re-brand and maintain the existing 
publicly owned EVCI. 

The EVCI contract involves two phases; the first 
phase involves the transition from GMEV to Be.EV 
including the upgrade of 118 old GMEV fast chargers 
to new fast charge points (which is now complete) 
and the delivery of the Early Measures project 
delivering 24 new rapid charging points across 
22 sites (including 1 site which is a dedicated taxi 
charge point).

The second phase will include the delivery of 
additional publicly funded EVCI projects and the 
potential for the EVCISP to fund and deliver their 
own charge points. 

Through the OZEV taxi project we have secured 
funding to install 30  rapid chargers dedicated to 
taxi use across GM by 2022. On-line engagement 
with the taxi trade and consultation with ENWL 
is underway to aid the determination of sites for 
deployment. 

Over the coming years we will continue to seek and 
secure further funding opportunities that align with 
our priorities for investment.

6.2 Site prioritisation process

Site selection for EV charging points is important 
as the choice of location influences both costs 
and usage. TfGM, through delivery and operation 
of Greater Manchester’s publicly funded Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure, has identified the 
following key challenges in site selection.

Land ownership – Permissions and legal 
requirements can add delays to installing EVCI 
on third party land, including where this is land 
owned by the Local Authority. In the case of large 
organisations, they may also have their own 
national contracts with EVCI providers. There are 
also costly feasibility studies required to ensure 
the host’s power supply has the necessary spare 
capacity.

Accessibility - On-street locations often do 
not have the carriageway space needed to 
accommodate the charging infrastructure and 
relevant electricity supply support e.g. chargers and 
feeder pillar.  Off street locations can be in quieter 
areas that may bring additional security/access 
problems, particularly if the area requires closures 
at certain times.

Electricity network - Availability of the required 
power, particularly for high powered chargers 
(50kw+) can be an issue. Connection costs vary 
from site to site as each site has varied levels of 
available electricity network capacity. By clustering 
chargers together in hubs or mini-hubs, electricity 
network costs are reduced as well as saving on 
other civil engineering works such as cable length 
and trenching work.

An approach has been developed to identify 
suitable, available and sustainable locations 
to create a pipeline of sites to deploy public EV 
Charging Infrastructure informed by EV user 
profile needs, dwell times and battery re-charge 
requirements.

Site identification has focused on off-street parking 
locations (rather than on-street). This has naturally 
led to favouring existing car parks as potential 
sites, with a preference for Council-owned car 
parks and TfGM Park & Ride car parks to minimise 
coordination and costs associated with third 
parties.

Locations have been prioritised that serve areas 
that are likely to have greatest demand for EVCI 
in the near-term to ensure charge points achieve 
the required number of charge events and are not 
underutilised or stranded assets. Locations with 
existing space to accommodate EVCI and good 
network capacity that minimises land acquisition 
and grid connection costs have also been 
prioritised.

6.3 Design guidance

Design guidance is being developed to standardise 
publicly funded EV charging bay markings 
and signage across GM and ensure that the 
infrastructure is accessible to all included disabled 
EV users. Consistent and clear bay markings and 
signage for public charging infrastructure will help 
to ensure that EV users can easily identify and 

Page 144



25

find public charging infrastructure; and improve 
perceptions about the prevalence of EVCI across 
GM. It is recommended that, where possible, 
the design guidance is also applied to new EVCI 
installed by other providers and operators to help 
achieve our network ambition for standardised EVCI 
that is instantly recognisable by the general public.

6.4 Market research and engagement

Public engagement

To give GM businesses and residents the 
confidence to transition to EVs, they need to be 
aware of the availability of appropriate and reliable 
charging infrastructure, to address issues of 
range anxiety.  There is a need to create a public 
engagement campaign, to engage the public in 
the transition to EVs and to demonstrate that the 
required EVCI is available. A public campaign to 
highlight the level of investment and raise public 
awareness of the expansion to EVCI network should 
be run alongside the roll-out of publicly funded EVCI 
across GM.

Business engagement

It is anticipated that the initial future growth in EV 
users will be greater amongst the company car 
market than the private car market.  Company 
car and private business make up the bulk of 
new car registrations within the UK accounting 
for approximately 55% of new car registrations 
in 2019 with 1.23m new car registrations going to 
business users and in addition, LGVs contributed 
365,778 sales to the fleet sector. (Business vehicle 
registrations include both vehicles registered 
directly to a company, for example commercial 
goods vehicles and fleet vehicles, which are 
vehicles purchased by a company for the intention 
of use by staff, for example as company cars.) In 
2019 business registrations accounted for 2.6% of 
new vehicle registrations whilst fleet registrations 
accounted for 52.4% of new vehicle registrations.

In 2019 the UK Government announced it would 
revise taxation processes impacting the ownership 
of company cars (Benefit in kind, BIK), and as of 
20/21 BEV (Battery Electric Vehicles) are no longer 
required to pay company car tax. A number of 
large vehicle manufacturers, including EV only 
manufacturers such as Tesla, are beginning to 
actively target the business and fleet market, 
advertising the taxation relief benefits.

A programme of targeted engagement is required, 
in partnership with ENWL, to work with both public 
and private sector employers in locations with poor 
public transport access, to encourage the use 
of the Government Workplace Charging Grant to 
establish and expand a workplace EV charging offer 
for their employees.

Engagement with local business and  
residential communities

There is a need to establish a on-line system for 
engagement with local business and residential 
communities to enable them to register an 
interest in establishing community hub charging 
infrastructure in their area so that, funding 
permitting, investment can be directed to areas of 
identified demand.

Engagement with private EVCI providers  
and operators

To better understand their investment priorities  
and encourage them to install EVCI in the retail  
and leisure destinations where agreements are 
already in place.

6.5 Monitoring the scale and 
performance of the network

For each step along the journey of transitioning 
to EVs we need to ensure that an under provision 
of EVCI is not prohibiting the transition for each 
of the identified user groups. We also need to 
ensure that the GM EVCI network remains fit 
for purpose. We therefore need to monitor EV 
registrations across Greater Manchester and the 
utilisation and performance of the Be.EV brand 
as well as the level of private sector provision, to 
assess if the expansion of the network is ahead 
of demand and our network ambitions are being 
realised. We will also need to maintain continued 
dialogue with representatives of the different user 
groups and gain insightful feedback regarding the 
provision and location of publicly funded EVCI. 
A regular user group could be established and 
utilised to provide feedback from a network of local 
experts.  Monitoring will be regularly reviewed to 
ensure we are keeping up to date with EV market 
developments. If the transition to EVs exceeds 
modelled assumptions, we must be able to respond 
quickly to ensure that the GM EVCI network 
continues to meet with demand. 

The technology surrounding charging an EV is 
rapidly being developed and continuously changing. 
It will be important to maintain an understanding 
of these changes as they arise and how they will 
influence our EVCI network and the way in which 
EV users charge across GM. With advances in 
technology the charging needs of EV users are 
likely to change over the coming years. To ensure 
we continue to deliver an EVCI network that meets 
the needs of businesses, residents, and visitors 
to GM, we will need to keep abreast of emerging 
technologies and charging options as they develop, 
to ensure infrastructure remains fit for purpose.

Page 145



26

07. Final conclusions 
and next steps

Availability of and access to charging infrastructure 
is recognised as a critical barrier to the adoption of 
EVs. GM requires significant expansion of publicly 
accessible EV charging infrastructure in the coming 
years to encourage and accelerate the transition 
to EVs in order to meet its transport emissions 
targets. 

The requirement for appropriate vehicle charging 
infrastructure is even more critical given that the 
Government has now committed to phasing out 
the sale of new petrol and diesel vehicles by 2030. 
In the short term there is a need for public sector 
intervention in the market to influence the scale, 
type and distribution of EVCI investment that is 
required. 

This EVCI Strategy sets out the vision-led adaptive 
planning approach to the provision of charging 
infrastructure, that we intend to adopt to support a 
rapid transition towards a carbon neutral transport 
system. 

Using a planning scenario to 2025 has allowed us 
to determine the overall scale of the EVCI network 
required for Greater Manchester in the coming 
years and also highlighted the importance of 
continuous review of the EV market needs in order 
to be able to both respond to and shape future 
demand.  

This EVCI strategy has set out strategic principles 
and identified potential EV user profiles, charging 
behaviours and requirements. This has enabled a 
set of EVCI typologies to be developed to determine 
the nature and shape of the EVCI network required 
to meet our ambitions and has highlighted where 
the focus for public sector investment will be 
required. 

Public investment will be targeted at those who 
will find it most difficult to transition to an EV due 
to charging constraints. Initial investment will 
provide a blend of EVCI that prioritises meeting the 
demand likely to be generated by the most polluting 
vehicles transitioning to EVs as well as providing 
opportunities for those businesses most affected 
by the CAZ to transition to EVs. This approach will 
support GM in meeting its air quality and carbon 
targets.

To accompany this EVCI Strategy, the detailed 
measures to support progress towards providing 
the EVCI network that will enable GM to rapidly 
accelerate the transition to EVs are set out in a 
funded programme of works that can be found at 
electrictravel.tfgm.com

Page 146



27
Page 147



28

APPENDIX A

Page 148



29

08. Appendix A

Development of EV User Profiles

Taxis

Hackney cabs are typically parked at or near to the 
driver’s home between shifts, providing an ideal 
time to charge. If access to off-street parking at 
home is available, it is expected that most Hackney 
cab drivers will seek to charge daily at home if 
possible, for convenience and because of the lower 
costs.   However, there will be drivers without the 
ability to charge from home and therefore need 
daily access to either public or designated taxi 
charge points.  Taxis also typically have a high 
daily mileage and may therefore require a charge 
during a shift when time is at a premium so access 
to rapid charging infrastructure would also be a 
priority for these users.

PHV drivers transitioning to EVs will share similar 
charging requirements to those of Hackney cab 
drivers possibly with a larger proportion unable to 
charge vehicles at home.  Some PHVs are used 
as pool cabs by multiple drivers working different 
shifts with high mileage and minimum dwell time 
between shifts. So public charging provision will 
be required from rapid chargers in convenient 
locations for this user group. The distribution of trips 
made by PHVs tends to be more evenly distributed 
across Greater Manchester than those trips made 
by Hackney cabs and there are a number of quite 
large PHV firms fairly evenly spread across GM 
serving relatively local markets.  Furthermore, PHVs 
generally have higher daily mileage than Hackney 
cab drivers, so on-route charging facilities will be 
important for this user group.

Light Goods Vehicles (LGVs)

Light Goods Vehicles (or vans) have grown in use 
(measured in kilometres travelled) on Greater 
Manchester roads in recent decades. LGVs now 
account for c. 1.7 billion kilometres on Greater 
Manchester roads, representing 13% of all traffic 
(up from 9% in 1993).  Much of the recent growth 
has been driven by the growing service economy, 
the development of the home shopping market 
and the expansion of delivery services that has 
accompanied this and the growth of the “gig 
economy”. Improving the efficiency of freight 
deliveries is an important part of GM’s Freight and 
Logistics Strategy particularly in congested areas 
such as the city centre and other town centres and 
investment in EVCI will need to reflect this.

Drivers of LGVs can be split between drivers of 
vehicles that are part of a large company fleet, 
Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) and 
self-employed individual drivers who own or lease 
their vehicles and use them commercially.

For a transition to EVs, larger company fleet owners 
are likely to provide their own depot-based private 
charging solutions or rely on staff home charging 
and therefore make minimal use of public charge 
points particularly with future improvements in 
range. The majority of charging is expected to be 
overnight in depots or at staff homes.  However, 
higher mileage delivery vehicles may require some 
access to public charging during the day and 
with businesses wishing to minimise time lost to 
charging they are likely to prioritise access to rapid 
chargers.

Small and medium-sized enterprises are less 
likely to have their own private charging solutions 
for smaller company fleets of cars and LGVs and 
may also be reliant on staff home charging. There 
is likely to be some potential demand for both 
fast and rapid public charging facilities to enable 
drivers to charge vehicles, both overnight and 
during the working day. An increasing number of 
privately owned or leased vehicles are being used 
commercially and to transition to EVs, users of 
these vehicles are likely to face similar charging 
challenges to owners of private cars especially 
where they don’t have access to off-street charging 
at home. Many of these vehicles have higher daily 
mileage than private cars and may require more 
regular overnight charging as well as opportunities 
for charging during the day. For charging during the 
day access to rapid charging infrastructure will be a 
priority as time will be at a premium.

Local Authority and other public sector fleets

Local Authority and other public sector fleets are 
made up of a wide range of vehicles including 
cars, LGVs and specialist vehicles that perform 
a wide variety of roles with varying daily mileage, 
operational needs, duty cycles and dwell times. 
To transition these fleets to EVs it is likely that in-
house provision for EVCI will be required and they 
are less likely to need to make use of the publicly 
accessible EVCI network, although occasional 
access may be required.

APPENDIX A

Page 149



30

Car Clubs

Car Clubs contribute positively towards a 
progressive urban transport policy. There is clear 
evidence that members reduce levels of vehicle 
ownership and mileage at the same time as 
increasing their use of other, more sustainable 
modes.  Traditionally, transition to EVs has 
represented a challenge for Car Clubs in terms 
of potentially reduced utility due to customers 
range anxiety, availability of EVCI, greater capital 
costs and potential driver apprehension. The 
main operating model for Car Clubs in Greater 
Manchester is the back to base or round-trip hire 
which involves the vehicle being collected from and 
returned to the same destination (often a specific 
parking bay) and whilst this may be suited to fast 
charging it is probably not so suitable for rapid 
charging.  

Currently there are no privately operated fully 
EV Car Clubs in Greater Manchester although 
a number do have PHEVs amongst their fleet. 
However, increasing demand for Car Clubs is 
leading to greater innovation and flexibility in 
applications and operating models and it is 
possible that future GM Car Clubs with targeted 
user group needs, may be able to operate a fully 
EV fleet. Through informal engagement with Car 
Club operators there are early indications that there 
does seem to be operator appetite to provide an EV 
based Car Club in GM.

The e-Hubs project is funded by the European 
Regional Development Fund and aims to 
demonstrate innovations in technology focused on 
low carbon shared mobility.  It provides for car clubs 
using EVs and e-cargo bikes for-hire in co-locations.  
It is intended that the project will have a number 
of over-arching benefits including a reduction in 
carbon emissions, expediting the reduction of car 
ownership, making EVs more accessible to the 
general public, encouraging more active travel 
practices and creating a knowledge bank of how to 
embed the use of an EV car-club and e-Cargo Bikes 
into Greater Manchester, creating a blueprint for 
further mobility roll-out. 

An opportunity exists to establish an EV Car Club 
within Greater Manchester utilising the e-Hubs 
project and also aid the initial delivery of the EVCI 
Strategy. An EV Car Club could provide an anchor 
tenant for EVCI in community charging hubs or 
mini-hubs offering an alternative to private EV 
ownership. An EV Car club could also provide an 
opportunity for people to try an EV before they 
commit to purchasing one.

Private Car Drivers

The transition to EVs by private car drivers in GM 
has been slow to-date, varying between Local 
Authority areas. Given the OZEV funding for 
installing home charging points, the majority of 
early adopters are expected to, or at least have 
the ability to, charge at home and the average 
daily mileage suggests most private EV drivers are 
unlikely to need to charge their cars more than once 
or twice per week. At present it is therefore likely 
that most EV private cars receive a high proportion 
of their charging from slow and/or fast charging at 
home overnight or at a workplace car park during 
the day. The relative cost of different charging 
solutions will also be an important factor in private 
EV drivers’ charging decisions.

EV users living in residential properties with off 
street parking (such as a private drive or garage) 
can normally easily install a 7kW home charger that 
will allow them to recharge an EV at home. Currently 
there is still OZEV funding available to cover some 
of the costs involved in installation. However, there 
will still be occasions when this user group requires 
access to alternative charging solutions.

Residential areas with a large number of terraced 
streets or apartment blocks which have no off 
street parking present a problem for EV ownership 
as properties without off street parking are likely to 
be unable to install a home charger. The inability to 
charge an EV at home will be a barrier to transition 
for many people across GM particularly for those 
residents that live in properties with no off-street 
parking.  

In Greater Manchester, terraced housing and 
apartments make up 43% of the housing stock 
(2011 Census) and these areas typically have 
limited access to off-street parking. Clearly not all 
residents in these areas are car owners and many 
residents in these locations have already made 
the decision to pursue car-free lifestyles. However, 
within many of these residential locations there 
remain significant levels of car and van ownership 
and it will be important to ensure that these vehicle 
owners, where necessary, are able to make the 
transition to EVs. Destination charging, particularly 
at workplaces but also at park and ride sites, town/
local centres and other key destinations as well as 
existing petrol stations, will all be a very important 
part of the charging mix for this EV user group; 
however, a solution to home charging is also 
likely to be required to overcome this barrier and 
enable private vehicle drivers in these locations to 
transition to EVs where necessary.

Page 150



31

Visitors to Greater Manchester

For those visiting Greater Manchester from outside 
the conurbation, the nature of their journey and 
the battery range of their vehicles will determine 
charging requirements, but they are more likely to 
need to charge their vehicles at their destination or 
on-route. Visitor attractions and other destination 
charging as well as motorway service stations 
and other on-route charging will be important to 
this user group. Existing petrol station sites could 
provide visible on-route rapid charging facilities and 
could also provide charging facilities for residents 
who do not have the ability to charge at home.  
Clearly signed park and ride facilities with EVCI near 
the boundaries of GM would be useful to visitors 
allowing them to charge whilst continuing their 
journey on the rapid transit network and reducing 
vehicles on the Key Route Network within GM.

Page 151



32

APPENDIX B

Page 152



33

09. Appendix B

Development of EVCI Typologies

On-Street Residential Charging

In many areas of Greater Manchester, it is not 
considered to be physically possible or financially 
viable to install large numbers of on-street, publicly 
accessible charge points in residential areas to the 
scale required to meet demand from private car 
ownership transitioning to EVs.

There are a number of reasons for this, as set out in 
the following paragraphs: 

On-Street charging solutions could include 
modifying street lighting columns or installing 
dedicated on-street charging points but these both 
have issues and in both cases the ability to scale-
up provision as the transition to EVs increases, is a 
major constraint.  Whilst satisfying current demand 
for on-street charging infrastructure in residential 
areas might be achievable, it would not be possible 
to meet future on-street residential demand as 
the transition to EVs increases amongst this user 
group.

Street lighting column charging relies on the 
lighting column being next to the carriageway 
so that charging cables don’t stretch across 
footways causing an obstruction to pedestrians. 
GM Local Authorities, in line with best practice have 
undertaken programmes to move lighting columns 
to the back of the footway to reduce street clutter 
making more space on footways for pedestrians, 
wheelchairs, prams and buggies and people with 
reduced mobility or visual impairment.  In addition, 
the cabling for street lighting columns can usually 
only support charging of between 3 – 5 kW which 
is less than the 7.4 kW delivered by a home charger. 
This type of charging system requires the user 
to buy an additional charging cable to record the 
power used. In addition to this expense, the tariff 
per kWh is generally high for a slow connection 
speed which means poor value for money for the 
user. 

Dedicated charge points can deliver 7.4 kW 
matching the output of a home charger. However, 
they are difficult to locate on-street in large 
numbers without compromising carriageway or 
footway space particularly on narrow streets and 
pavements where space is already at a premium. 
This is particularly relevant in areas where there 

is already a lack of space for car parking, limited 
footway space and congestion. To ensure effective  
footway widths are maintained charge points would 
need to be located on the carriageway. When sited 
in the carriageway, with build-outs, charge points 
would significantly reduce the available space for 
car parking. There would also be issues to address 
around minimising or avoiding disruption of public 
services operations such as street cleaning, 
domestic refuse collection services and emergency 
service access.  

In a residential on-street location, each charge 
point installed would need to have a dedicated EV 
charging bay with it. This effectively provides a 
protected private car parking space on the public 
street and reinforces car use as the dominant 
mode of travel by formalising and locking-in on-
street car parking in areas with limited road space.  
Providing dedicated private car parking spaces 
does not support GM’s long-term goals of reducing 
private car ownership and encouraging sustainable 
modes of travel. Furthermore, to bring in parking 
restrictions requires a residents’ parking permit 
scheme or TROs, which would require the support 
of a proportion of residents on the street.  

A dedicated charge point  is able to transmit more 
power than a modified street lighting column 
because it would have a dedicated electrical 
connection this however requires a separate 
feeder pillar (requiring additional space) and makes 
installation more expensive. The relatively low level 
of usage (generally a single user) means that it 
is challenging to generate enough income from 
each charge point to cover ongoing operational 
and maintenance liabilities.  If this solution was 
delivered at scale it would require significant 
ongoing financial support which is contrary to the 
development of a viable EVCI network.  The charge 
points would therefore require a higher user tariff 
(and therefore would not be equivalent to home 
charging options). Implementing a higher tariff 
would make the on-street solution less attractive 
for users and mean that they are more likely to seek 
out cheaper charging alternatives which would lead 
to underuse of charge points and a requirement for 
greater subsidy. Potentially on-street charge points 
in residential areas could become stranded assets, 
with ongoing financial liabilities generating limited 
revenue, and creating unused car parking spaces 
increasing competition for on-street car parking 
which is already an ongoing issue for residents in 
many locations.

APPENDIX B

Page 153



34

When considering these issues, it is clear that 
providing an on-street public charge point solution 
in residential areas isn’t achievable at the scale 
required to match the required transition to EVs.

Alternatives to on-street public EVCI provision

For those GM residents without the ability to charge 
EVs off-street at home; a number of alternative 
options will be important in enabling a transition to 
EV use. 

EV Car Clubs

An expansion of EV Car Clubs operating in 
residential locations could offer a genuine 
alternative to private EV ownership for many 
residents. Dedicated EV Car Club charge points, 
in residential locations will often be best located 
on-street where carriageway space is available, in 
order to increase convenience for users.  Through 
the development of a Shared Mobility Strategy and 
engagement with Car Club operators we will seek 
for opportunities to enable them to transition  
to fully EV fleets and expand the car club offer 
across GM.

Community charging hubs

Off-street community charging hubs, in 
commercial areas or in close proximity to 
residential areas (with large amounts of on-street 
car parking), could support different EV user groups 
including private EV owners providing a further 
alternative option in some locations.  Where there 
are residential areas with significant on-street car 
parking we will investigate opportunities to provide 
off-street community charging hubs on a case 
by case basis where appropriate locations can be 
found and look at options that will support residents 
to use these facilities for overnight charging 
where possible.  These community charging hubs 
could potentially include charging bays for EV Car 
Club vehicles as well as other mobility services 
such as cycle hire or e-bike hire facilities, offering 
residents alternatives to private car ownership. 
Wider community facilities could also potentially be 
provided at these locations.  

We will establish an on-line system for local 
business and residential communities to register 
an interest in trialling community hub charging 
infrastructure so that, funding permitting, we can 
direct investment to areas of identified demand.

Workplace Charging

Workplace charging during the day will also be 
an important option for many potential EV users 
without the ability to charge at home, however 
we do not wish to encourage commuting by EV 
ahead of more sustainable modes such as active 
travel or public transport especially in areas that 
already experience traffic congestion in peak 

hours.  In appropriate locations that have poor 
access to public transport and where employees 
are dependent on car travel; we will work with 
both public and private sector employers to 
encourage them to make use of the Government 
Workplace Charging Grant to establish and expand 
a workplace EV charging offer as part of a wider 
review of workplace car parking requirements for 
employees.  Many large public and private sector 
employers already have Workplace Travel Plans 
in place which could be expanded to include the 
provision of an EV charging infrastructure offer 
as part of a wider review of workplace car park 
requirements. We will work with large public sector 
employers such as hospitals, schools and colleges 
and medical centres with workplace car parking to 
determine EVCI requirements.

Destination Charging

For those who commute to work by the rapid transit 
network (making use of existing park and ride 
facilities) there could be the opportunity to charge 
EVs during the working day whilst EVs are parked 
at rail station, Metrolink or bus park and ride sites.  
We will align TfGM’s emerging Access to Public 
Transport Strategy and the development of the 
Travel Hubs programme with this GM EVCI Strategy 
and investigate options to expand the Be.EV 
network at Metrolink park and ride sites and other 
transport interchanges; and we will also work with 
Network Rail and Northern Rail to encourage them 
to provide EV charging infrastructure at rail station 
car parks across Greater Manchester. 

Retail and leisure destination car parks with dwell 
times of an hour or more also offer an opportunity 
to provide alternative EV charging options for 
those without off-street home charging. We will 
investigate opportunities to expand the Be.EV 
network in local authority owned car parks in town 
and district centres and at other local authority 
assets such as car parking at leisure centres, 
gyms, libraries, community and health centres 
and recreation / sports facilities. In many other 
locations, investment may come more from private 
operators particularly on privately owned sites at 
out of town retail parks or leisure and entertainment 
venues such as cinemas or concert venues and 
theatres. We will engage and work with private 
EVCI providers and operators to encourage them to 
install EVCI in retail and leisure destinations where 
there are already many agreements in place.

On-route Charging

On-route charging will also form an important part 
of the EVCI mix, whilst Highways England have 
responsibility for EVCI at motorway service stations, 
there will be a need for further on-route EVCI within 
GM such as at existing petrol stations and this is an 
area where we expect private sector investment to 
be more prevalent.

Page 154



35
Page 155



36
tfgm.com/strategy

Page 156



 

 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 

HOUSING, PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
The table below sets out the Committee’s work programme for this municipal year. Members 
are invited to further develop, review, and agree topics which they would like to consider. Items 
considered last year are appended at the back of this report. The work programme will be 
reviewed and if necessary updated following each meeting to ensure that the Committee’s work 
programme remains current.   
 
In addition, the Committee will receive the GMCA’s register of key decisions and the GMCA’s 
monthly decision notice.   
 
 

Date of Meeting  
 
 

Item  Responsible Officer  

Thursday 8 July 2021 
 

 Q3 Living with Covid-19 
Resilience Plan 

 Streets for All 

Simon Nokes/ Amy 
Foots  

Thursday 9 
September 2021 
 

 Refreshed GMS 

 EV Charging  

Amy Foots 
Simon Warburton  

Thursday 7 October 
2021 
 

 Places for everyone update 

 Refreshed GMS 

Anne Morgan 
Amy Foots 

Thursday 11 
November 2021 

 Mayoral Update 
 Retro Fit Taskforce  

 

Andy Burnham 
Mark Atherton  

Thursday 9 December 
2021 

 Places for Everyone Update  Anne Morgan  

Thursday 13 January 
2022 
 

 Biodiversity – Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy  

Sam Evans 

Thursday 3 February 
2022 
 

 Green Energy including solar eg 
Go Neutral   
 

Sean Owen   

Thursday 10 March  
2022 
 

 Mayoral Update Andy Burnham 

*Mayor scheduled to attend   
 
Further items requested by members to be scheduled into future meetings:  
 

 Challenge Fund 

 Bus Reform  

 Implementation of the Clean Air Plan 

 Progress towards active travel 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



 

 

Items considered in 2020-2021 by the Committee 

Date of Meeting  
 
 

Item  Responsible Officer  

Thursday 11 June 
2020 

 Annual AGM 

 GM Bus Consultation 

 
Kate Brown 

Thursday 9 July 2020 
 

 Everybody In / A Bed Every 
Night- Covid-19 Update 

 General GM Covid-19 verbal 
update 

 

Molly Bishop 
 
Simon Nokes 

Wednesday 29 July 
2020 

 Living with Covid-19 GM 1 year 
Recovery Plan 

 

Simon Nokes 

Thursday 10 
September 2020 
 

 Living with Covid-19 GM 1 year 
Recovery Plan 

 Tripartite Agreement: GM 
Housing Associations, GMCA 
and GMHSCP 

 

Simon Nokes 
 
 
Steve Fyfe 

Thursday 8 October 
2020 
 

 Brownfield Land Fund  

 Transport Strategy 2040 Delivery 
Plan 

 GM Green Summit – Inclusion 
and Equality update 

  

Andrew McIntosh 
Gemma Birchall 

Thursday 12 
November 2020 

 Covid Recovery 

 Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme 

 Green Homes Grant and Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund 
Project Update 

 

Mayor Andy Burnham 
Mark Atherton 
 
Mark Atherton 

Thursday 10 
December 2020 
Cancelled  

  

Thursday 14 January 
2021 
 

 Brexit 

 Living with COVID-19 Resilience 
Plan Progress Update 

 2040 Transport Strategy & 
Delivery Plan 

 Waste Strategy  

Simon Nokes  
Simon Nokes  
 
Simon Warburton 
David Taylor 
 
 

Thursday 4 February 
2021 
 

 Mayors portfolio  

 Domestic buildings retrofit 
(public/ private/ new green deal)  

 Biowaste Strategy 

Mayor Andy Burnham 
 
Mark Atherton 
 
David Taylor 

Thursday 11 March  
2021 
 

 GM Good Landlord Scheme  

 GM Brownfield Housing Fund 
Tranche 2 

Paul Dennett  
Paul Dennett 

 

Page 158



 

 

Items Considered in 2019-20 by the Committee  
 

Date of Meeting  Item  

11th July 2019  Greater Manchester Strategy Implementation Plan  

 Housing Funding Streams  

 TfGM – Local Concessionary Travel Charge  

23rd September 
2019 
MEETING NOT 
QUORATE  

 

10th October 2019 
MEETING 
CANCELLED 

 

14th November 2019 
 

 Greater Manchester Strategy 

 Town Centre Strategy – Mayoral Development Corporation  

 A Bed Every Night/Housing First  progress update 

 Electric Vehicle Charges  
 

5th December 2019 
MEETING 
CANCELLED  

  
 

16th January 2020 
MEETING 
CANCELLED 

 

13th February 2020 
 

 Town Centre Report 

 GM Housing Strategy Implementation Plan 

 Progress with Delivery of the 5 Year Environment Plan in 
GM 

19th March 2020 
MEETING 
CANCELLED 

 

26th March 2020 
MEETING 
CANCELLED 

 

 
 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MEMBERSHIP OF THE HOUSING, PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 2021/22
	5 MEMBER'S CODE OF CONDUCT AND ANNUAL DECLARATION FORM
	Appendix A Code of Conduct
	Appendix B Register of Interest Form

	6 TERMS OF REFERENCE
	8 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	9 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 19 MARCH 2021
	10 STREETS FOR ALL
	Streets for All Strategy - Final Draft for Approval_opt

	11 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGY
	EVCI Strategy Appendix

	12 WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21

